


CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Legendary Education Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally derives its revenue from the following
business arms: (i) OEM business segment, which entails product
design and development, raw materials sourcing and procurement,
manufacturing and product quality control management (the “"OEM
Business”); (ii) apparel retail business segment, which entails
designing, procuring, manufacturing, marketing and retailing of pure
cashmere apparel and other apparel products as well as accessories
through the retail network in Hong Kong under the Group’s own brand
and high-end fashion brand (the “Retail Business”); (i) money lending
business segment, which provides financing to customers for interest
income (“Money Lending Business”); (iv) financial quotient and
investment education business segment, which provides financial
quotient and investment education courses for the customers in
return of tuition fees from them (“Financial Quotient and Investment
Education Business”); (v) property investment business (“Property
Investment Business”); and (vi) private supplementary education
business segment, which provides private supplementary education
courses for the students in return of tuition fees from them (“Private
Supplementary Education Business”).

OEM Business

The garment sector of the consumer market has experienced a
downturn in recent year. Meanwhile, the Company currently has
no intention, arrangement, agreement, understanding, negotiation
(concluded or otherwise) on disposal, termination and/or scaling-
down of the Company’s OEM business. The Group will cautiously
monitor the business environment, market sentiment and customers’
behaviors of the OEM business and will continue to devote effort to
the development of the OEM business. Going forward, the Group will
continue to focus on expanding the customer base by diversifying the
service scope of the OEM business. During the year ended 31 March
2023, the Group started business with a new customer based in Hong
Kong which provides non-garment textile products to commercial
offices, restaurants, healthcare and retail premises.

Retail Business

While the economic slowdown in the People’'s Republic of China
(the "PRC") and the outbreak of the COVID-19 in early 2020 eroded
consumer confidence, the shifting of pattern to online shopping
further negatively impacted the Retail Business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEESWRD T

Under such an unfavorable ambience, the Group has adopted
a prudent approach in restructuring its sales network aiming at
minimising the operating costs amid meeting the shift of consumers’
preference towards shopping online.

Money Lending Business

The Group obtained the money lender licence and commenced
Money Lending Business from June 2016. During the year ended 31
March 2023, the Money Lending Business had generated interest
income of approximately HK$3.5 million, representing an increase
of approximately 20.2% compared to that of last financial year.
Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 in early 2020, the business
environment in Hong Kong has been affected by the worsening
economy caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group expects that
such challenging and unpredictable environment may affect the loan
demand and lending risks of the Group.

Therefore, the Group will continue to evaluate its risk management
measures and ensure a proper balance between return and risk in
the long run.

Financial Quotient and Investment Education
Business

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group established the
Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business. The Group
provides financial quotient and investment education courses for
the customers, aiming at enhancing their knowledge in the areas of
finance and investment. The Group in return earns tuition fee income
from the provision of courses. During the year ended 31 March 2023,
certain courses were completed with inspiring achievements and
revenue of approximately HK$161.7 million, representing an increase
of approximately 65.8% as compared to that of approximately
HK$97.6 million for the last financial year.

Property Investment Business

The Group also established the Property Investment Business
during the year ended 31 March 2020. The Group will keep seeking
for opportunities of asset appreciation and cash flow return in the
property market within Hong Kong and in the Asian-Pacific region.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Private Supplementary Education Business

In August 2021, the Group resolved to develop the business of
provision of private supplementary education services as a new
business of the Group. Private supplementary education services
play a supplemental role to regular schools, helping students deepen
their understanding of what they have learnt in classes, improve
their school grades and better prepare themselves for public
examinations. Private supplementary education services, especially
those for local secondary school students, have been in high demand
in Hong Kong.

On 15 December 2021, each of the education centers located in
Causeway Bay, Kowloon Bay and Prince Edward has obtained the
“Certificate of Provisional Registration of A School” granted by the
Education Bureau of Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Private Supplementary
Education Business had generated revenue of approximately HK$70.4
million and recorded profit of approximately HK$7.0 million.

PROSPECTS

For the OEM Business, the management of the Group (the
“Management”) is committed to strengthening the customer base.
The Group will continue to find new orders and customers. Also, as
mentioned above, the Group started to have business with a new
customer based in Hong Kong which provides non-garment textile
products to commercial offices, restaurants, healthcare and retail
premises.

For the Retail Business, the Management will closely monitor the
consumers’ behaviour and will continue the promotion campaigns.
Because of the outbreak of coronavirus in Hong Kong, there was
an adverse impact to the Group and accordingly, the Management
will actively keep monitoring the performance of the Group, and
will implement appropriate strategy in a timely manner. Despite the
uncertainties, the Management still remains positive towards the
Retail Business in the long run.

For Money Lending Business, the Group will continue to expand in a
prudent and balanced risk management approach.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEESWRD T

For the Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business, the
Group will (i) invest resources to expand the market share, and
(i) strive to broaden its customer base. The Group is also seeking
for opportunities of asset appreciation and cash flow return in
the property market within Hong Kong and in the Asian-Pacific
region. Whilst the Group remains focused on developing its existing
businesses, in particular the Investment Education Business, it
has been the business strategy of the Group to proactively seek
potential investment opportunities in order to enhance value of the
Shareholders.

The Group commenced the business of provision of private
supplementary education services. The Board is optimistic on
the prospects of the demand for the private tutorial classes and
considers that the new business of the private supplementary
education services will further enhance the Company's financial
performance as well as the value of the shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased from approximately HK$115.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$237.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing an increase
of approximately 106.2%, which was mainly driven by the strong
performance of the “Financial Quotient and Investment Education
Business” and the “Private Supplementary Education Business”.

For the Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business,
certain courses were completed with inspiring achievements and
revenue of approximately HK$161.7 million for the year ended
31 March 2023, representing an increase of approximately 65.8%
as compared to that of approximately HK$97.6 million for the
last financial year and accounting for approximately 68.1% of the
revenue.

For the new business of private supplementary education services,
it had achieved encouraging results with tuition income of
approximately HK$70.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2023,
representing a significant increase of over 4 times as compared to
that of approximately HK$14.0 million for the last financial year and
accounting for approximately 29.7% of the revenue.

For the Retail Business and Money Lending Business, it had generated
income of approximately HK$0.9 million and HK$3.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023, representing 0.4% and 1.5% of the total
revenue respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following table sets forth the breakdowns of the revenue of the
Group by segment for each of the year ended 31 March 2022 and
31 March 2023.
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Cost of sales and services

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales and services was raw
material costs, labor and operating cost of financial quotient and
investment education courses and private supplementary education
courses. The Group's cost of sales and services increased by
approximately 209.5% to approximately HK$95.3 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023 as compared to the year ended 31 March 2022.

Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2023 was approximately HK$95.7 million (2022: HK$50.6 million),
representing an increase of approximately HK$45.1 million. The
increase was mainly due to the share option expenses, the further
development of private supplementary education business and
increase of marketing and administration expenses relating in
financial quotient and investment education business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEESWRD T

Profit for the year

The profit for the year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately
HK$34.6 million. The profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 was
approximately HK$26.0 million.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Capital structure

As at 31 March 2023, the share capital and equity attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$197,000
and HK$252.9 million respectively (2022: HK$179,000 and HK$213.3
million respectively). Details of the capital management are set out
in the Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Cash position

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s unpledged
bank balances and cash was approximately HK$48.6 million (2022:
HK$21.0 million), representing a increase of approximately 131.4%
as compared to that of at 31 March 2022.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's total borrowings (including the
promissory notes) were HK$7.5 million (31 March 2022: HK$5.0
million). The gearing ratio was approximately 3.0% as at 31 March
2023 (31 March 2022: approximately 2.4%).

Exchange Rate Exposure

The Group's business operations are denominated mainly in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). The Group’s assets and liabilities are
mainly denominated in HKS$. Currently, the Group has not entered
into agreements or purchased instruments to hedge the Group's
exchange rate risks.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Change of company name

On 2 June 2023, the Company changed its English name from
“Legendary Group Limited” to ““Legendary Education Group Limited”
and adopted the Chinese name “EFH B £ EHRE A A" as its dual
foreign name to replace its former Chinese name "Bl X {E&EB A
fRAF]" (the “Change of Company Name”). Further details of the
Change of Company Name were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 7 March 2023 and 2 June 2023, and the circular of
the Company dated 7 March 2023. The Change of Company Name
was registered with the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong on
5 May 2023. Following the Change of Company Name becoming
effective, the stock short name of the Company has been changed
from “LEGENDARY GROUP” in English and “&l X f&7%" in Chinese to
“LEGENDARY EDU" in English and “E&Z &£ E" in Chinese with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on 7 June 2023. The Company also adopted a
new company logo with effect from 2 June 2023.

Significant Investments Held, Material
Acquisitions or Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Affiliated Companies, and Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

On 16 August 2022, Able Glorious Limited (“Able Glorious”), a
direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and the vendor
entered into an agreement, pursuant to which, Able Glorious has
agreed to acquire and the vendor has agreed to sell 100% equity
interest of Best Take Global Limited (“Best Take Global”), at the
Consideration of HK$15,000,000, which would be settled (i) as to
HK$12.4 million by the issuance of the Promissory Notes by the
Company to the Vendor, (i) as to HK$1.2 million by cash; and (iii)
as to HK$1.4 million by the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities
by Able Glorious. Best Take Global currently operates three pole
dance studios in Hong Kong, offering various courses for members
of varying experience level. Leveraging on the extensive industry
experience of its management and lead instructors, Best Take Global
has established solid reputation and is widely recognized for its high-
quality and experienced training team, which consists of top talents
with regional championship titles. Details of the transaction were set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 16 August 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEESWRD T

On 27 September 2022, Able Glorious and the vendor entered into
an agreement, pursuant to which, Able Glorious has agreed to
acquire and the vendor has agreed to sell 75% equity interest of
Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies Limited (“"HKIPS”), at the
Consideration of HK$2,000,000, which would be settled by cash.
HKIPS is dedicated to delivering the Certificate Courses to equip its
individual customers with financial analysis skill. With track record
of over 15 years, HKIPS has established solid brand awareness
and expertise in the financial education industry. Furthermore,
the Certificate Courses provided by HKIPS are registered under
the Continuing Education Fund, enabling students to apply for
reimbursement of part of their course fees paid, which creates a
stable student pipeline for the Certificate Courses. Details of the
transaction were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 27
September 2022.

Save for the above acquisitions and disposal and as disclosed
elsewhere in this report, there were no significant investments,
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Saved as disclosed in this report, there was no future plan for
material investments or capital assets as at 31 March 2023.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2023
(2022: Nil).

Capital Commitments
The Group had no material capital commitments as at 31 March
2023 (2022: Nil).

Employees and Emolument Policies

The Group had approximately 120 employees (including Directors)
as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 90). The Group recruits and promotes
individuals based on their performance and development potential
in the positions held. In order to attract and retain high quality
staff and to enable smooth operation within the Group, the Group
offers competitive remuneration packages (with reference to
market conditions and individual qualifications and experience)
and various in-house training courses. The remuneration packages
are subject to review on a regular basis. The emoluments of the
Directors and senior management are reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results, market
competitiveness, individual performance and achievement, and
approved by the Board.

1 O Legendary Education Group Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Legal Proceedings

During the year ended 31 March 2019, a petition has been filed to
the court by two shareholders of the Company (the “Petitioners”),
which together holding over 3% of the Company'’s issued shares, and
the Petitioners filed and served a re-amended petition to the court
on 3 December 2019. The Petitioners pray (i) that the Company be
wound up pursuant to the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32); (ii) that the court make such other
orders as are deemed to be just and equitable; and (iii) that provision
be made for Petitioners’ costs. On 18 October 2021, the High Court
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region delivered the
judgement of HCCW 72 of 2019 (“the Case”) and made the following
orders (“the Orders”):

1) The Company be wound up on 1 November 2021 on which date
the order will be made in open court.

2)  There be general liberty to the Petitioners, the Respondents,
the Company and shareholders of the Company to apply.

3) A costs order nisi that the Respondents pay the Petitioners
costs of the proceedings with certificate for two counsel such
costs to be taxed if not agreed.

On 1 November 2021, the interested parties appeared before the
Honourable Mr. Justice Harris and were legally represented. Strong
Light Investments Limited (the 1st Respondent) was represented
by Mr. José-Antonio Maurellet, Senior Counsel, Mr. Alan Kwong
and Mr. Michael Ng. The executive directors and shareholders of
the Company, Mr. Yuen Yu Sum and Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin were
represented by Mr. Look-Chan Ho and Mr. Jiang Zixin. A substantial
shareholder, Mr. Lui Yu Kin (“Mr. Lui”), holding approximately 7.23%
of the issued share capital of the Company was represented by Mr.
Benjamin Yu, Senior Counsel and Ms. Andrea Yu.

After hearing of the legal representatives, the Court did not make a
winding-up order. The Honourable Mr. Justice Harris gave an order
for (i) leave to be given to Mr. Lui to make representation to oppose
the petition and to file evidence in opposition to the petition within
28 days, (i) any interested parties including the Company and
contributories of the Company who wish to file evidence to oppose
the petition shall file evidence by 4:30 p.m. on 29 November 2021.
The petitioner has not objected to the aforesaid details in the hearing
of 1 November 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEESWRD T

On 9 December 2021, the Company has received notice from the
legal representatives for the Company that the legal representatives
received a letter from the Court dated 8 December 2021, confirming
the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris made the following order on 7
December 2021 with the following terms:

1. the winding up petition needs to be listed for dismissal;

2. the hearing of the winding up petition fixed for 9 December
2021 at 9:30 am before the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris be
vacated; and

3. the 3-day trial fixed for 20 to 22 April 2022 before the
Honourable Mr. Justice Harris be vacated.

The letter from the Court dated 8 December 2021 also stated:

“Please note that the pronouncement of order for dismissal of
petition is fixed on 13/12/2021 at 9:30 am before the Honourable Ms.
Justice Linda Chan, unless there is any issue that the parties wish
to address the court, their attendance and the Official Receiver’s
attendance at the hearing are excused.”

On 13 December 2021, the Honourable Ms. Justice Linda Chan has
made an order to dismiss the Petition at the hearing.

SUSPENSION OF TRADING

At the request of the Company, the trading in the shares of the
Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) has been suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 19
October 2021.

On 22 November 2021, the Company received a letter from the Stock
Exchange setting out the following resumption guidance (the “Initial
Resumption Guidance”) for the resumption of trading in the shares:

i. have the winding-up petition (or order, if made) against the
Company withdrawn of dismissed (the “Resumption Guidance
1),

ii.  demonstrate that there is no reasonable regulatory concern
about management integrity and/or the integrity of any persons
with substantial influence over the Company’s management
and operations, which will pose a risk to investors and damage
market confidence (the “Resumption Guidance 2); and

1 2 Legendary Education Group Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

iii. announce all material information for the Company’s
shareholders and investors to appraise the Company's position
(the "Resumption Guidance 3").

On 14 June 2022, the Company received a letter from the Stock
Exchange setting out an additional resumption guidance that the
Company to conduct an independent internal control review and
demonstrate that the Company has in place adequate internal
controls and procedures to comply with the Listing Rules (the
"Resumption Guidance 4", together with the Initial Resumption
Guidance, the "Resumption Guidance”). Further details were set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 19 October 2021, 1
November 2021, 3 November 2021, 26 November 2021, 23 November
2021, 18 January 2022, 14 April 2022, 7 June 2022, 17 June 2022, 20
June 2022, 29 June 2022, 30 June 2022, 18 July 2022 and 25 July 2022.

As all the Resumption Guidance have been fulfilled, the Company
has made an application to the Stock Exchange for the resumption
of trading in the Shares with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 9 August
2022 on the Stock Exchange. Details were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 8 August 2022.

Compliance Committee

The Company established a compliance committee (the “Compliance
Committee”) with effect from 20 June 2022. The Compliance
Committee is responsible for overseeing the regulatory compliance
with all relevant rules and regulations applicable to the Company,
including but not limited to, the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”),
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, and the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (together, “Applicable Laws”).

The members of the Compliance Committee consist of two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director.
The Board has appointed Mr. Chung Chin Kwan, Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, both being independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Yuen
Yu Sum, being the chairman of the Board and an executive Director,
as members of the Compliance Committee. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan
has been appointed as the chairman of the Compliance Committee.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEESWRD T

The terms of reference of the Compliance Committee will be made
available on the Company’s website at http://www.legendaryedu.com
and the Stock Exchange's website at http://www.hkexnews.hk.

With the aim to implement the Independent Consultant’s
recommendation and strengthen the regulatory compliance function
of the Group, the Company has engaged Kenneth Chong Law Office,
an independent Hong Kong legal adviser, to provide consultation on
Applicable Laws compliance to the Group for a period commencing
from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023.

BONUS ISSUE

On 26 September 2022, the board of the Company has resolved to
recommend a bonus issue of Shares on the basis of one (1) Bonus
Share for every ten (10) existing Shares held by the Qualifying
Shareholders whose names appeared on the register of members
of the Company on the Record Date. Details were set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 26 September 2022 and 7
November 2022, and the Company’s circular dated 7 November 2022.

The Board has proposed to, subject to shareholders’ approval, make
a bonus issue of Shares on the basis of one (1) Bonus Share for
every ten (10) existing Shares held by the qualifying Shareholders.
The timetable and further details of the proposed bonus issue will
be announced by the Company in due course.

ADOPTION OF SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND
PROPOSED GRANT OF SCHEME MANDATE

On 26 September 2022, the board of the Company has resolved to
propose the adoption of the Scheme. The purposes of the Scheme
are to align the interests of Eligible Persons with those of the Group
through ownership of Shares, dividends and other distributions
paid on Shares and/or the increase in value of the Shares and to
encourage and enable Eligible Persons, upon whose judgement,
initiative and efforts the Group largely depends on, for the successful
conduct of its business, to make contributions to the long-term
growth and profits of the Group and share in the success of the
Group. Details were set out in the Company’s announcements dated
26 September 2022 and 7 November 2022, and the Company’s
circular dated 7 November 2022.
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Securities Investment Held by the Group rEBRGESZRE

Details of the investment performance for the year ended 31 March BHZEZZTZ=F=A=+—HIEFE - L&
2023 in respect of equity securities listed in Hong Kong held by the  BEREMRES EMHRAZEHFHRERBFE
Group are as follows: (N
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Notes:

16

The investment represented 333,500 shares, which was approximately
0.02% of the total issued shares of Chinese Estates Holdings Limited
(“Chinese Estates”) as at 31 March 2023. Chinese Estates and its
subsidiaries (“Chinese Estates Group”) is principally engaged in the
business of property investments and development in Hong Kong,
mainland China and overseas. The Group recorded an unrealized fair
value gain of approximately HK$54,000 in respect of its investment
in Chinese Estates for the year ended 31 March 2023. According
to Chinese Estates’ annual report for the year ended 31 December
2022, Chinese Estates Group recorded revenue and net profit of
approximately HK$1,436 million and HK$1,152 million respectively.

The Group would also continue to monitor the performance and share
price of Chinese Estates.

The unlisted equity investment is issued by private entities with
operations in Cayman Islands. The investment is carried at cost less
impairment as management believes that the range of fair value
estimates is so wide that the fair value cannot be estimated reliably.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum (R#¥%), aged 35, was appointed as an
executive Director on 24 October 2019. He obtained a bachelor
degree in Social Sciences (Honours) in Administration and Public
Management from City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Yuen has
over five years' experience in event management and organizing
investment experience-sharing courses and training courses.

Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin (BR3Z &), aged 38, was appointed as an
executive Director on 3 August 2020. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor
degree in Dental Surgery from University of Hong Kong and diploma
in Higher Education, School of Dentistry from University of Liverpool.
Mr. Chan has over 11 years of experience in corporate strategy,
business development and management where he was a founder
of a chain of dental clinics in Hong Kong with over 7 dentists and
6 clinics in 2014 (the "Dental Chain”). Mr. Chan was responsible
for formulating corporate strategies, business development plans
and major corporate decisions for the Dental Chain. In addition,
Mr. Chan has over 7 years of experience in financial quotient and
investment education business. He is an instructor of various
property investment courses and training courses with an average
of 300 attendees per month. In addition, he is an instructor and
course director for memory improvement courses and speed-reading
courses with an average of 60 attendees per course. Mr. Chan also
involves in the development of tutorial and training businesses in
relation to the financial quotient and investment education programs
for over 7 years.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Law Wing Chung (#&:kEg), aged 45, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 2 June 2021. Mr. Law obtained a master
degree of journalism and a bachelor degree of laws from the
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Law was an award winning journalist
who has served in the newsroom for over 12 years. Mr. Law has
substantial experience in the media industry. He has set up two
public affairs consulting companies which are principally engaged
in the provision of various consultancy services including public
affairs, public relations, social media, news media and stakeholder
engagement advices. Mr. Law was appointed by the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") Government as the Political
Assistant to the Financial Secretary in 2012 and had also assisted
a candidate to run the Hong Kong Chief Executive election in 2017.
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EENEREEEERE

Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny (&2 H), aged 54, was appointed as
a non-executive Director on 13 January 2023. Dr. Tang obtained
a bachelor’'s degree in Business, majoring in finance from Edith
Cowan University in February 1993 and a PhD. degree in Economics
from Renmin University of China in July 2007. He became a senior
associate of the Australian Institute of Banking and Finance in
December 1995 and was appointed as Hong Kong Chief Analyst by
the Finance and Securities Institute of Renmin University of China
in December 2010. Dr. Tang has over 29 years of experience in the
financial and securities sector. He is currently a managing partner of
a company engaging in asset management and financial services. Dr.
Tang also has extensive experience in the education sector. He was
(i) a lecturer of Master of Social Science in Global Political Economy
Programme at The Chinese University of Hong Kong from 2009 to
2016; (ii) a lecturer of Equity Analysis course at Open University of
Hong Kong (currently known as Hong Kong Metropolitan University);
(iii) tutor of The School of Professional Education and Executive
Development of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University from 2002 to
2004; and (iv) tutor of Equity Analysis course at The HKU School of
Professional and Continuing Education from 1997 to 2000.

Dr. Tang is a member of Election Committee Member (Financial
Services) of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, the
chairman of The Hong Kong Institute of Financial Analysts and
Professional Commentators Limited and the committee member
of the board of directors of Hong Kong Securities Professionals
Association. He is also the deputy chairman of The Hong Kong
Chinese Listed Companies Association, the vice chairman of The
Hong Kong Girl Guides New Territories Region Association and co-
initiator of The Hong Kong Coalition. Dr. Tang is also an independent
non-executive director of Hin Sang Group (International) Holding Co.
Ltd. (HKEX Stock Code: 6893).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie (BR #1#&), aged 51, FCCA, CPA (Practising),
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 6 June
2019 and is a chairman of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”)
of the Board. He holds a master degree in Professional Accounting
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Diploma in
Accounting from Kwai Chung Technical Institute. He has engaged
in the accounting industry since 1993 and has over 20 years of
extensive experience in accounting and auditing. He is the sole
proprietor of PASICO CPA & Co.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan ($/&i#), aged 33, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 30 October 2020. He is also
a chairman of each of the nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Board and a member of the Audit Committee.
He obtained a bachelor degree in Business Administration (major
in accounting) from Lingnan University. Mr. Chung has over 7
years of experience in accounting and taxation services. He also
has extensive experience in company secretarial matters. Mr.
Chung is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a chartered tax adviser of The Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is the founder of CK Tax Company Limited, a
taxation company granted by the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong as
“Chartered Tax Adviser Accredited Employer”.

Mr. Chung Kwok Pan ($2Ei3R), aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2021. Mr. Chung
obtained a bachelor degree in Quantity Surveying from Robert
Gordon’s Institute of Technology, Scotland (currently known as
Robert Gordon University, Aberdeen) in July 1986 and a master
degree in Business Administration from the University of Stirling,
Scotland, United Kingdom in May 1988.

Mr. Chung has been responsible for the business management of
Chungweiming Knitting Factory Limited since early 1988. Mr. Chung
also has several social positions, including a member of the 5th and
6th Legislative Council of Hong Kong (Textile and Garment Sector),
Leader of Liberal Party, Honorary Life Chairman of Hong Kong Apparel
Society Limited, a member of Honorary General Committee, The
Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, an advisor of
New Territories General Chamber of Commerce, a director of Hong
Kong Design Centre, Chairman of Design Discipline Advisory Board
of Vocational Training Council, Chairman of Fashion Industry Training
Advisory Committee, Education Bureau of the HKSAR and a member
of the Advisory Group on Implementation of Fashion Initiatives, The
Commerce and Economic Development Bureau of the HKSAR. He
was also a member of the 9th Guangdong Provincial Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in 2005.

Mr. Chung is currently an independent non-executive director of
High Fashion International Limited (stock code: 608), Planetree
International Development Limited (stock code: 613) and Esprit
Holdings Limited (stock code: 330) respectively.
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The Board is pleased to present their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group principally derives its revenue from six business arms: (i)
OEM Business, which entails product design and development, raw
materials sourcing and procurement, manufacturing and product
quality control management; (ii) Retail Business, which entails
designing, procuring, manufacturing, marketing and retailing of
pure cashmere apparel and other apparel products as well as
accessories through the retail network in Hong Kong under the
Group’s own brand and high-end fashion brand; (iii) Money Lending
Business, which provides financing to customers for interest income,
(iv) Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business, which
provides financial quotient and investment education courses for the
customers in return of tuition fees from them,; (v) Property Investment
Business; and (vi) Private Supplementary Education Business.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023 are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 249.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2023. (2022: Nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there was no arrangement
under which any shareholder waived or agreed to waive any
dividend.

Further details of dividends are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its financial performance and financial position
can be found in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out
on pages 3 to 16.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group commits to the long term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which it operates. Acting in an environmentally
responsible manner, the Group endeavours to comply with laws
and regulations regarding environmental protection and adopt
effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy
saving and waste reduction. The Group also commits to the
principle and practice of recycling and reducing. To help conserve
the environment, it implements green office practices such as
redeployment of office furniture as far as possible, encourages use
of recycled paper for printing and copying, double-sided printing
and copying and reduces energy consumption by switching off idle
lightings, air conditioning and electrical appliances.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year,
the Group has complied, to the best of our knowledge, with the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ"), the GEM Listing Rules,
the applicable employment ordinance both in the PRC and Hong
Kong, the local standards and regulations for our project works as
well as other relevant rules and regulations. Saved as disclosed
elsewhere in this report, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and other stakeholders
to meet its immediate and long-term goals. Saved as disclosed
elsewhere in this report, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other
stakeholders during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association (“Articles of
Association”) of the Company, the applicable laws and regulations,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in their offices.
Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout
the year. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
of the Group.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“AGM")

The 2023 AGM will be held on Friday, 29 September 2023. A circular
containing the details of 2023 AGM and the notice of 2023 AGM and
form of proxy accompanying thereto will soon be despatched to
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023 the Company's reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$149.9 million (2022: HK$152.7
million). The amount includes the Company’s share premium,
special reserve and accumulated profits which may be distributable
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in Note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.
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INTEREST CAPITALISED
No interest was capitalised by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2023.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group, as extracted from the consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 250 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’s share capital and movements during the
year are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted for
approximately 1.6% of the total sales for the year ended 31 March
2023 (2022: 2.2%) and sales to the largest customer included therein
accounted for approximately 0.5% of the total sales for the year
ended 31 March 2023 (2022: 0.8%). Purchase from the Group'’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 39.6% of the
total purchase for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022 33.2%)
and purchase from the Group's largest supplier included therein
accounted for approximately 25.3% of the total purchase for the year
ended 31 March 2023 (2022: 29.6%).

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the
date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Law Wing Chung
Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny (appointed on 13 January 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan

Mr. Chung Kwok Pan

Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis (resigned on 30 November 2022)

Mr. Leung Kai Cheong Kenneth (resigned on 13 December 2022)

By virtue of Article 16.18 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Law Wing Chung, Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny, Mr. Chung
Kwok Pan and Mr. Chung Chin Kwan shall retire at the 2023 AGM
and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the said
meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 17 to 19 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract or an appointment letter (as the case may be) with
the Company for an initial term of one year.

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report, none of the Directors
being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five individuals with
highest emoluments are set out in Notes 11 to the consolidated
financial statements. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management whose details
are included in the “Biographical Details of The Directors and Senior
Management” section of this annual report fell within the following
bands:

s E

Remuneration Bands
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* Resigned Director and Senior Management during the year is not included.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2023, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and administration contracts in respect of the whole
or any principal business of the Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable
smooth operation within the Group, the Group offers competitive
remuneration packages (with reference to market conditions and
individual qualifications and experience) and various training courses.
The remuneration packages are subject to review on a regular basis.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Group's operating results, market competitiveness, individual
performance and achievement, and approved by the Board.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in
Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Details of the share option scheme of the Group are set out in Note
35 to the consolidated financial statement.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for share option scheme of the Group, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issues shares were entered into during
the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Saved as disclosed under the section “Connected Transactions”
below, no contract of significance to which the Company, or any
of its holding company or subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors and their respective associates had an interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2023 or as at 31 March 2023.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’' INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, the change in
information of the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2023 and
up to the date of this annual report is set out below:

(i) Mr.Ng Chi Ho Dennis resigned from his office as an Independent
Non-executive Director, and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee on 30 November 2022,

(i) Mr. Leung Kai Cheong Kenneth resigned from his office as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 13 December 2022; and

(iiiy  Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny was appointed as an Non-executive
Director on 13 January 2023.

Saved as disclosed above and elsewhere in this report, there is no
other information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1)
of the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2023 and up
to the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFQ"), which are required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Division 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (i)
pursuant to section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in Shares and underlying shares
of the Company:

EERFETHRAERADAREARE
EERG - HEROIESPHES
5979

RZTZZ_=F=A=+—H ZFEFRFETH
ABRAQFIREREEE (ERABHFRABK
Bl ([BH R EE A ]) EXVED) MM - 1BRIAR
mEEHD - BANREE S RS GOIEXVED
FTR8D FAME AN SR T w Ok B
(BIEREES LRAEERIGRIGEXHEETIRA
BENERIOAR)  (NMRIEE S LB ROIEXV
P32 AR A\ G FT It B R M a iz BOK A

K(INMBIRRET B R A 7 R T s

KRBT -

RAERXTRDREBRDPHFE

Percentage of
the Company’s

issue share
Number of Number of as at
Name of Directors Capacity Shares held Options held Total 31 March 2023
(%)
RZBZ=F
=R=+-H
EERAB S BT
EEng 51 FisRAEE FisEREHE Mt ROEBEDE
(%)
Chan Lap Jin Kevin Beneficial owner 33,982,080 3,584,000 37,566,080 9.53
R R EnBBA
Yuen Yu Sum Beneficial owner 6,904,480 3,584,000 10,488,430 2.66
RHR ExEAA
Chung Chin Kwan Beneficial owner 1,135,200 - 1,135,200 0.29
BRI EnBBA
Interest of spouse 184,800 - 184,800 0.05
L e (Note 1)
(Krat1)
Law Wing Chung Beneficial owner 211,200 728,000 939,200 0.24
#oxIR EnBBA
Note: Kt -

(1) 168,000 shares are owned by Ms. Lam Ka Yee, who is the spouse of

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan.
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) (i) as required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and/or short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii)
as required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Sections 352 of the SFO, or (iii) as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred
to in Rule 5.46 to Rule 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RIGHTS TO

ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Saved as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME", as at 31 March 2023, neither the company, holding
company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements
to enable the directors and chief executive of the company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities,
including debentures, of the company or any other body corporate,
and none of the directors and chief executive of the company or their
spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe
for the securities of the company, or had exercised any such rights.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 March 2023, other than
the Directors or chief executives of the Company whose interests
or short positions are disclosed under the paragraph headed
"Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the
Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and Its
Associated Corporations” above, the following parties have interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which have to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, and who
were expected, directly or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company are
listed as follows:
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Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interests

510 EntE

BRREE B8

Lui Yu Kin Beneficial owner
B ¥ EnEEA
Poon Chi Ming Beneficial owner
&L E=mEAA

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or
chief executives as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and Its Associated
Corporations” above) who had, or deemed to have, interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company which has to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO,
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year ended
31 March 2023.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save for the key management personnel compensation and as
disclosed elsewhere in the annual report, the Group did not have
other significant related party/connected party transactions entered
into during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Directors
are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has
taken place subsequent to 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report.

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rule 5.48 to Rule 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The Company periodically issues notices to
its Directors reminding them of the general prohibition on dealing in
the Company’s listed securities during the blackout periods before
the publication of announcements of financial results. The Company
has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the Directors, that
all the Directors have complied with the required standards of
dealings throughout the year. The Company was not aware of any
noncompliance during the year ended 31 March 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
amount of public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 September
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on appointment or reappointment
and removal of external auditors; review financial statements of the
Company and judgement in respect of financial reporting; oversee
internal control procedures of the Company; and review risk
management and internal control system of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee consists of 3
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Chung Chin Kwan and Mr. Chung Kwok Pan. Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2023 had been
reviewed by the Audit Committee before submission to the Board
for approval. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023 comply with applicable accounting standards, GEM
Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 have been
audited by Kenswick CPA, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the reappointment
of Kenswick CPA as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
2023 AGM.

By order of the Board
Yuen Yu Sum
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board has adopted various policies to ensure compliance with
the code provisions of the CG Code under Appendix 15 of the
GEM Listing Rules. For the year ended 31 March 2023, save for
the deviations as further explained below, the Company has fully
complied with all applicable provisions of the CG Code. The Company
will continue to enhance its corporate governance appropriate to
the conduct and growth of its business and to review its corporate
governance from time to time to ensure they comply with the
statutory and the CG Code and align with the latest developments.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises seven members, of which two are
executive Directors namely Mr. Yuen Yu Sum and Mr. Chan Lap
Jin Kevin and two non-executive Directors namely Mr. Law Wing
Chung and Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny and three are independent
non-executive Directors namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie, Mr. Chung
Chin Kwan and Mr. Chung Kwok Pan.

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, to the best knowledge of
the Board, there is no relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material relationship(s)) among the Board members.

Save for the resigned Directors, each of the Directors’ respective
biographical details are set out in the section headed "“Biographical
Details of the Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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In accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of Association
(the “Articles of Association”), at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number is not
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years and any director appointed to fill a
causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only
until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. The procedures and
process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are
laid down in the Articles of Association. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, considering and
formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment
of Directors and monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of Directors and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
(“CEQ")

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the chairman
and the CEO should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Yuen Yu Sum was appointed as the chairman
of the Board on 14 April 2021. The Board is in the process of finding
an appropriate person to fill the vacancy of the CEO as soon as
practicable. Meanwhile, the Board considers that the existing Board
members are able to share the power and responsibilities of CEO
among themselves.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31
March 2023.

Each of the independent non-executive Director has entered into
a service contract or an appointment letter (as the case may be)
with the Company for an initial term of one year and is subject to
termination provisions therein and retirement and re-election at the
annual general meetings of our Company in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company or any other applicable laws
from time to time whereby he/she shall vacate his office.

ROLE AND FUNCTION OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for overall management of the Group’s
business, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and
control of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising its affairs.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters of the
Group, including the approval and monitoring of major policy matters,
overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to the executive Directors and senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are reviewed
from time to time. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior
to any significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned
officers.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgement to the Board.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and revised in 2018 setting out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience. The ultimate decision will be
based on the merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company also adopted a nomination policy (The “Nomination
Policy”) on 31 December 2018. The purpose of the Nomination
Policy is to identify candidates who are suitable to become a
member of the Board and to make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of candidates nominated for directorships.
The Board shall be composed of members with balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to accomplish
the Group's business development, strategies, operation, challenges
and opportunities. The core criteria for selection include gender,
age, cultural and education background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience, number
of directorship in other listed/public companies and in case of
independent non-executive Directors, the number of years they
have already served. According to the nomination procedure,
the Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying potential
new Directors and recommends to the Board for decision. The
appointment shall be subject to the approval by the Board in
accordance with the Articles of Association, the GEM Listing Rules
and the Nomination Policy.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE
DIRECTORS

All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials regarding
the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws
and regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of
interests and business of the Group and such induction materials
will also be provided to the newly appointed Directors before
their appointment as Directors. All Directors have been updated
on the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirement to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
There is a procedure agreed by the Board to ensure Directors, upon
request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars/in-house briefing/
reading materials to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
and provided a record of training to the Company. These covered
a broad range of topics including Directors’ duties, corporate
governance and recent updates on the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD MEETINGS

Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all Directors for all
regular Board meetings and the Directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
Board papers in respect of regular Board meetings are sent out
in full to all Directors within reasonable time before the meeting.
Draft minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committees meetings are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and
all Directors have access to Board papers and related materials, and
are provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE
RECORDS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, 27 Board meetings were held,
out of which 4 were regular Board meetings for reviewing and
approving the financial and operating performance, and considering
and approving the overall strategies and policies of the Group. The
attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings and
Board committees’ Meetings are set out in the table below:
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Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
meeting meeting meeting meeting Meeting
EZeed EiZEe8E FMZEREEE REzEesd BRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum EHRESE 24/24 N/ATE A N/ATE A N/ATER 2/2
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin RUELE 20/24 N/ANER N/ANEF N/ANER 2/2
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Law Wing Chung Bt 20/24 N/ATE R 2/2 2/2 2/2
Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny HEEET 3/4 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER
Independent non-executive Directors B E@iTES
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Fddie RElBEE 24724 5/5 17N 1N 2/2
Mr. Ng Chi Ho, Dennis REREE 19/19 4/4 111 111 22
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan ERMLE 19/24 5/5 2/2 212 212
Mr. Chung Kwok Pan EEREE 24124 11 N/ATER N/ATER 2/2
Mr. Leung Kai Cheong Kenneth REERE 16/20 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER 2/2
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BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 September
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28
and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of
the Audit Committee was adopted in compliance with paragraph C3.3
of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
On 31 December 2018, the Board adopted a set of the revised terms
of reference of the Audit Committee in line with the GEM Listing
Rules requirement. The revised terms of reference setting out the
Audit Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are available
on both the GEM website and the Company’s website. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee, among other things, are to assist the
Board in overseeing and reviewing (i) the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems and regulatory
compliance of the Group; (i) the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and application of accounting standards and significant
judgements contained in the financial statements; and (iii) the
relationship with the external auditors by reference to the work
performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors.

As at 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Chung Kwok Pan and Mr. Chun Chin Kwan. Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie was the chairman of the Audit Committee. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, 4 meetings of Audit Committee were held
for, inter alia, reviewing the Group’s quarterly, interim and annual
results, the financial reporting and compliance procedures, the risk
management and internal control systems, and considering the
appointment of auditors of the Company.

On 30 November 2022, Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis resigned as the
member of the Audit Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph B1.2 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules. On 31 December 2018, the Board adopted
a set of the revised terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee in line with the GEM Listing Rules requirement. The
terms of reference setting out the Remuneration Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on both the
GEM website and the Company’'s website. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendation to the
Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating
to all Directors and senior management of the Group and ensure
none of the Directors determine their own remuneration, which is
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee
has adopted the operation model where it performs an advisory
role to the Board, with the Board retaining the final authority to
approve the remuneration packages of individual Directors and
senior management.

As at 31 March 2023, the Remuneration Committee consists of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Chung Chin Kwan and one non-executive Director, Mr.
Law Wing Chung. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan was the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, 3 meetings of Remuneration
Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the remuneration policy
and structure and determining the annual remuneration packages
of the Directors and the senior management and determining the
annual remuneration packages of the newly appointed Directors and
senior management, if any.

On 30 November 2022, Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis resigned as the
member of the Remuneration Committee, Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie
was appointed as the member of the Remuneration Committee on
30 November 2022.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph A5.2 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules. On 31 December 2018, the Board adopted a set
of the revised terms of reference of the Nomination Committee in
line with the GEM Listing Rules requirement. The revised terms of
reference setting out the Nomination Committee’s authority, duties
and responsibilities are available on both the GEM website and the
Company'’s website. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
are to make recommendations to the Board on nomination and
appointment of Directors and Board succession, with a view to
appoint to the Board individuals with suitable experience and
capabilities to maintain and improve the competitiveness of the
Company.

As at 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee consists of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Chung Chin Kwan and one non-executive Director, Mr.
Law Wing Chung. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan was the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, 3 meetings of Nomination
Ccommittee were held for, inter alia, considering the retirement and
re-election of the Directors and the appointment of the new Directors
and senior management, if any. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group achieved the effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy during the year.

On 30 November 2022, Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis resigned as the
member of the Nomination Committee, Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie
was appointed as the member of the Nomination Committee on 30
November 2022.

Compliance Committee

The Company established a compliance committee (the “Compliance
Committee”) with effect from 20 June 2022. The Compliance
Ccommittee is responsible for overseeing the regulatory compliance
with all relevant rules and regulations applicable to the Company,
including but not limited to, the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”),
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, and the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (together, “Applicable Laws”).
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The members of the Compliance Committee consist of two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director.
The Board has appointed Mr. Chung Chin Kwan, Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, both being independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Yuen
Yu Sum, being the chairman of the Board and an executive Director,
as members of the Compliance Committee. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan
has been appointed as the chairman of the Compliance Committee.

The terms of reference of the Compliance Committee are available
on the Company’s website at http://www.legendaryedu.com and the
Stock Exchange’s website at http://www.hkexnews.hk.

With the aim to implement the Independent Consultant’s
recommendation and strengthen the regulatory compliance function
of the Group, the Company has engaged Kenneth Chong Law Office,
an independent Hong Kong legal adviser, to provide consultation on
Applicable Laws compliance to the Group for a period commencing
from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is also delegated with corporate governance functions
under code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board has reviewed
and discussed the corporate governance policy of the Group and is
satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions of the Company. Upon the
Company'’s specific enquiry, each Director had confirmed that, they
had fully complied with the required standard of dealings and there
was no event of non-compliance for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the fees paid/payable to the
auditor of the Company, and its affiliate companies in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by them to the Group were
as follows:

EEERRE

22 Gl ke
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Fees paid/payable HK$

Service rendered FriR AR IE B,/ ENERET
Audit services ZE RS 1,113,000
Total st 1,113,000

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable, but not absolute assurance against misstatement or
loss. Given the relatively simple corporate and operation structure,
the Group currently does not have an internal audit department.
The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
as well as overseeing the formation, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems. In addition, the
Group engages an independent professional advisor with the aim of
setting up and maintaining an effective internal audit function. The
independent professional advisor assists the Board and the Audit
Committee in conducting an annual review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control system in various material aspects,
including strategic, financial, operational and compliance controls at
entity and operational levels.
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The Group reviews the internal audit charter to define the scope,
duties and responsibilities and reporting protocol of the internal
audit function. The Group also conducts an annual risk assessment
to identify potential strategic risks, operational risks, financial
risks and compliance risks of its major business. The identified
risks are analysed, rated and prioritised based on the likelihood of
occurrence and their impacts on achieving corporate objectives.
Respective internal control measures are proposed to mitigate the
consequences of the potential risks to the Group. In last financial
year, a continuous three-year audit plan is devised upon the
results of the risk assessment and under a risk based approach.
According to the three-year internal audit plan devised in last
financial year, an annual internal control review project is executed
by the independent professional advisor with a view to assisting the
Board and the Audit Committee to evaluate the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 March 2023. The risk assessment report, three-year audit
plan and internal control report are submitted and reviewed by the
Audit Committee at least once a year. Summary of findings and
recommendations are discussed at the Audit Committee meeting
with a view to improving the Group’s operations.

The Company has also formulated policies on handling and
dissemination of inside information that set out procedures in
handling inside information in a secure and proper manner and to
avoid mishandling of inside information of the Group.

The Board has received a confirmation from management on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board, through its Audit
Ccommittee, with result of the annual internal control review project
executed by the independent professional advisor, is satisfied that
the Group's risk management and internal control systems (i) are
effective and adequate to meet the needs of the Group in its current
business environment; and (ii) comply with the code provisions on
internal control as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensure that
the consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the generally
accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong have been adopted,
appropriate accounting policies have been used and applied
consistently, and reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates
have been made. Having made appropriate enquiries, the Board
is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions which may cast significant doubt over the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board has continued
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

The statement of external auditor of the Company, Kenswick CPA
Limited, about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditor’'s Report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all shareholders. The Company encourages two-way communications
with both its institutional and private investors. A shareholder’s
communication policy was adopted by the Board on 25 September
2014 aiming at providing the shareholders and potential investors
with ready and timely access to balanced and understandable
information of the Company. Extensive information about the
Company’s activities is provided in its interim report, quarterly
reports and this annual report, which are sent to shareholders
of the Company. The AGM provides a valuable forum for direct
communication between the Board and the Company's shareholders.
The Board as well as Chairmen of the Board committees together
with the auditor will present to answer shareholders’ questions.
The circular of the AGM is distributed to all shareholders at least 21
clear days before the meeting. Separate resolutions are proposed
at general meetings on each separate issue and voting of which
are taken by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Any results of
the poll are published on both the GEM website and the Company’s
website. All corporate communication with shareholders will be
posted on the Company’s website for shareholders’ information.
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The 2022 AGM was held on 30 September 2022 and one extraordinary
general meeting were held on 25 November 2022. Saved as the
attendance of the Board disclosed under the paragraph headed
“Number of Meetings and Attendance Records” above, the
auditor also attended the 2022 AGM to answer questions of the
shareholders. The Company keeps on promoting investor relations
and enhancing communication with the existing shareholders
and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the Company
may be sent by post to the Company’s head office or by email to
ir@legendaryedu.com.hk.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to the approval of the shareholders and requirement of
the relevant law, the Company shall pay annual dividends to the
shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is
stable and there is no significant investment or commitment made
by the Group. The Company does not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio and the Board has the sole direction as to the
declaration and payment of dividends. The dividend policy allows the
Company to declare special dividends from time to time in addition
to the annual dividends.

The Company'’s ability to pay dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the Group’s current and future operations, financial
position, development pipeline, prevailing economic environment,
contractual restrictions, capital and other reserve requirements,
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates,
as well as any other conditions or factors which the Board deems
relevant and having regard to the Directors’ fiduciary duties.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary (“Company Secretary”) of the Company, Ms.
Fung Yuk Yiu (“Ms. Fung"”), was appointed on 9 September 2021.
Ms. Fung is a member of Hong Kong Institute of certified Public
Accountants. The role of the Company Secretary is responsible for
facilitating the Board meeting process, as well as communications
among Board members, with shareholders and Management. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, Ms. Fung undertook not less than 15
hours of professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

MANAGEMENT OF INSIDE INFORMATION

In order to promote transparency, accountability and responsibility
in respect of the operation of a listed company, and for the
maintenance of good corporate governance, the Company, assisted
by legal advisers and financial advisers, would notify the Stock
Exchange and make relevant disclosure to the public as soon as
practicable of any inside information of the Company pursuant to
the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary
general meetings shall be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more shareholders’ holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 3
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at a
General Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the head office of the Company at 5/F,
World Interests Building, 8 Tsun Yip Lane, Kwun Tong, Hong Kong,
specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her
contact details and the proposal he/she intends to put forward at
general meeting regarding any specified transaction/ business and
its supporting documents.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’
Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and concerns to
the Board in writing through the Company Secretary at the head office
of the Company at 5/F, World Interests Building, 8 Tsun Yip Lane,
Kwun Tong, Hong Kong or send email to ir@legendaryedu.com.hk.
Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

Constitutional Documents
There are no significant changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

U<

KENSWICK

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEGENDARY EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED
(Formerly known as Legendary Group Limited)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Legendary
Education Group Limited (formerly known as Legendary Group
Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 58 to 249, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

REEFETEH
RREFFERRERMANERHE - RAYE
MG AR BREANEARAEENTH - %FF
HAEHRMEERAMEHRRERETENLVKE
ROBRTETRE  RATEZEEREHRE
BER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HEETEE

Impairment assessment of loan receivables

We identified the estimated provision of ECL for loan
receivables as a key audit matter due to the significant
balance of loan receivables in the consolidated statement
of financial position as a whole and the significant degree
of management judgement involved in recognising
impairment loss on loan receivables.

B ERERNTEREEERMATBEI AERENS
B RAREBREFNGEMBRARPHERBENRS
X THEEEERREWEFREEERTZIELERH
B o
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EANFSTUMEERRENSR

& W &SRB BB R

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the sufficiency
of the estimated impairment of loan receivables
included:
A BN ERERENT S Em S -
FrEE -

B EZRE

e Assessing the effectiveness of key controls over
the application of the impairment methodology,
the governance for the ECL models, inputs and
assumptions used by the Group in calculating the
ECL and the mathematical accuracy of the ECL
calculations;

o FIAXZZESHBERENER - EHEEBER
BAWES  EEEHEEHREEEEMANB ALY
BREZEFEHEEEEFENEEEBEN TN
i

e Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL
models, including the model inputs, model design,
model performance and calculations;

e HEEEEEHEEFERLNSEN  BERD
AR - BARE  RARBARGE



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HAREEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHARE

BRESEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRANESTNTEERARETEE

Impairment assessment of loan receivables
(Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s
loan receivables, net of allowance of ECL amounted to
approximately HK$43,217,000.
RZZEZ=F=A=+—H BESEREKEFRNEAE
(MKRIFEHEEEERE) £9/543,217,0008 7T ©

As disclosed in notes 4 and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements, the measurement of expected
credit loss ("ECL") for loan receivables requires the
application of significant judgement which includes the
identification of exposures with a significant deterioration
in credit quality, and assumptions used in the ECL
models, such as the probabilities of default, loss given
default, expected future cash flows and forward-looking
macroeconomic factors.

BANAR A BTSRRI A M3 R - BN E K TEHRE
gEE ((EREEEE] 2 ZkEREXRAE - &
BREHMNEEEEBEERCHRAR - URTEHEEFEEE
AR RRER - PIINE LB « BAYIBLEK « TEARR K
ReERELAEERZELBERE -

P &SRB BB RS (48)

e Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s
criteria for assessing if there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the loan receivables;

e HEEEEFEEWEFNEERRESDEEY
e &R

e Challenging whether historical experience is
representative of current circumstances and of
the recent losses incurred in the portfolios and
assessing the reasonableness of the forward-
looking adjustments;

e HREELKBREARKRBABANURKREHLEGHE
ERGETEAETE - WA AR ARG IE MY

e Reviewing the Group’s assumptions on the
expected future cash flows, including the value
of realisable collateral based on available market
information; and

s FEEEEYWHEHRKREMREMMRE -
MHAEERN A SREAnEE &

BEER

e Assessing the financial statements disclosures
relating to the Group's exposure to credit risk.
o  FHEEREEERBRH OB M EwKIKE -

EERABEEEERAF
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HARELEE

BRETSEE (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRAMESTNAEERERETEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
involvement of a significant degree of judgement and
estimates made by the management of the Group when
performing impairment testing.

B ERRET G RERETEE - REREHE
BIRAUBHRENEZN W R ESEBEEENETH
BRI ED B A HET R fhET

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s
goodwill amounted to approximately HK$177,764,000.
RZEZ=F=-A=1—0 " E5EEENEKREENA
177,764,000/ 7T °
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Our procedures in relation to evaluating the impairment
assessment of goodwill included:
MAAEBAREN AT E - RMNEREFEHE

e Reviewing and assessing the management’s
judgement used in the identification of cash-
generating units for annual impairment
assessment;

e BWERINMAEBEERFERENERNREGELS
7 FrER A B FI

e Reviewing the assumptions adopted in the
impairment testing performed by the management
of the Group and the independent valuers;

s HEBESEERERERBIGEMETRENG
FKAMWRE

e  Reviewing the underlying data and assumptions
used in the discounted cash flows model, including
changes in the growth rate of revenue, gross
margin and discount rate employed,;

s HEURREMSEEEABRBEELRE
BRAERRZE)  EFRRAR R

2



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HAREEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHARE

BRESEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRANESTNTEERARETEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

As disclosed in notes 4 and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’ assessment on
impairment of goodwill is a judgemental process which
requires estimates concerning the forecasted future
cash flows associated with the goodwill, the discount
rates and the growth rate of revenue and costs to be
applied in determining the value in use. The selection of
valuation model, adoption of key assumptions and input
data may be subject to management basis and changes
in these assumptions and input to valuation model may
result in significant financial impact.Our procedures in
relation to evaluating the impairment assessment of
goodwill included:

BANERE SRR M AR I8FT R - EEEYHERE
BIATE /A s A A E R ERANTERRRIR 2 RE - B
R R AL R R R EEEFAEEMARADHERIE -
BEAERN  ROABARREREGABIBEAREER
BEEET  MZREBIRMOHEEXNHASIENE SN
BEASAVBEE - RMBBETAEERETENIET
B

BB ERE (')

e Evaluating the discount rates adopted in the
discounted cash flows model by reviewing its basis
of calculation and comparing the input data to
market sources; and

e FERBEFNEEERLIERE AZRETISKIR - 5T
HARBESMERTHEAMARE &

e  Reviewing the potential impact of reasonably
possible downside changes in these key data and
assumptions.

o BEZTHRIBREBRAEVETHNEYNEL

B/ 48R
5%

EERABEEEERAF
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

5 4 Legendary Education Group Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BAZBERE

BB ET R e M B HRRAENEE

BB EEHRAMBBRRERBES T FER
REFFRERMERNERFERRARFE LR
& WIERRBEMSHENRBER  HAHAR
MNERNZEERE  ERAM T (FREE
HERMNER - BRSNS EE M B &) o T
BARAREARAEFNEMATAERAE LR
T ARRFRDKFNRE - BTRERELRR
BABEAETONES  EX -BRERRA
TFPERS ABE B3R o A ARIRAL 7T LAt HRFF S8R 3R 5
o RAERAEEBENAF AT ELRA M
TSR A& KRB AR & M IS MR TR L VAR R
E o RIE BRI BAREE K -

ERIRBERBEEAETET 2 — 8D - B
REBEFRHBRETEREXZHE - RIFEXER
REJE - AT -

o RAIAFHEBRREFFRER M E B A M TE
BRFESRERBR AR - R RHTT
BT AREILFRR - UREERTEEM
HE 2 EFHEE  ERBRMANEREER - i
REGFRIBE S R BER - s - EEER - &
RERAL - SR BRAEMES 2 £ - B REE
HHAMFMER 2 BRERBLZ AR D
MRBEFIRE SR M B Rz EAFH R 2
[\

o TRREERTEEZABIES - ARG AR
BRATEBEE 2&HEF BENLIEEE
SEABEHZBEREERER -
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Fung Tze Wa.

Kenswick CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Fung Tze Wa

Practicing Certificate Number P01138

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEEsRkHEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

Continuing Operations

Revenue

Cost of sales and services

Other income

Other gains and losses, net

Impairment losses under expected
credit losses, net of reversal

Selling and distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

Share of results of associates

HHE MARFE A

H At es & B 1R F R
BEHEEER THRE

B8 - RED
R D AR

Profit before taxation
Income tax expenses

Profit for the year from Continuing
Operations

Discontinued Operation

Loss for the year from Discontinued

Operation

KEFBERERBZFA

BRIEEXR
KREERIEREXHZEA

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

for the year, net of profits tax

Item that will not be reclassified to
profit or 10ss:

Gain on disposal of equity
instrument at fair value through
other comprehensive profit

FREMEERA

TEEN D BREREH

HER A EF ARLBEE
W B A T A Z Was

Other comprehensive income

for the year, net of profits tax

FREMEBEYA -

Total comprehensive income
for the year

FRAZHEBALE

5 8 Legendary Education Group Limited
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2023
—EB-=F
HK$'000

FET

237,253

(95,250)
2,594
574

(3,754)
(20,401)
(75,259)

(2,391)

34,590

34,590

2022

HK$'000
T

115,088
(30,781)
1,745
(1,942)

681
(5,025)
(45,580)
(2,238)

31,948
(3,971

27,977

(1,970)

26,007

80

80

26,087




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEBmRkHEMEEBER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_T-_=—F=ZA=1+—HIFE

2023 2022

—E-=F —E - F

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k23 FExT FATT

Profit for the year attributable T%|A tEEEREF :
to:

— Owners of the Company — RAFEAA 33,389 27,180
- Non-controlling interests — IR R 1,201 (1,173)
34,590 26,007
Total comprehensive THALEEER
income for the year ZHEBRALLE:
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company — AREEEA 27,260
— Non-controlling interests — JEIERGRE RS (1,173)
26,087
HK cent
il
(Restated)
(&E5)
Earnings per share SREF 14
From continuing and KERFBREARILSEER
discontinued operation
- Basic — EK 6.91
- Diluted —¥E 6.91
From Continuing Operations KREFECEER
— Basic — EK 7.41
— Diluted — g 7.41
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RE M HIRR R

At 31 March 2023
RZEZ=F=HA=+—H

Non-current assets

FRBEE

Notes

f3
MTaE

Property, plant and equipment ME - BRE KRR 15
Investment property WA 16
Intangible assets mAE 17
Goodwill BES 18
Interests in associates RRERE N AR 19
Equity instrument at fair value BRAFEFAEMEE

through other comprehensive WA TR

income 20
Rental deposits HEZe 22
Current assets mENEE
Inventories FE 21
Trade and other receivables Z 5 R H b ENGRIE 22
Loan receivables FEWE K 23
Amount due from an associate JEUHSE 5 A B FRIA 24
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEFABZNSRHE

through profit or loss 3 25
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEED 26
Current liabilities mENEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERFIA 27
Contract liabilities EHaE 28
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 29
Lease liabilities HEaE 30
Tax payable JERH IR
Provision for litigation B 31
Net current assets REEEFE
Total assets less current EEHERRBEE

liabilities

Legendary Education Group Limited
60 g y p
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2023
—E_=F
HK$'000
FH&T

35,503

705
177,764

3,175

217,147

58,705
43,217

11,930
48,599

162,451

12,469
33,256
5,000
12,289
6,477
1,735

71,226

91,225

308,372

ToF
HK$'000
FEIT
(Restated)
(&&5&=751)

34,649

900
175,070

2,776

213,395

3,055
41,575
42,123

6,230

1,993
21,018

115,994

9,798
24,994
5,000
9,494
14,869
1,735

65,890

50,104

263,499




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBRRE

At 31 March 2023
R_ZE-_=F=HA=+—H

(Restated)
(#&&E7)

Non-current liabilities kRBER

Other payables H b fEI 3R 27 45,538 36,585
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 9,753 14,783
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIEA & 32 663 14
Promissory note payables FEST#H R AR 33 = -
55,954 51,382
252,418 212,117

Capital and reserves B EE
Share capital A% AR 34 197 179
Reserves i 252,693 213,159

Equity attributable to owners  Z&AF#EE AEGEZ
of the Company 252,890 213,338
Non-controlling interests IR R (472) (1,221)

252,418 212,117

The consolidated financial statements on pages 58 t0 249 were 4REMEHRFESSEEFE 49BN T - =F XA
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2023 and were signed =+ RAEZEEgHE  THTIESKEEE -
on its behalf by:

Yuen Yu Sum Chan Lap Jin Kevin
mHRR BRI

Director Director

= EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mAEmBER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T_=F=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
FATAREARE
Fair valug Share option Accumulated Non-ontrolling
Share capital  Share premium reserve  Specil reserve resenve  Other reserve  profits(losses) Sub-total interests

k% i LTERE ARG BRERR L5 () N FERER #
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn

A1 Aol 2021 H-§--EmR-H 15 815 09 B 5437 43 8181 178,78 0739 174019
H e year Ehgf - - - - - - 718 71 (1173 ]
fer comprehensive mcome forthe year — ERERAERA - - - - - - ) )] - i)
Tota compehensie EmaEdE /(R
Income/{expense) for e year g - - - - - - 74 74 (117 108

D\sposa\ o equ\ty nstumentatfanle  HERATERAZHAE

through ot competensiencome. - WEHRETE - - bt - - - 924 - - -
Diidend recogrised s disruton e 19 EZADFARE (H19) - 0528 - - - - - iy - 3]
Disposal o  subsicery (ote 39 0)) WTE“’ - - - - - - - - 7% 2%
Deemed diposel ofpatil st~ e ENBAT ﬂféfm
Subsidiary (ote 39 0} (s - - - - - - ] i &) -
Isue fshares (ote 4B YRR (BE0) ¥ 32 - - - - - 320 - 320
et f e optons &
(notes 34B)0) and ) (HEupIR%) 1 2561 - - () - - 2N N 20
At 31 Merch 200200 1 Al 22 e
R-E-_FmA-A 1 §76% - B 516 % 87563 1338 (12 mm

Poftardtoe compehensve ncome - ERERIRAEALE
forthe year

Acyistonof a substiary HEHEAT
Deemed dsposal of partl merestna— BfFH ENERTDNER
Suosiary rote 39 ) (1E39)

s ofbonus e fote 44 BO0R (W)
Recogrion of equitysetd shaeoptons 575\ Rk BB RER A
aengemert te 5 (k%) 561 564 561

A3 BIch 203 REZZF=A=1-1 | 8431 1079 | 121470 252890 5018
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Operating activities
Profit before taxation

- Continuing Operations
— Discontinued Operation

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_T-_=—F=ZA=1+—HIFE

Adjustments for:

Amortisation

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

Depreciation of investment
property

Finance costs

Interest income

Losses on disposal of subsidiaries

Changes in fair value on financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

(Gainy/loss on disposal of financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Dividend received on financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Impairment losses under expected
credit losses, net of reversal

Impairment of goodwill

Deposit and other receivables
written off

Written back of long outstanding
trade and other payables

Written off of loan receivables

Recovery of trade and other
receivable written off in previous
year

Equity-settled share option
arrangement

2023 2022
—E-=F —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHBTT
BETE
B 75 B2 A
— RBECEERS 31,948
— BRI EET (1,970)
29,978
MU T EEEITHRE
#iE
M - WEREEITE
7,699
KEMERE
B RS R AN 2,238
FBIA 477)
HENRBARRNEE 1,970
BATERABE Y
SREEAFE
BE) 2,521
HER AT E AR
HEREER
(Uezs),/ E51E 1,287
RAFEFABZEN
©EVE E AT
fZ 8 (56)
TEEEE BB T RRE
BB - HBRED (681)
EERE
e REMERFIE
i sH 661
BRI REME AL Z
B 5 R EM R RIE (4,387)
s e U B 3R 1,976
W B R B 1 F EMEE <
B 5 I A FE W R IR
(116)

P AL E B A 2 BF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERSRER

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EBC=F —EFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHBT
Operating cash flows before BEESEHAI 2 RKE
movements in working capital RL£RE 71,648 42,613
Decrease/(increase) in inventories & RE4 (3&) 3,055 (3,055)
Increase in trade and other B 5 I B A FEUGRIEIE N
receivables (18,478) (8,676)
(Increase)/decrease in loan FEU E = (38n),E
receivables (3,045) 29,746
Increase/(decrease) in financial A EGTABEZNEE
assets at fair value through profit &g ()
or loss 236 (4,207)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B 5 Rk E M I8
other payables CRA),/ 380 (384) 1,646
Increase/(decrease) in contract awaEEm CRd)
liabilities 8,262 (8,482)
Decrease in amounts due from JiE W 2B =5 R IE R
directors 5,662
Decrease in amount due from an  FEUREE & N B 20IE R
associate -
Cash generated from operations & i8R & 55,247
Income tax paid EATATER (3,5995)
Net cash generated from RETHRESRLSTFHE
operating activities 51,652
Investing activities RETH
Acquisition of subsidiaries Lk B B BB A /) (5,123)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (10)
Interest received BUF B 477
Dividend received 2R B 56
Proceed from disposal of investment B &% & ¥ T8 08
property 20,000
Payment for purchase of property, BEEWZ% - HE LBE
plant and equipment pANE:N (11,572)
Net cash (used in)/generated REEE (), i
from investing activities ReEFE 3,828

6 4 Legendary Education Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Financing activities 7l E B

Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEEAE

Repayments of bank and other BERITREMES
borrowings

Repayment of promissory note BRI R
payables

Interest paid BRFLE

Dividend paid BERRE

New lease entered BEIMFHEE

Proceeds from exercise of share TR R P15 30R
options

Net cash used in from financing B&;EBFARETE
activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash HERBEELZEY
and cash equivalents i, CRd) B

Cash and cash equivalents at FHRERKREZEY
beginning of the year

Ccash and cash equivalents at FRRERREZEY
end of the year

Analysis of balances of cash ReRBSZEYES
and cash equivalents ki

Cash and cash equivalents as stated &8 IR &KX AR
in the consolidated statement of FIRE KB EEY
cash flows, represented by cash B3R & MIRTTAE &R
and bank balances

n_\élﬁﬁﬁii
For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_Z_=F=RA=+—HILHFE

2023
—EB-=F

HK$000 HK$'000
FET TR
(11,886) (5,212)
(11,200)
(57,440)
(1,574)
(36,385)
2,135

2,270

(107,4006)

(51,926)

72,944

21,018

21,018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE

66

TE-=F=A=+—HItEE

GENERAL

Legendary Education Group Limited (formerly known as
Legendary Group Limited, the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability on 5 June 2014 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
and its shares were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 10 October 2014.

The addresses of the registered office and the principal place
of business of the Company are P.0O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and 5/F, World
Interest Building, 8 Tsun Yip Lane, Kwun Tong, Hong Kong,
respectively.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 44 to the financial statements.

Pursuant to the special resolution of the shareholders of the
Company passed on 3 April 2023, the name of the Company
was changed from “Legendary Group Limited” to “Legendary
Education Group Limited” and the dual foreign name in Chinese
of the Company was changed from "8I X E#FEEBRAF]" to
"ERHEEBBARAR"

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in
the Group are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). These consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency, and all
value are rounded to the nearest thousand HK$ except where
otherwise indicated.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on
or after 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Amendments to HKFRS 3

Covid-19-Related Rent
concessions

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSS

The directors of the Company consider that the application of
the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

2,

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

FEREEMBREER ([FEMK
WEERA ) ZBFTAE

RAFERFHERNEBMBRE
LA TR

RAFE - AREEERERAmEAERE
2E ([EASHMAE)) BEEER-F
== ARz &R 2 FEEIRER
ERZIAT BB BRE L ZETA - LA
RSB :

BRMBRERARIR IR BEMHRSER

ERE A
BEETEAFH2EIA  Covid-19/IERH
2RE
BRGNS 1R BN WE  BERR
-\ hg
AIRYFTIS B
BEGEREIH 2 ERTA Eﬁa{ﬁ/\éﬁ BY
BMZHA
BRI REER ZEFTA BEuERE £
“E-\EFE=
T_DEIEE
i

ARAREERR  NERERBEVHRE
R Z BT AR RN EBAFEBEFEZ
FHEMRRRR R, RZEFA P BHRE
NPEE AR BEATE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_Z_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue

but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS
17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

HK Int 5 (Revised)

Insurance Contracts’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)’

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’

Presentation of financial
statements - classification by
the borrower of a term loan
that contains a repayment on
demand clause?®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all these new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable

future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEUBBRNEREERTIES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 3.1 RENBHRRNEREE

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments which are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

REVBRERBEBEEEGHNAE
B EBHBRE LG - iR
G EMBRENBENMES - EF A
BHEAZSENGVEFTEFREN
R RFENEWRTEAEA - It
SN ERETERERBEREEBEA
RSB R A EGEME F Em iR Al
(TGEM_ETTHRAN ) ME AR BHEF 2
Sz EAEE -

ARBEER AL S W HREE
EREHASERBHERNARK
RABLL - At WERREEGS
MBBRSEERAFELE SR

£ o

A MBMRIVRIBE 2R AL
B EREREHRETERMITAR
RNHERTERIRIN (T XA#EESR
BURFEEA)

ESE AR —RIZ BBV E KR 2
RERENDIFERTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HGREHMBHBREINEREERTIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 3.1 RENBHRRNEREE &)
financial statements (continued)
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell NHETIRETE B M52 HEEETT
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly EFRRHLEEEMBNR=EZEES
transaction between market participants at the EMZHHER M THRERESH
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is HEEBRNNAAMEETELES
directly observable or estimated using another valuation e REFTEERBEN A TER -
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a WMmE2HRENTEEHAEELA
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics BEEBRZEEEENEENFE - A
of the asset or liability if market participants would take AEBNGEEZSERE - ZF5HKE
those characteristics into account when pricing the BHRETARTER,LEEH
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value NV ETRZELEETE - WEBMB
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these R AE RIS 257 LARR D A E TR 3K
consolidated financial statements is determined on such HENHARSD AERNNHRZ S
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions RBRE B BEREENE165REEAN
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based RNHEERS  UREATEEFNE
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in Uz BEBEWIFAFE(MEBGHE
accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements A2 F EFTM A # R FEXE R
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair BRI EIREERBEMAERE
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories 18) BEET =R o

or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

7 O Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Adjustments to net assets and goodwiill
arising from the acquisitions of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited
As described in notes 38(b)(ii), during the year ended
31 March 2022, the Company acquired the entire equity
interests in Brilliant Ever Global Limited. The initial
accounting for the acquisitions of Brilliant Ever Global
Limited in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2022 have been
determined provisionally as the Group was awaiting the
final results of the independent valuation in relation to
the net assets and goodwill of Brilliant Ever Global Limited
and their subsidiaries acquired in the acquisitions at that
moment.

With reference to the valuation conducted by an
independent professional valuer, the valuations regarding
the acquisition of Brilliant Ever Global Limited was
completed during the year ended 31 March 2023. Based
on the completed valuations, there were changes to
the amounts of the net assets and goodwill in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company as
follows:

As originally

presented and

audited

Extract from consolidated BREZS

financial statements BRAGAHBRE REEG
HK$'000

TAL

Consolidated statement of financial ~ &ABBIR AR

position
Non-current assets FnEAE
Goodwill BE 171,070
Intangible assets ByEE 4,900

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT_=F=A=+—HILFE

REMBRRNEREERTES
SRR (4)

3.2 ARBEEXKRRERATME
ENEEFERBERE

AN 38D (FTI - HE—T ==
FZA=1T—BIEFE  ARFWE
FEAXIRHBRAT Z2HRE - AR
AEE-_Z-_—_F=A=+—HLF
[E 2 R E TR AR AU EOKIR
HERRRIZ VIR TR
T REAAAEEERESHABA
FIRIRB RN T R A% E M B A R
BEEPHEZEEFEREEZE
A E ISR o

K2ER T EEGEMETHEE -
BEANFBEAIRIRER A RINMER
REE-ZZT-=F=A=+—HLF
EANTER » RIBE TR 2 HE - AR

AR BRERNZEEFERDSE
KIS REEEIT

As at
Adjustments 31 March 2022
R-ZB-Z
A% ZA=t-8
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TAT
(restated)
\ " %W

4,000 175,070 18
(4,000) 900 17
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies 3.3 FESTHEX

72

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

] has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group's relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group's and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HGREHMBHBREINEREERTIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 TEEFHEE ®)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing AEERRENBARNERS
subsidiaries (Continued) B (&)
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets A E B K KM B A RS
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling B SRR B AR EEN
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is BERIEERER (NFE) - WK
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the EERNEEER  WRHIEKRER
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value EREMIRE Ew A T ERAEE
of the consideration received and the fair value of any B()VARRHEEABIERBARIAE
retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the (PEEE) RaEREem o MnE
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary BHETE o PRA SR E M 2 E I s i
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts RBEMEZM B AR FRIE - T
previously recognised in other comprehensive income REEEEEHEZME R RNIEE
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the BEESBEAR QHZEREAVB
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or WEERIFTRE A EFHEER
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss DR ERES —EER)  c RAEE
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/ HIEE BRI B A FUREE 2 A%
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any B2 NTHE  BRAREBEBMBR
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date HEAFORSRMTE ([FEVBH
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial HERAER]) (FRHIEGFTRIEZA
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 HHEARRFEME 3 (WEA) R —K
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9") or, when applicable, BN E) 2 B VI RER 2R -
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate.
Business combinations EBEH
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the WHE ST TR AU E AR - REB
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a AP EZRNRERATEFTE M
business combination is measured at fair value, which is ATEREARASEMBEENEE K
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values SEHBWEARBEEAEENAR
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred RS B AR R KB T R B R AT
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and FITHIREN I B AT ENE
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for o BUCRE B RAMIBK AR — MR E AR
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are RSP ER -

generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable BrE THEREA RN - FTUEE 2 AT a8 A
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the BERAAEZ BBEVARERZE
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual —ZFE+ AEMOITBERETSER
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October TEERAEBEZTEE °

2010.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

3.3 XEEFEE &)

EBA0t (@)

REMBRRNEREERTES
SRR (4)

FOUE FLER MR T B B A
FEREREATEER - T XA

AERRIN

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements,
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits, respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Inventories at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below),

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16 Leases) as if the acquired
leases were new leases at the acquisition date.
Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market
terms.

BEERREERABELEREER
WML EESBE
Ty RIRBEE G RS2
ST BB ERIFE19
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U RS 7T 2 LARR D A BT
LB E AR 2 AR A
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AR RER N R HEE 2
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RIBE BB E LR E25RF
EFitg2 (B2 TX 25K
)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HGREHMBHBREINEREERTIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 TEEFHEE ®)
Business combinations (Continued) EBatt (2
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of PP ERFTEENE - R A
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non- IEER R 2 SR R E T B TR
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value WUEE S AR () R ER
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the AN P UEE AT R BB B R PR E B
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable BRBEHHZFEAE - WREH
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at sl fhi% - PrURHE Pl sk nl & B K P
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount BEFEBHMMERERNRE - PR
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed BHEREERES 2 SERKES
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the MEMBHBEIER (WE) 2F
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree Bziaf  =HAFRIERER AR
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held BB -

interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interest that are present ownership SEERE R AR A A R - B
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate FB ARB RO S5 R E
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event NEIMEEFE AP AYE
of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value IR FEIE IR IR L B DG U T
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of AHREEFE BRSNS -
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net RERIR S EAER ST E L -

assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a HMEBEAEEREREHPERERNRE
business combination includes a contingent consideration BREIARBELZE - AsARERE
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured I B AT AR E - WARERE
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of BafthrEEREN &5 - BE
the consideration transferred in a business combination. FTEAAAEERNIARENRT
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration BEEHHIEEPRAE - rEHRAR
that qualify as measurement period adjustments RN FrEE] (M ERRaWER
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period HfRE —F) R BER BT AN S
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional ERERAMESHMENEELENA
information obtained during the “measurement period” o

(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that,
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised
at that date.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

REMBRRNEREERTES
SRR (4)

3.3 XEEFEE &)

EBRA6t ()
PIEERFTEHRBRERZRA
REZHBGETRE - BURR AR
BIMADHE - DERESHORANE
REZRBEAHISENAE - HiR
BENERNETARREE - 285
BESABZIARERERRER
HEHMFEEATE - MBEEKRES
BRI R PR o

BEXRBAIOBRER  AEBEBE
KB 2 U 77 B AR Wi B AR
(AIREERGZHIEER) BEXE
ERQVE MAREEZWEHER
(mE) AR EMmEmRa (F
M) PRER o U B BAT B R
WEF#REFBBTEREMEE
Wz i R R IEE B 15 S £ R
FORTECERE  HRASHEER
HEZ B A 2 B FR AR EE
FIRR

WEBE N EHEENETE
BrEV SRS BRI R TEAK - RIA KBS
HEARTHREHEIENIER 2BET
T ZFEESENTEMREL
EPFHE (REX)  WHERHEIEE
HAE URBRATESEBREER
HEeFAEm AR S ENZ B E
RBZERENEERBERFHER

EERABEEEERAF 77
2023 £k



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HGREHMBHBREINEREERTIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 TEEFHEE ®)
Goodwill maE
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is W% (R bl g5 HE) rE
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition A P BRI B S5 B BIRE S MR AR,
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less REPREERE (10F) FIER -

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is ETREARE - mEgoikEEE
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units AXEREHNBEIENAEER
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to FHReELSN (HREELESNA
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which A BB eELBEMNNRESEE
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is BAIARITISENEE TR B &1 5 B %
monitored for internal management purposes and not PR 2 &IEKE - BEBEMTKRE
larger that an operating segment. B o

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating BEriEmEBnReEEEM (HRe
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested EEEMGAR) BFIRNENRET
for impairment annually or more frequently when there BRI A A MR E S E AR B TR
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For BEAR - MRS PANKIEMELE
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, FEmMS  BOERENReELS
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating iz (RIREEAEBAAR) RIS
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for RAVEITRERAR © MBS EAESENM
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the R Bl &R EREE - AlEE
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the DR E R OBE A E R 2 BRE
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying B ARz sn (KBEeEELSM
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on AR AISEEREBE LA ELE
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each HiEE -

asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the WHERERSELELAR - RET
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the PEZERSBERTAREZEGS
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FESFHEX ®

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when
the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held
for sale, in which case it is or the portion so classified is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Any
retained portion of an investment in an associate that
has not been classified as held for sale continues to be
accounted for using the equity method. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Appropriate adjustments have
been made to conform the associate’s a accounting
policies to those of the Group. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group's net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
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80

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the
Group retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope
of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate and the fair value
of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the associate is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that associate on the same basis as would
be required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate would be reclassified to profit or 10ss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HGREHMBHBREINEREERTIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 TEEFHEE ®)

Investments in associates (Continued) REEQNRNRE (&)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the EEEERENEE —AlE QT

Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions IRSE - BZBERARRSMELE

with the associate are recognised in the consolidated ZEHGRREMBRRER - EE

financial statements only to the extent of interests in the VARZES & A Al BN & B A 2 fE s PR

associate that are not related to the Group. HEBR o

Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHWE

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance REBRZRELHEER (Sgtit)

obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or R - BN ERNETHEERN

services underlying the particular performance obligation BmskRBe EHE] SE TR,

is transferred to the customer. i o

A performance obligation represents a goods or service BHEEESFEE RS (k—1E&

(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a FEMIMRT) HARBHERE— R

series of distinct goods or services that are substantially HEEm R

the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised WG TRE, — » EHIEE—K

over time by reference to the progress towards complete FFRINER - Mikas A2 E TR AR

satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one BHEANEER —BRIFENER
of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and o  HRAASEELAMREEE
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's B EFEASEE BT R
performance as the Group performs; BN

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances e AEBEMBHELASIRA—E
an asset that the customer controls as the Group BE MZEEERAEEHRE
performs; or AR IS 5 sk

e the Group's performance does not create an o AEBEMBENTREELEFLS
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the BEEERBENEE  BASE
Group has an enforceable right to payment for Eiizc5 2T BONNREA
performance completed to date. A 0] 58 B THIRER]

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time LR WRERFESEEE®IAR

when the customer obtains control of the distinct good TSR IR RS IR IR R BA TR

or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE-ZT_=F=A=+—HILFE
BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #SEAMEHRXRNGREERTIES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FTEGR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)
Revenue from contracts with customers BEFEEHWE ()
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price).

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the services underlying
each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group
would sell a promised services separately to a customer.
If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable,
the Group estimates it using appropriate technigues
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated
to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring the promised services to
the customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price). (Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified goods
or services before that goods or services are transferred
to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified goods or
services by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified goods or services provided
by another party before that goods or services are
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price). (Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)
Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

()

(i)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. If the
products are a partial fulfilment of a contract
covering other goods, then the amount of revenue
recognised is an appropriate proportion of the total
transaction price under the contract, allocated
between all the goods promised under the contract
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Provision of training courses

For the training courses, the Group provides training
courses through on-site and online platforms for a
fixed fee. The training courses are paid in advance
and in full during the registration process, which
must occur prior to attending the first training
course.

The Group recognises revenue at a point in time
when the services have been delivered to the
customer. A contract liability is recognised for
fees in respect of which revenue has yet been
recognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price). (Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

(ii)

Provision of training courses (Continued)
Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one
performance obligations, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the services
underlying each performance obligation is
determined at contract inception. It represents the
price at which the Group would sell a promised
services separately to a customer. If a stand-alone
selling price is not directly observable, the Group
estimates it using appropriate techniques such
that the transaction price ultimately allocated to
any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the promised
services to the customer.

Revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation in training
courses are measured based on output method,
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price). (Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Rental income from leasing of properties

Rental income receivable from leasing of properties
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use
of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are earned.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under
the effective interest method using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e.
gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of
the asset.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established. Dividend income from
listed investments is recognised when the share
price of the investment goes ex-dividend.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Contracts with multiple performance

obligations (including allocation of
transaction price). (Continued)
Principal versus agent (Continued)

(vi)  Income from financial guarantees issued

Income from financial guarantees issued is
recognised over the term of the guarantees.

(vii)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised
consolidated statements of financial position
initially when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the

expenses are incurred.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 Leases at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are

subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
prices.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of property, plant and equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short- term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 TEEFHEE ®)

Leases (Continued) HE &)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) FKEFERFRBEA (&)
Right-of-use assets EHELSE

The cost of right-of-use asset includes: EREEENK AR -

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant
and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of- use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use

assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease

payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date
at amounts equal to net investments in the leases,
measured using the interest rate implicit in the respective
leases. Interest income is allocated to accounting periods
S0 as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the

leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or l0ss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 5”) to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
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94

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
entities are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

On disposal of a group entity that is not a foreign
operation, the exchange differences accumulated in
equity relating to translation of assets and liabilities of
that group entity into presentation currency of the Group
are transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the year in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
PRC state-managed retirement benefits schemes are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=F=RA=+—HILFE

96

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date
of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’'s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HGREHMBHBREINEREERTIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 TEEFHEE ®)
Taxation (Continued) BiE (&)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable BEBIEB ERERERWE A A
temporary differences associated with investments in EHZERTERZRER MR
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control SRR AR B e R R E
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable BN KATRE R AT R 2R B Bl 2 155 Al
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the Brop o BRRZ SR E MRS 2 r] T E b
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from ERMEAZEERIEEEER A8
deductible temporary differences associated with such RAERT SR ] A e R =
investments are only recognised to the extent that it 2 Fzs B TEFTHY A S8 2 A] DA S [B] AR
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits R o

against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed RIEBIHE E 2 REERS RS R
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the TEHRET - WA ATRET BB R HFER
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable Bl M AW B 2 E B OZIBEEEZ
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 1EA TR -

to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the RERIBEEERABNREREESR
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in EEABEZHANMER EARE
which the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based BEREHAREERIABR BB
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or BE (RBUE) 5tE -

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities REBEEERBEZ A ERBIZE
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the REEBEHRREERATKESEE
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the HEERARBRZERESXNFEMS
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount B2 BRIBER -

of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or 10ss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods, or
for administrative purposes (other than construction
in progress as described below) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment (other than
construction in progress) less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE-_ZT—
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=F=ZA=+—HLFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
The items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following
rates per annum:

Furniture and
equipment
Office equipment

20% per annum

20% - 33% per annum

Leasehold Over the remaining term of the
improvements lease or 5 years, whichever is
shorter

Motor vehicles 20% - 33% per annum
Leasehold properties Over the unexpired term of the
leased for own use leases

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives of
50 years and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or 0ss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE-_ZT—

=F=ZA=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses,
being their fair value at the date of the revaluation
less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of five years. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

1 02 Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and
intangible assets, other than goodwiill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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104

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and
intangible assets, other than goodwiill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or l0ss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include: (a) cash, which
comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory
restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting
the definition of cash; and (b) cash equivalents, which
comprises of short-term (generally with original maturity
of three months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to
third party contractual restrictions are included as part
of cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance
no longer meeting the definition of cash.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEUBBRNBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 TEEFHEE ®)

108

Financial instruments (Continued) SWMIE (&)
Financial assets THEE
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial TREEMSHERAEE

assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;

e O ere0 B 2 ALk P 0
P -

o NUBANRTRERENZ
EBRATHEZEREE

and 54

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates o AHERNIETABELEZE
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal EREARASINAE RAKE
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. BAREZHE

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and

HAERTRENEREERRIZDF
BEFFAREMEERA (HRAFEFA
H2EBAL FHE

o NHERKBANRERER
BRZEBEATHAEZER

collecting contractual cash flows; and BE &

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates e AHKHRETAMELZE
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal EREARASINAE RAKRE
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. BAREZHE -

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that
at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEUBBRNEREERTIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRIA &)
Financial assets (Continued) 2HEE (&)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial TREEMSEREEE (B)
assets (Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if: ETIERT  SRMEERFBIEE
=
. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of e BAZFEEMANEHAL
selling in the near term; or =
e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of o RYUITHERE HRAKEHK
identified financial instruments that the Group EERzE#HNemTAAS
manages together and has a recent actual pattern Z—89n  WEBRIERE
of short-term profit-taking; or HERER 3k
. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective e BRIWEEMN - AMEHI
as a hedging instrument. HEMPT4ATA -
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a AN - AREE AN AIEE M E — IR
financial asset that are required to be measured at the BIREHAA SR A FEFAELME
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing AR EMNEREERATEEA
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting Bt - AR ABBIETRERK
mismatch. KIEm et o
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

0]

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired. For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the other reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to accumulated profits/losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i)~ Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains
and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, deposits and bank
balances, which are subject to impairment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables and measures the lifetime ECL on each
debtor individually based on the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group under the contract and the cashflows
that the Group expects to receive, with the consideration
of forward-looking information.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both gquantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group).

Also, the Group considers that default has occurred when
the instrument is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

o Significant financial difficulty of the issuer of the
borrower; or

o A breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

o The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

o It is becoming probably that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been
placed under liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
when appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount with the exception of trade receivables
where the correspondence adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognised a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets
expire or, when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangement
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
iSsue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities including trade and
other payables and bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Related parties

(i A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;

(2)  has significant influence over the Group;

(3) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HGREHMBHBREINEREERTIES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 TEEFHEE ®)
Related parties (Continued) BES (&)
(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the (il BARATEABAERESER

following conditions applies: B 5 [ A

(1) The entity and the group are members of the (1) ZERBEREEER—
same group (which means that each parent, B8 (AIZERAA
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to by NS DS ER =N
the others). EEFA )

(2) One entity is an associate or joint venture 2 E-EBRS>EBHNH
of the other entity (or an associate or joint ERAHEERE (HA
venture of a member of a group of which the S—ERBBREATNE
other entity is a member). El)i =N A= WS D) kN

Al A ERE) -

(3) Both entities are joint ventures of the same Q) MEERBHARFR—2=H
third party. ZEEREE .

(4) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity @4 HE-EBRE=SEEN
and the other entity is an associate of the aRtE mME—EER
third entity. ZE—TBEBZEER

E—J °

(5)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan (5) HERAASENEASE
for the benefit of employees of either the EE#EEERMEEN
Group or an entity related to the Group. % 2R N 2 BB 12 AE A BT

£

(6)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by ) ZEBX Lz A
a person identified in (i) above. AR 2 HRIE R o

(7) A person identified in (i)(1) above has 7) Rz AT
significant influence over the entity or is a REREEAZENSE
member of the key management personnel ZER (NZEEBNER
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). B) FEEEEKE -

(8) The entity, or any member of a Group of @) “ERNZERLSHS—
which it is a part, provides key management B2 SBAEAKE R A
personnel services to the group or to the AREBENAEELT QT
Group's parent. REFEERABRY -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEVBBRNGBREERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT sTBUR (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3.3 FEEHEX @)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Ccompany’s executive directors (i.e. the chief operating
decision maker of the Group) for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group's various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.
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122

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgement, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)
The Group engages in retailing and wholesaling of garment
products. The Group concluded that the Group acts as the
principal for such transactions as it controls the specified
good before it is transferred to the customer after taking
into consideration indicators such as the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the goods.
The Group has inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the
performance obligation, the Group recognises trading revenue
in the gross amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled as specified in the contracts.

Details of the Group's revenue relating to retailing and
wholesaling of garment products are set out in note 5 (a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or
fair value less costs of disposal of each of the cash-generating
units.

The value in use calculations require the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change
in facts and circumstances which results in downward revision
of future cash flows or upward revision of discount rate, a
material impairment loss or further impairment loss may arise.
Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and discount rate are
subject to higher degree of estimation uncertainties.

Based on the impairment assessment of the Company,
impairment loss of HK$7,389,000 was recognised for the year
ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill was
approximately HK$177,764,000 (2022: HK$175,070,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment allowances of ECL on loan
receivables

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9
across all categories of financial assets requires judgement, in
particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future
cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment
losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors,
changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.

The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models
with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice
of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the
ECL models that are considered accounting judgement and
estimates include:

° The Group's internal credit grading model, which assigns
probabilities of default to the individual grades;

. The Group's criteria for assessing if there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL
basis and the qualitative assessment;

° The segmentation of financial assets based on risk
characteristics of the customers and by product types
when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis;

° Development of ECL models, including the various
formulas and the choice of inputs over determination of
the period over which the entity is exposed to credit risk
based on the behavioural life of the credit exposures,
loss given default and collateral recovery of the credit
exposures;

° Determination of associations between macroeconomic
scenarios and, economic inputs, and the effect on
probabilities of default, exposures at default and losses
given default; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(Continued)

Impairment allowances of ECL on loan

receivables (Continued)

° Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios
and their probability weightings, to derive the economic
inputs into the ECL models.

It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models
in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's loan receivables are
disclosed in note 41 (B)(b)(i) and note 23, respectively.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of loan receivables,
net of allowance of ECL was HK$43,217,000 (2022:
HK$42,123,000).

Impairment allowances of ECL on trade
receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses
provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables
which are individually insignificant. The provision matrix is
based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables
are disclosed in note 41 (B)(b)(iii) and note 22, respectively.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of trade receivables,
net of allowance of ECL was HK$5,974,000 (2022: HK$2,019,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at costs less
accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash
flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the assets belong. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used
in the impairment test.

Based on the impairment assessment of the Company, no
impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31
March 2022 and 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment was HK$35,503,000 (2022: HK$34,649,000).

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2023

AEETTHE R A TRERRE 2
ERRIR (4)

At T RERZEEZRIR (2)
M2 - BERRBOMGEIRE

ME - BB MR BB R E RRE
(E) 3k - REEEERGRER &
SEBER R R b - LEBRE (1)
ERBER T EEEBENS R
R QEENEREEERSEDERERE (B
REFBEREEGTNRRRSREZR
EFFE) MR 2 RS - RE)EETATIR
CSBERAEANEE T 2RE - 2R
MERRMEEMIRE - BEAGFEEE
E(BREAEEE) MR KOSEE - K
SEGEZEEMBHRSENFETAATK
CE%8 - WRR LG AMEE (BERE
METERFAAEIRESIEREK) - ATBELIR
BERRMAREFRELEATE

BREAABNRENS  BE_T-_—FR
TR =F = A=t R FE IR
B

MN-BE-=%=A=+—H 9% HEK
%1% 7 BRE {8 /435,503,000 7T (— 2 - —
£ 1 34,649,000 7T) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated useful lives and estimated residual
values of property, plant and equipment and
investment properties

In determining the estimated useful lives and estimated
residual values of items of property, plant and equipment
and investment properties, the Group has to consider various
factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence arising
from changes or improvements in production, or from a change
in the market demand for the product or service output of
the asset, expected usage of the asset, expected physical
wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the asset, and
legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The estimation
of the useful life of the asset is based on the experience of
the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way.
Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives
and/or the residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment and investment properties are different from the
previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at the end of the reporting period based on changes
in circumstances.
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5.

128

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(@) Revenue
Revenue from contracts with customers represents the
fair value of amounts received and receivable from the
manufacturing and sales of OEM garment products,
provision of financial quotient and investment education
courses and private supplementary education courses
and interest income from loan receivables.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by major products or service lines from Continuing
Operations (as defined below) is as follows:

5.

Wz Ko ERE R
(@ W=

BB IR S B R E R
BRBREES - RHME - RES
B iR RAL U BBV AE RIZ 2 B IR
MR R E A BIRA 2
FHE -

REFELEEB (BERRTO &
TEEMIRERESTNES ALK
HAOFWMAT

2022
ToF

HK$°000
TR

Revenue from contracts with
customers within the scope of HKFRS
15:

— Provision of financial quotient and
investment education courses

— Provision of private supplementary
education courses

HEBBMBREENF 155

HENTLEME

— R RREHRERIE
161,726 97,567
— MU HBH B RIZ

70,388 13,983

— Retailing and wholesaling of

— AKHEBAmE R EER

garment products under the KEmEREERTE R
Group's own brand and high-end Hb 2
fashion brand 860
— Manufacturing and sales of OEM — BEERHERBRERE
garment products AR Em 800
233,774 111,860
Revenue from other sources: REEMRRZ W

— Interest income from loan
receivables

- Rental income from leasing of
properties

— R EFRZFBWA
—HEMEZASRA

237,253 115,088
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
(a) Revenue (continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period from
Continuing Operations that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included

in contract liabilities at the beginning U A

of the reporting period:

— Provision of financial quotient -~ REFEREERE
and investment education and VAR LS S Bh 2 B iR 12
private supplementary education (Hi#E28)

courses (hote 28)

RBERVEIARWABZE

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

Wk o EBER ()

(@) W& (&)
TRARABRBESBHYFTAGHEE
WA RS B R R B Al B &
EB2WADEE

24,994 29,808

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue
from its major products and services from Continuing
Operations:

Revenue from its major products and

services:
— Tuition fee from financial quotient

and investment education courses HES
— Tuition fee from private

supplementary education courses =2E

- Garment products — REEmM

— Interest income from loan receivables — fEUE R E U A

- Rental income —HslA

e £ BE R RIS K ¢
kA IR ARE B
AR BRI B2

TREFIREFELLEER 2 TEE
an M RIS AN SR B S D AT

HK$'000
T

161,726 97,567

70,388
1,660
3,479

237,253 115,088

All sales contracts with customers within the scope of
HKFRS 15 are for periods of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these
contracts for the remaining unsatisfied performance
obligations is not disclosed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, total amounts
of interest income on financial assets measured at
amortised cost from Continuing Operations are as
follows:

(a)

(b)

Interest income from:
- Loan receivables
— Others

FBWAKE :
— EUER
— Hith

5.

Wss & o EBE R ()

(a)

Segment information

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which
are organised by business lines (products and services).
The operating segments of the Group are identified in a
manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Company’s executive directors
(i.e. the chief operating decision maker, “CODM") for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

As explained in note 12, on 30 August 2021, the
Company disposed of its entire equity interest in Hung
Lee Asia Trading Limited (“Hung Lee"), which was mainly
engaged in the wholesaling of seafood. Subseguent to
the disposal of Hung Lee, the Group has ceased and
terminated its “Wholesaling Business: wholesaling of
seafood” business, which was a separate operating
segment and reportable segment of the Group and thus
this business segment was classified as discontinued
operation (the “Discontinued Operation”) and their net
results for the year and the comparatives financial
information are excluded from the Continuing Operations
and are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as a
separate as one-line item below “profit for the year from
Continuing Operations” during the year ended 31 March
2022. Further details of financial information of the
Discontinued Operation are set out in note 12.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(b) Segment information (continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
commenced into a new business line relating to the
Private Supplementary Education Business which has
been identified as a new business Private Supplementary
Education Business of the Group. Thus, during the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Company has
presented the following six reportable and operating
segments (the “Continuing Operations”) under HKFRS 8:

() OEM Business: Manufacturing and sales of OEM
garment products;

(i)  Retail Business: Retailing and wholesaling of
garment products under the Group’s own brand
and high-end fashion brand;

(i)~ Money Lending Business: Provision of loan services
to generate interest income,

(iv) Financial Quotient and Investment Education
Business: Provision of financial quotient and
investment education courses;

(v)  Property Investment Business: Investing in
properties in Asia Pacific region to generate rental
income and to gain from the appreciation in the
properties’ values in the long term; and

(vi) Private Supplementary Education Business:
Provision of private supplementary education
courses.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form
the following reportable segments.
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5.

132

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
(b) Segment information (continued)

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and

allocating resources between segments, the Company's
executive directors monitor the results attributable to
each reportable segment on the following basis:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments.

Segment results represents pre-tax profit earned/loss
incurred from each segment without allocation of other
income, other gains and losses, net, certain corporate
administrative expenses, share of results of associates,
certain impairment losses and central finance costs. This
is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker of the Group for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

Segments assets include all tangible and intangible
assets and current assets with the exception of goodwill,
investments in financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include provisions, lease liabilities and trade and other
payables attributable to the activities of the individual
segments and borrowings managed directly by the
segments.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment profit/(loss), the Company’s executive directors
are provided with segment information concerning
revenue, interest income and expenses from cash
balances and borrowings managed directly by the
segments, depreciation and amortisation, impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment assets
(other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets)
used by the segments in their operations.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group'’s accounting policies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERDIER &)

(Continued)

(b) Segment information (continued) (b) ZEEHR &)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers BHE_Z-_—_FR-_ZF-_=F=H
within the scope of HKFRS 15 by the timing of revenue =+—BLEFE - B =EERREEE
recognition, as well as information regarding the Group’s DHEE BT BV BHREREAE1558
reportable segments as provided to the Group’s executive BNEFEHORESTF - ARREIR
directors for the purposes of resources allocation and Dl REHE D EBREB M AEERITE
assessment of segment performance for the years ended FIREBEFAEE R 2D M E R
31 March 2022 and 2023 is set out below: T

Financial
Quotient and Private
Money  Investment Property  Supplementary
OEM Retail ~ lending  Education Investment Education
Business  Business  Business Business Business Business  Unallocated Total

Fif HERAR LS ENE D)
RExR  RERE MERR 4RRR RERR $ERH B i
HKS'000  HK§'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
i Tin Tir i Tir Tin Tir i

Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZEIZE
ZAZ1-ALEE

From Continuing Operations;  RE&@SeLs

Reportable segment revenue: ~ T2HABUE

Disaggregated by fiming Of revenue  REAWEEREE

recognition

- Point in fime -RE-BEY - 161,726 ) 23,774

- Revente from other sources - AfrEkE } - 3479
Revenue from extemal customers RS SZ BRI 860 } 161,726 70,388 237,253
Reportable segment profit/floss) T2H28%R / (58) (69) : 39,500 6,975 (6177) 42,001
Other income EA 2,594
Other gains and loses, et hhEREEeE 74
Impaiment losses under expected  EEGEFETHREER

Credit losses, net of reversal kEm (1,803)
Consolidated proft before tavation &z AB AR 43,366

BEHESEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T_=F=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. RBERDEER (&)
(Continued)

(b) Segment information (continued) (b) DEER (&)

Financial

Quotient and Private

Money  Investment Property  Supplementary

OEM Retail  Lending  Education  Investment Education
Business  Business  Business Business Business Business  Unallocated Total

it HERRE S FNIE )
BEER  TEER  HEER HEER REXE EES AR 3t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Thn Thn Tin Thn Tin Tin TEn TAn

As at 31 March 2023 HZ8=ZEZf=1-F
Assets i
Reporiable segment assets T2RAYEE (B

(ncluding interests in associates) — RELARHER) f ) | ] h 189,199
Goodwil ke 177,764
Intangble assets EJEE 705
Financial assets at far valug through - AT (&t A8

profitorloss fHEE 11,930
Consolidated tofal assefs BALELE 379,598
Liabilities 1|
Reportable segment liabilties BEE GRS ) b 14,644

Other payable for acquistionof ~— BKBAREERSE

Subsidares 43,04
Consolidated total liabltes GABEEE 127,180
As at and year ended Ho8ZZ§zf=1-§

31 March 2023 REZHEILEE

Other segment information &4 3558
Addiions tonon-Curent assets  ERFEERGEE

uring the year
Depreciation for the year ERiE
Amortisation for the year Epgs
Finance costs il
Interest income from banks BiHEsA
Impaiment losses under expected  EEGEFETHREEE
creaft osses, net of reversal ke
Writen back long outstanding trade.  #EREXEE25R
and other payables EHERTE
* Less than HK$1,000. * 1,000 7T

1 3 4 Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(b) Segment information (continued)

5.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

Wk o EBER ()

(b) ZEER (a)

Financial
Quotient and Private
Money Investment  Property  Supplementary
OEM Retail ~ lending  Education Investment Education
Business  Business  Busingss  Busingss  Busingss Business  Unallocated Total
Fiife ‘ HBRRE S Hugs
HEXE  SEEE  HERR HEEE REEE HEEE F o) it
HKS'000  HK§'000  HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000
T Thn ThL T Thn Thn ThL T
Year ended 31 March 2022 o o
:i_f'ﬁﬁif
From Continuing Operations, ~ RERELELE:
Reportable segment revenue,  W2EHMNE
Disaggregated by timing of revenue  REANHERHE
recognition
- Point intime -NE-BRY - 30 - 97,567 - 13983 - 111860
- Revenle from other Sources - BBl - - 28% - g4Y - - 38
Revene from extermal customers — RENIESHNE 4 30 28% 97,567 k48 13983 - 115,088
Reportahle segment profit/(loss) T2HABEH /(&) -+ 78) 2161 » (930) (6,20 (879 31464
Other income 174
Hther gains and losses, net (1,942)
Impairment 0sses under expected
Crecitlosses, net of reversal 681
Consolicatedt proft before tavation & RAATEH 31,948
As at 31 March 2022 \:S::#' =f=t-f
Assets
Reportable segment assets
(including nterests n associate) - 5930 1633 10519 18 018 19,784 191426
Gooawil (restated) 17500
Intangible asses restated) 900
Financial assets at fair value through
rofitor loss 193
Consolidated tofal asses TREEER 393%9
Liabilities 8
Reportable segment liabilities BEmEI:H -+ I %o 4549 - 09171 14,731 80,687

Her payable for acquisition of
Subsiciaries

Consolicated total iabiltes

WEHBLAE LR

RRREAR

36,58

17212
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_Z_=F=RA=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERoIER (&)
(Continued)
(b) Segment information (continued) (b) DEBEH ()

Financial
Quotient and Private
Mongy  Investment Property  Supplementary
OEM Retail ~ lending  Education Investment Education
Busingss  Business  Busingss Business Business Business  Unallocated Total

Ff fERRE kS ENE L)
HERR  RERE MERE  4ERR RERR YERH vl it
HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
i Tin Tin i Tin Tin i Tin

As at and year ended HoE=ZfzZf=t-f

31 March 2022 REZZALEE
Other segment information B2 5ER
Addftons to non-Current FRREERgLE

assets during the year - - 14 1745 - B8 245% 7133
Depreciaton for the year ERiE - i 1 78 - 4051 2805 169
Amortisation for the year Epgs - - - 7 - - - 7
Finance costs TT%M - - 4 % 71 97 1M 228
Loan receivables writen off &5 - - 1976 - - - - 1976
Deposits and other receivables

written off - - - 148 - - K] 061
Interest income from banks - - - (1) - - - 1
Impairment 0sses under expected

crecitlosses, net of reversal - - 8 (750) - - - - (681)
Recovery of trade and other Ms%ﬁ«t% B

receivables - - - - - - (116) (16)

Written back long outstanding trace HE & E#EEES

and offer payables EWWE - - (365) 719 - - (3304) (4,387)
* Less than HK$1,000. * 1,000 7T
Geographical information HEER
The Group principally operates in Hong Kong, also the AEEBFERES (MABEH) &
place of domicile. During the years ended 31 March BEF BE_ZT-_=FR-FT_—
2023 and 2022, all revenue from Continuing Operations F=ZRA=+—HLEFE RBEEFK
was derived from Hong Kong based on the location of Frigtt RIS RO ES - R E R
the customers and services delivered and the Group's FIBREEREERE  MAKEH I
non-current assets are all mainly located in Hong Kong. MBEEHFEMNEE -
Information about major customers FRXEEFZER
There is no single customer contributed to 10% or more FRITEE -FFPERMBEREARAEE
revenue to the Group's revenue for the year. Wz 10%8 LA _E o

1 3 6 Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

OTHER INCOME 6. HfgA
Other income from Continuing Operations is as follows: REAFELEEBHEAMBALT

HK$'000
TAT

Rental income from course center FEFROES A
Interest income from amounts due from  FEYESEZHXIEH R 2 YA
directors

Bank interest income RITHBMA

Dividend income from financial assets at  #Z AT EFABEN SR EED
FVTPL &% BUg A

Government subsidy (note below) BRATHAE (2 T xXHiaE)

Sundry income HIERA

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, government subsidy has

been received from Hong Kong Employee Support Scheme under
the Anti-epidemic Fund to support the eligible employers for
paying wages of employees from May to July 2022. Employers
are required to undertake and warrant that they will not
implement redundancies during the subsidy period and spend
all the wage subsidies on paying wages to their employees.
As at 31 March 2023, there were no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to this subsidy.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, government subsidy has
been received from Hong Kong Reimbursement of Maternity
Leave Pay Scheme to reimburse the maternity leave pay of the
11th to 14th weeks' maternity leave that has been paid to the
employee under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. As at 31
March 2022, there are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies
relating to this subsidy.

et  BE-_ZT-_=—F=-A=1+—HIFE B

BB REENEES THEEREES
BT EITRES  UXHAEREEIN=
T _FHAZCAMEBIEL - EXA
AEVRERNEDHHEB TSRS
WEMBETAMARSIHNEIH & - R
ZE-=F=ZRA=+—H REHHIE
RIEP 2 IEIF A S -

REE-_ZTZ-_—_F=ZA=1+—HBIFE "
PR M E R EBERRMHEAEIRES
LHEREESERKHIC N FEEDN
ENZAREBRNEREH R=-2F==
F=ZA=+—A REMHITEREKZ
A E -

EERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7.
Other gains and losses, net from Continuing Operations is as

follows:

Changes in fair value of financial assets
at FVTPL

Gain/(losses) on disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL

Impairment of goodwill

Loan receivables written off

Deposit and other receivables written off

Written back long outstanding trade and
other payables

Recovery of trade and other receivables
written off in previous years

H W as 2 B 18 F 4R

T

2023

—F—=

—Eir—==

HK$'000
FERT

BAFEFABRENEREE

ZRFEE 7,709
HERQFEFABRENEH

BE2 W/ (ER) 274
EERE (7,389)

12 N ELh R WO IR M 8H (80)

MERAREEE S REMBE
508 60

WEIR BT EME 2 85 M
H it fE M RIR

K EF B E B E i as & BB F LN

8. FINANCE COSTS 8.
Finance costs from Continuing Operations is as follows:

S % AR
B RS E BN BT

2022

—E -
HK$'000
FETT

Interest on bank and other borrowings
(note 42)

Interest on promissory note payables
(note 42)

Interest on lease liabilities (note 42)

Imputed interest on other payables

RITREAMEENE (FiE42)
A ESRERNE (Bata2)

REEEMNE (HiFd2)
E AL SRR B S

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES 9. FBFHBAX
Income tax expenses from Continuing Operations represents: RABELEER ZFSTALE -

HK$'000
TAT

Hong Kong Profits Tax HENISH
- Current year —EBRFEE

- Under-provision/(over-provision) in - BAEFERETR
prior years (EBZERE)

Deferred tax RIETIE

— Current year —RFE
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated BB NGB Z M EF F (5T E R TR M &
assessable profit for both years. 16.5%=1 & °
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong BIBEEBFEHAEMRS  cEREEE
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying B2 19 852,000,000/ JT i F1/3%8.25% K it = 124
group entity are taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million i 882,000,000/ 7T 2 i 12 16.5%HY
are taxed at 16.5%. The profits of Group entities not qualifying HEHW - AEENERBEEMBHNE
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime continue to be taxed (5] B8 A i ) 48 48 1 1) TE R 16.5% =
at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax FHit - & EREEERNBESFEH IR
of the qualifying Group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first H2,000,0007%8 7T 2 i 5t & AR T F) 698.25%
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% 1% 8 82,000,000/ 7T 2 1l 51 & 2R ¢ 4 A1) &Y
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. 16.5%#HE ©
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands REASHEREBREXZEHS ([REBRLX
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Group is not subject to BB ZHRAIKAG - REEEAD RN
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI, respectively. FEHE MIRBRIBSHNTAAET -

EERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation from Continuing Operations per the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as follows:

Profit before taxation from Continuing
Operations

KB FHEREEERB G

FrEBiRmx= (&)

FRTIE S H A AR & 1B 5 R A 2 E W
RANKBFHEREET 2 BB DR SR
T

(restated)
(&&=751))

43,366

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of
16.5% or 8.25%
Tax effect of:

SHEZHIA

- Income not taxable for tax purpose — HARBIA

- Expenses not deductible for tax — PRANFLF 2
purpose

- Effect on other temporary differences — AEREMEREE L
not recognised

— Utilisation of tax losses — BEARIEERE

- Tax losses not recognised — RERIEEE

Statutory tax concession SEERIBEE

Under-provision/(over-provision) in prior
years
- Others — Efth

A ISR % 16.5%58.25%

UTBBRZRIBEZE

248
B

PBEFEBBHETR (BEEE)

6,991
(1,964)
2,296
1,392
(1,717)
1,209

(30)

599

Income tax expenses Frisfifs

8,776

1 40 Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_Z_=F=RA=+—HILHFE

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING 10. REFEKEXB ZFNEF

OPERATIONS
Profit for the year from Continuing Operations has been arrived REFBELCEEB 2 FRNEFRER (G
at after charging/(crediting): A) U TBIBEEFESL
2022
HK$'000
AT
Staff costs (including directors’ BIRAK (BIEESEHH
emoluments, see note 11) BHEE11)
- Salaries, wages and other benefits — e ITEREMBEF 25,960
- Performance bonus — RIFBFELT 4,971
- Equity-settled share option expense — RS E B ERS -
— Contributions to defined contribution — EEE TR IRET B R
retirement plans 488
31,419
Auditor's remuneration 1% 25 A 357 B 1,163
Cost of sales and services comprises: SHE R REKABIE
- Sales of garment products —HEREER 265
— Provision of financial quotient, — RHERE - REHERER
investment education courses and FZEBIHERIE - B3
private supplementary education
courses, comprises:
— Staff costs — BIKA 18,999
— Other operating costs — E & Ep A 11,517
30,781
Depreciation of property, plant and YIZ - R REETE (FEATT
equipment (included in administrative %)
expenses) 7,699
Amortisation of intangible assets (include MR &R (Bt ATEE )
in administrative expenses) 75
Impairment losses under expected credit FEEREEE B THIBEEE -
losses, net of reversal R (681)

BEHESEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Emoluments

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s remuneration for the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023, disclosed pursuant
to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z-£-=#

ZH=1-H
IHEE
Executive directors ES
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum ROREA
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin RIRLE

Non-executive director *UTES
Mr. Law Wing Chung i3
Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny HER®FT

Independent non-executive BikHTES

directors
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie FRalgx s
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan ERMEE
Mr. Chung Kwok Pan SRR A
Mr. Ng Chi Ho, Dennis REFHE

Mr. Leung Kai Cheong Kenneth - 2#8 %4

Fees

Notes  HK$'000

TR

100
100
200
(i) 70
(ii) 188

1,510

1 42 Legendary Education Group Limited
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Salaries,
wages
and other
benefits
¢ 1%
REMEF
HK$'000
Thr
(note (vii)
below)
(ifE (vii)
nF)

1. EERFETBRAEMERTER
EFMES

(a) EBRITBEAZMS

IBFEEAGEM LR B R BB R RIE
PR HE T F R =
FZA=T-HLFEESRITHA
HMemT

Equity- Contributions

settled  to defined

share  contribution

Performance option retirement
bonus expense plans Total

NRESEE THRMFKER
RARA WERERX HEEE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AR AT TAR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_T-_=—F=ZA=1+—HIFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1. EERFETHRAEMERERR
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID SHMES ©)
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive's (@) EBRITHERME &)

Emoluments (Continued)

Equity- Contributions
Salaries, settled to defined
wages share  contribution
and other  Performance option retirement
Fees benefits bonus  expense plans Total
H& 1% NREGE  TEHRMAKEK
e REAET RARAL MERERS RE S @zt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#7x T#Ex T#Ex TER TR TR
(note (vii)
below)
( Y E i)
mr)

Year ended 31 March 2022 #Zz=%--%

Zf=+-A
ILHEE
Executive directors UTES
Mr. Lau Chun Kavan el (iv)
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum RIBRLE
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin BUERE
Non-executive director F4TES
Mr. Law Wing Chung BABLE v)
Independent non-executive FusiEs
directors
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie RalE R4
Mr. Ng Chi Ho, Dennis REFHE
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan ERMRE
Mr. Chung Kwok Pan ERmLE ()
Mr. Leung Kai Cheong Kenneth R4 8% 4 (i)

BEHESEERAF
2023 £ 143



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(@) Directors’ and Chief Executive’'s

Emoluments (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Appointed as non-executive director on 13 January 2023

(i) Resigned as an independent non-executive director on 30
November 2022

(i) Appointed as an independent non-executive director on
7 December 2021 and resigned on 13 December 2022

(iv)  Resigned as an executive director on 27 October 2021
(v)  Appointed as non-executive director on 2 June 2021

(vi)  Appointed as an independent non-executive director on
2 June 2021

(vii) ~ Mr. Yuen Yu Sum and Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin are tutors of
training courses of the Financial Quotient and Investment
Education Business and their related tutor fees have been
included in the salaries, wages and other benefits during
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023.

The Chief Executive's and executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries,
if applicable.

The non-executive directors’ and independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, certain directors were
granted share options in respect of their services to the Group
under the share option scheme of the Company. Details of the
share option scheme are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

1 4 4 Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2023

1. EERFETBRAEMERTER
BEFMES (@)

(a) ESRTHAHEME &)

(vi)

(vii)

N_TB_=F—-A+=REZEA
FHITES

KRB ZF+—A=1+AHFEE
SIEHITES

NR-E-_—F+_-_A+HEZEA
BB TEERR T
+ZA+Z=HEHT

W_ZE-—F+A-+LHETH
TES

RZE-_—FNA-_BEZT A
YiTES

N_ZE-—FNA-_BHEZTASE
SIEMITES

ERFRTERRLRAEERBTER
REHBE E£BEIRENER - &
BT CERIFI=ZFZR
=t+—HIEFERE ZEREME
AEFAHS TERHEMER -

EXREBITBRABRATESZHE
TR REER AR A REWB AR (WE
) =2 RBMAS o

EXRRIEITER B IFITESN
e TR ERER AR E SR AR
i ff -

HEZZ-_=F=-A=+—HILFE &
BARARBEREANE STESHESM
AEBIR ARG R IBINAE o BBAERT
B2 FHBERA R A RERMIEESS ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included one (2022: two) director(s), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 11(a) above. Details of
the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2022:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries, wages and other benefits

Performance bonus

Equity-settled share option expense

Retirement benefit scheme
contributions

FIRTELL

11.

o TENMEMET

P At B R A R
RIREFFH B

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

EERTIETRAEMERAEER
EEFMES (@)

(b) EEEESFMES
FR - AEEREEEHNSEERE
— R (CEZZF MR EEH
& FEEEN ECHIFE11() - F R
THG (ZEZZF: =8) e
RS (WIEAAREZHEBITR
AB) BEFMEFENT

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

WHARANEEBFHFMN FUATEHE
M= HES ABIT

2023
—Eq2-=
Number of
individuals

AB

2022

Number of
individuals
A

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,000 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,500,000 to HK$4,000,000
HK$4,500,000 to HK$5,000,000
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000
HK$24,000,000 to HK$24,500,000

1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000/ 7T
2,000,001/ 7L 22,500,000/ 7T
2,500,0007% 7T 2 3,000,000/ 7T
3,500,000/ 7T 24,000,000/ 7T
4,500,000/ 7£ 5,000,000/ 7T
5,500,001/ 7L £6,000,00075 7T
24,000,0007% 7T 224,500,000/ 7T

EERABEEEERAF
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e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_ZT—

11.

12.

146

=HF=ZH=1T—HLFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (Continued)
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company or the chief executive of
the Group or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

None of the directors waived any emoluments during the
year. There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2023.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 30 August 2021, the Company disposed of its entire
equity interest in Hung Lee, which was mainly engaged in
the wholesaling of seafood, to an independent third party for
a consideration of HK$35,000. Subsequent to the disposal of
Hung Lee, the Group ceased and terminated its “Wholesaling
Business: wholesaling of seafood” business segment and thus,
this business segment was classified as Discontinued Operation
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The financial figures regarding Hung Lee during the year ended
31 March 2022 included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income were as follows:

11.

12.

EERFIETRAEMERAEER
BEFMES (@)

hEBRESHMES @)
HE_Z__R_ZF_=F=FH
=+—HLEFE  ARENESH
MTERARRREEIARETET
BABHARRSHHALIER/INA
AEBERINARZ 52E) - SAERRE
BERE -

(b)

FR BESERETAWNE - HE
TR CERB=F=A=+—
ALFEE BEZEEREBTHAS
MERF B RETAFNEO L -

R IEREER

RZBZ—FNA=+H  ARER—%
B E=FHEENER (XE2WEEEI
) M2 A% - AR {EA35,0008 7T I
EBFE - AEECEIERARIEE [HE3Z
% BREE | B0 AZESSH
REBE-_T-_—F=A=+—HILFEHES
BADKIEERR -

HE-Z-_—_F-A=1+—HIFE K&
1B R E b 2 SR BT el A RE F 9 B1 75
HFmr

Loss for the year from Discontinued Operation

KEERERLEXBNFEANER

(1,970)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)
The results of the Discontinued Operation for the years ended
31 March 2022, which have been included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
were as follows:

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE—_Z_-F=A=+—HIFE

CRIEEERE (@)
ERILEEEBREER F=A
SH—RLEFEZEE (B AGAEER
Hip 2 EAER) T -

12.

— = — —

=

Revenue Wz -
Cost of sales SHE R -
Other income HAulg A -
Other gains and losses, net Hth iz R BI85 7R -
Administrative expenses TR -
Loss before taxation BRBL RIS 1B -
Income tax expenses FTiSfi 2 -
Loss for the year FREER -
Loss on disposal of Discontinued Operation HEBRIMHEEER 2 B8

(note 39(b)(i) (B17E39(b)()) (1,970)
Loss for the year from Discontinued Operation RED KIS ZE R FNEE (1,970)

Loss for the year from Discontinued Operation included the
followings:

Staff costs

Auditor’s remuneration

Trade receivable written off

Deposit and other receivable written off

Loss on written of property, plant and equipment

ERIEEEB ZFABEERATEREA

2022
~ HK$'000

TATT

BTIKA -
% By A 57 B -
WEHE 5 E A -

12 N EL A WO IE M
IR - BB MR ZE1R

EERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE-_T-_=F=-A=+—RHLFE
12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 12. BERIEREERE &)
The cash flows of the Discontinued Operation for the year ERIECEEBREBEE_T-__F=A1

ended 31 March 2022, which have been included in the
consolidated statement of cash flow, were as follows:

=t+—RIEFENRERE (B
ERER) W

FFAZAR

Net cash outflows from operating activities
Net cash inflows from investing activities
Net cash inflows from financing activities

BERB RS REFE -
REBBHZRDRAFER -
BMERBIASRANFER -

Net cash outflows

BemHiFR -

13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE
2022
—=E-=
HK$'000
AT
Dividends recognised as distributions FRERD IR ZIRE
during the year:
Interim dividend — Nil (2022: HK$0.0075 RERRE — &
per share) (ZZ==F : §f%0.0075%7T) 13,367
Final dividend — Nil (2022: HK$0.0072 per  KREIfRE — &
share) (Z=E=—%F : §#%0.007277T) 12,881
Net cash outflows WE R FEE 26,248
The Board of directors do not recommend a final dividend for EEeTEEnEE T =F=-A=1+—
the year ended 31 March 2023. AIEFRIRM RS ©
1 4 8 Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BREF
From continuing and discontinued REFERCKRILEEK
operations
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share from RAEHE ANERREIFEM DRI EE
continuing and discontinued operations attributable to owners BE G IRER RS R R TR A T 8IRET
of the Company is based on the following data: C
Earnings figures are calculated as follows: BNBBOETHENT -

HK$'000
FBT

Earnings per share from continuing HREFERCKIEZEEELN
and discontinued operations SRER

Profit for the year from continuing and HEGREADEEEBAY
discontinued operations attributable RAEHEB ABEREFER
to the owners of the Company for the BRI E A& TS B F s A
purpose of basic and diluted loss per
share

Number of shares are calculated as follows: DB BT ELT ¢

(restated)
(&&5&E751)

Number of shares REEE
Weighted average number of ordinary HEGIEANB A

shares in issue for the purpose of basic BT E BRI T8
earnings per share 394,301,665 393,475,911

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary BEENE 2 BT B

shares: e

- Share options — R 3,857,686 N/A 3
Weighted average number of ordinary FrESREERT

shares for the purpose of diluted T RAL NN I B

earnings per share 398,159,351 393,475,911
The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the HE-E-—FR-F-="F=A=+—H
purposes of basic earnings per share for the years ended 31 IEFE - BRERERRBHME /T @R nE
March 2022 and 2023 have been retrospectively adjusted for I EE 5 Bl gk T 7E34(A) K 34(B)(0) ATt K
the September 2022 Bonus Issue and September 2021 Share AEH T _FNAETARLK ===
Consolidation as described and defined in notes 34 (A) and 34 FNARNDEHELBPRAZE -

(B)(C), respectively.

EERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

14.

150

EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

From continuing and discontinued
operations (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the October 2022 Share
Options (as described and defined in note 35) granted by the
Company have potential dilutive effect on the earnings per
share. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding by
the assumption of the exercise of all potential dilutive ordinary
shares arising from exercise October 2022 Share Options
granted by the Company. No adjustment is made to earnings.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2023 does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s March 2021 Share Options (as described and
defined in note 35) because the exercise price of those options
was higher than the average market price of the shares for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2022 does not assume the exercise of the
Company’s 2020 July Share Options (as described and defined
in note 35) and March 2021 Share Options because the exercise
price of those options were higher than the average market
price of the shares for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2023

14.

BRER (#)
REFERCRILEEXE (&)

HE-_Z-_=—F=-A=+—HLEFE &
NEFREZ T~ 1 ARERKE (A
RN EE) HERBMNAFBTEEY
2 - GRS RTIRBRBRITEARA RN
T T ABRRETEmEENTE
BEEETAR  BRARNKTENER
BRI HETE - BEYARFIEL A -

HEZ-=—#=-A=+—HIFENER
EERNNAETEBRRAATN S~
F= AR (BLankT 7E35mT i R RE ) #
118 ARZERRENTEERREZ
T-=F=A=+—BILFEORGFHEH
-

HE-_Z-_—_F=ZA=+—HULFENER
BERNNFETRREARAN T
F+ ABRE G FE3sr it R RE) &
ZE-F=ZABREETE BRZFE
BRENTEERREE-ZS-__F=A
=T —HIEFESNRDFHTRE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

From Continuing Operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share from
Continuing Operations attributable to owners of the Company
is based on the following data:

Earnings figures are calculated as follows:

Operations

Profit for the year attributable to the
owners of the Company for the
purpose of basic and diluted loss per
share

Add: Loss for the year from Discontinued i : 2k B B 4% 484

Operation FNEE

Earnings per share from Continuing REBESLEEKERER

AHHESRERNLEEERAZ
RAEER AR FRER

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

14. BRERF (&)

REFELCERE
AARHEAEAEBEREFELEXZBNER
ERREERN TR T BIEFE

BNMBBOFTEDT

Profit for the year from Continuing
Operations attributable to the owners
of the Company for the purpose of
basic and diluted loss per share

AESREARREEEERAZ
ARAEE ANEIEREIFEL
EEBRFER G

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above
for both basic and diluted loss per share.

From Discontinued Operation

Basic loss per share for the Discontinued Operations for the
year ended 31 March 2022 is HKO0.500 (restated) cents per share
based on the loss for the year from Discontinued Operation of
approximately HK$1,970,000 and the denominators used are
the same as those detailed above for basic earnings per share.

Diluted loss per share for the Discontinued Operations for the
year ended 31 March 2022 is HK0.500 (restated) cents per share
based on the loss for the year from Discontinued Operation
of approximately HK$1,970,000 and the denominators used
are the same as those detailed above for diluted earnings per
share.

No basic and diluted earnings/loss per shares for the
Discontinued Operations for the year ended 31 March 2023
were presented as the Group's earnings/loss for the year
ended 31 March 2023 from Discontinued Operation is nil.

AEERERNEEEERER 2D 88R
(A EXTPREHDY) -

RECKRILREER
HE-ZE-_F-A=+—HILFE B&

IHE & TS B AR BB 18 /30,5008 L (4
B ERERIESEEBORFEEE
#91,970,0007% 7T 2 PR 99 &1 B | SOk AR
ERBFI e E R o

BE_Z-__F-A=-1HLHFE B&

IHE TS FREEEE18 /80.500/8 L (48
B)) - DRBERIEREEB CFRNERE
#11,9700008 LAt H - PIAD B X &
he SarapillsiE=sue=p I

MR AEEBE-T-=#=A=+—HL
EFXEEﬂ¢%%%%Z§ﬂ/%E
T RUESIHE == A=t
B IR RS T SR EA RS
BF /A -

BEHESEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T_=F=A=+—HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y% - BERRE

Furniture and office Leasehold Right-of-use
equipment equipment  improvements  Motor vehicles assets Total
GRER M WARG  EENREE hE fEREEE &3t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Fin Tin Fin Thr Thr Thr
Cost A
At 1 April 2021 AZEZ-ERA-H 204 2074 3630 11% 12,066 19369
Additions T P 131 8479 Rt 17916 73
Disposals tE - ) - - - ")
Acquisition of subsidiaries WiEHgAT
(notes 38(b)() and (i) (KE3800 %) - 187 - - 1389 1576
At 31 March 2022 and RZFZZE=A=1-BR
1 April 2022 “3--EMA-A 1 2851 12109 1499 31371 18257
Additions e 183 101 1,764 36 14,268 16,632
Acquisition of subsidiaries LGN - - 1,100 - - 1,100
Written-off i - - - - (53 (53
At 31 March 2023 HZEZ=F=A=1-H 580 2952 14973 1,845 45,586 65,93
Accumulated depreciation and ZERAE
impairment
At 1 April 2021 RS- -FEA-A - 1582 1210 mn 2319 5950
Charge for the year ERER b u 1,060 626 5715 769
Eliminated on disposals HERHH - ") - - - ]
At 31 March 2022 and R-E-ZEZR=1-HR
1 April 2022 ZECCERA-A 8,094 13,608
Charge for the year ERRR 11,784 16,878
Written-off i (83) (83)
At 31 March 2023 RZBZZF=A=1-A 19,825 30,433
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 March 2023 AZEZZEZA=1-8 25,761 35,503
At 31 March 2022 NEZZF=A=1-H 316 1063 9839 9% B 3,649

Legendary Education Group Limited
U2 e ’
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—RHILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) ~ 15. 1% ~ BERRE (4)

Right-of-use assets - properties, motor FEHEEE - HEFEANYE -
vehicles and yacht leased for own use. FE R ERE

For both years, the Group leases certain properties, motor RREFE AEERHEEEHESTY
vehicles and yacht for its operations. The leases typically run ¥ BRI - BH— KL ABHZES
for an initial period of 2 to 5 years. Leases terms are negotiated F o MEBRFIIRER AR - WHB T
on individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. [EHEFR S G ©

The analysis of right-of-use assets and the related expense BB R ANRRNEEE BN REEE &8
items and cash flow in relation to leases recognised in profit BAAXER RBASRESTIT :

or loss is as follows:

2023

—m—=

—_——

HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT TAT

Right-of-use assets comprise: HHEAEDE

— Leased properties —~HEWE 17,245

- Leased motor vehicles —HEA 1,708

- Leased yacht — HEHER 6,808

25,761

Depreciation for the year: FAE

— Leased properties —fHEwE 10,356

- Leased motor vehicles —-HE"=E 427

— Leased yacht — TS HHE 1,001

11,784

Interest on lease liabilities HEaEF L 902

Expense relating to short-term leases RERERX 3,328

Total cash outflow for leases HERS R LB 11,886

Addition to new lease liabilities g Eas 14,268

The Group's right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight REEWNERREEENER AR AT EXRT

line basis at the following rates per annum. Eo

Motor vehicles 20% — 30% per annum or RE FFE20%E30%IZFHEA
over the term of the leases, (ABREH BZE)
whichever is lower

Yacht 20% — 30% per annum or e BFHF20%Z230%5k 1% 7 51
over the term of the leases, (AEIEEBZE)
whichever is lower

Leasehold properties Over the unexpired term of the HEFEBAMME  fRERES

leased for own use leases =¢7ES

BEHESEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=F=RA=+—HILFE

16.

154

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

16. REYE

HK$'000
THAT

Cost
At 1 April 2021
Disposal during the year

B
R-ZB-—FMA—H 20,000
FALE (20,000)

At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and
31 March 2023

R-ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H —Z-—F
mA—HAE-—E-—=—%®=A=+—H -

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2021

Charge for the year

Eliminated on disposal during the year

AIHITE

R-ZE-—FP@PA—H 6
FRFEX 13
FRHEEHH (19)

At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and
31 March 2023

RZZE-_—F=A=+—H ===
MA—AR=-Z=_=F=A=+—H -

Carrying amounts
At 31 March 2023

SREE
RZZBEZ=F=HA=+—H

At 31 March 2022

RZZE-_—_F=A=+—H -

The Group'’s investment property was a leasehold residential AEENREMEANREBNHEHETEY
property situated in Hong Kong. The investment property was ¥ - WEMEMRIAEEBKE/ OB
located at No. 98, Siu Hang Hau, Clear Water Bay, Sai Kung, 9855 (1£D.D.230#) 0 EX 33958 2 BER ) ©

New Territories (Section B of Lot No. 339 in D.D. 230).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company disposed REZE-_Z-__F=A=1T—HLEFE K
of its entire investment property for a consideration of A B LA {E20,000,0008 ST K EH 2R E
HK$20,000,000. ESE

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BREE
Customer
relationship
BPRAR
HK$'000
FETT
(restated)
(g&=751)
Cost R

At 1 April 2021 R-_ZE=-—FMA—H -
Acquisitions of subsidiaries (notes 38 (b)) and (i)  UREEFI B T (ATa£38(b)().2%(11)) 4,975

Adjustment to the fair value of net assets of HESKIRIRBR A RVFEER TED
Brilliant Ever Global Limited (note 3.2) AR (B7£3.2) (4,000)

At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 W—Z-——F#=HA=+—H  —T-_4F

WA—BE-ZE-_=%=A=+—H 975
Accumulated depreciation e
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—FIPA—H -
Charge for the year FRAX 75
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZIZBE-_—_F=A=+—HK

—E-—FNA—H 75
Charge for the year FARRZ 195
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=HA=+—H 270
Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=F=ZA=+—H 705
At 31 March 2022 (restated) RZB-—F=A=+—R8 (B&E%) 900
The customer relationships, which have finite useful lives, were BERFERAFHEFBRINEBE G
acquired in business combinations. g o

EERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

18. GOODWILL

Balance at the beginning of the year FAEER

Acquisitions of the subsidiaries (note 38) WM B A &) (K1:£38)
Adjustment to the fair value of net assets ¥ZE KB AR A AEEE

18. BE

2022

—=— —

=

HK$'000

FHTL
(restated)
(&&=751))

175,070 135,071
10,083 35,999

4,000

(7,389)

of Brilliant Ever Global Limited (note 3.2)  AFAEMFE (F/:23.2)
Less: Impairment B RE
Balance at the end of the year FRERR

177,764 175,070

The Group's goodwill is attributable to the following CGUSs:

- Bewisekid Holdings Limited

- Zone Galaxy Limited

- Prestige Concord Limited

- KC Training Company Limited

- Brilliant Ever Global Limited

- Best Take Global Limited

- Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies Limited

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the cash-generating units in the financial quotient and
investment education business of the Group for impairment
testing purposes.

With reference to a valuation performed by an independent
professional valuer, the directors of the Company assessed the
impairment of the Group’s goodwill. The recoverable amounts
of the financial quotient and investment education business
cash-generating units have been determined based on value in
use calculations using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period are ranging 22% to 38%
(2022: 16% - 36%). The growth rate is 2% for both year ended
2023 and 2022, approved by senior management of the Group.

1 5 6 Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2023

FEENHERBNATRSEE B

—  Bewisekid Holdings Limited
—  Zone Galaxy Limited

—  Prestige Concord Limited

—  KC Training Company Limited
- FKRHERAR

—  Best Take Global Limited

- BEEREXZRBERAQF

AR R ERR
BREBANESOHESRTHERAE
IR A A EH IR S B A BT A GURE R

& o

B EB N BEGLEMETHHE  AQF
EFTMEAEEBRENRE - TRKEER
BEBHSEE BN TIRESEIRER
ENFH Y BEERBARSREER (O
F22%ZE38% (=B = —4F : 16%ZE36%)) &
FREBNENEE - EASESREEE
E BE_ZT_—FR_T__FItFE
B3 R R 15 52% o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
The following sets out the key assumptions for the value-
in-use calculation of the cash-generating units for goodwill
impairment assessments:

o The discount rates ranging from 22% to 38% (2022: 16%
— 36%) are used: The discount rates applied to the cash
flow projections and the long-term growth rates used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the cash-generating units
beyond the five-year period are shown above.

° The average growth rates ranging from 2% (2022: 2%)
are used: These growth rates were determined and are
based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and do
not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant industry.

There were other assumptions used in the value in use
calculations of the cash-generating units as at 31 March 2022
and 2023. The following describes each of these others key
assumptions on which management has based its cash flow
projections when undertaking impairment testing of goodwill:

° Projected revenue and budgeted gross margins: The basis
used to determine the values assigned to the projected
revenue and budgeted gross margins is based on the
past performance of the cash-generating units and
management’s expectations for the market development.

° The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the respective cash-generating units.

18.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

BE %)

BERENR @)

TXEHP R AT R S E R B
EREENEE[RR

o FTERZBERENTF2%E38% (—ZF
ZF 1 16%236%)  ARRERE
B8] 2 BE 3R R [ AR BB L HP
BReELENZESREZ REE
RERHER EX -

. FRERHTHEEENF% (T
— o 2%) R RE YR
BT RRAEE - AT BiBIAN
TR R RE -

HER - T —FR-T-=F=A=t—
A2 R B R AR ERA T LB
® - TXHLEEEARTERREE
FERETETR & B TR 0P  Eo BR A
B

o  TERHRARFREERNE : EEBEFK
ARBEENEEENEETIENIE
TEABUNBERRENEEEEHM
HRRATER -

o FIEMMITIRERRTA 2 BEL R
PR IR S E A B AR ER

(G o
AA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

18. GOODWILL (continued) 18. &€ (®)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) BEREANE (®)

According to the audited results of Brilliant Ever Global Limited BEZEXRIBRAREE-_S=_=F=A
for the year ended 31 March 2023, though the profit of Brilliant ST HIFEZEERESR  BEEK
Ever Global Limited met the profit guarantee of HK$5,000,000 IRIRA PR A A2 0 M N3 B0 MR EE
for the year, in view of the keen competition of the financial 5,000,000/ 7T - ERFARNE R RIKZE
quotient and investment sharing courses market in Hong Kong HEREMSHEFAZ - ZA7EE kERk
during the year, the overall performance of the company for TEEENER 7 BERBERENBARES
the project revenue and budgeted gross margins were lower R Bt - BEBEASEESENIRFERA
than there previous projected and budgeted amount and thus, R FERERENR  FXIRKER AT
based on the Group’s annual goodwill impairment test for REELESEN 2] RESBENERAE -
Brilliant Ever Global Limited, the recoverable amount of the it - R E A5 187,389,000 T B R F 1B
Brilliant Ever Global Limited CGU was lower than its carrying TR S AR ©

amount and accordingly, impairment loss of HK$7,389,000 was
recognised and charged to the profit or loss for the year.

As at 31 March 2023, based on the Group’s annual goodwill RZZEZ=F=A=+—H RBEBEAEEE
impairment tests for the other CGUS, no impairment was IR EeEEEVNFEENERENR - &R
recognised for the goodwill related to other CGUs since their HEIRSEASBMMIKESERNEERD
recoverable amounts were higher than their carrying values. B W ESEMReEEBMNEERER
A ©

During the year ended 31 March 2022, based on the Group's HE-_Z-_—_F=A=+—HLFE BE
annual goodwill impairment tests, the management of the FEENFERERENR  FNEEERE
Group determines that there is no impairment on the cash- ErTReELBMIERE -

generating units.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change FIREEE AW ERENEEN e E
in any of the above mentioned assumptions would not cause Hre8yReEEENMNRARERLDE
the aggregate carrying amounts of the cash-generating units SEAEBMEAEIEHE

to exceed the respective recoverable amounts of the cash-
generating units.

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. REFE N BV
2023 2022

—— = —R==

—_—=—— —= =

HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi# T

Cost of investment in associates NN OE = J i 472,387 472,388
Share of post-acquisition profits less DMEEE R TFUER

losses and other comprehensive wAREE R EAEERA
income/(expense) of associates (%) (44,836) (44,837)

427,551 427,551
Less: Impairment B RE (427,551) (427,551)

1 5 8 Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Details of the Group's associates as at 31 March 2022 and 2023
are as follows:

Place of
establishment
and principal
place of

Name of associates operation number of shares

2081 Y
FREXMY

BENTER BERARKROBE

Red 5 Studios, Inc. United States 65,567,709 Common stock of
(“Red 5") US$0.01 each and 10,180,553
Preferred Stock (Series B) of
US$0.01 each
Red 5 Studios, Inc. EH 65,567,709 SR EE0.015% 7T H)
(TRed 5J) B R%10,180,5530% R EE
001E B (BFH)
Quick Capital Limited BVI/Hong Kong 150 ordinary shares of US$1 each

("Quick Capital”)
Quick Capital Limited
([ Quick Capital]) B

Notes:

(@ Red5
On 28 April 2016, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with independent third parties pursuant to which
the Group conditionally agreed to purchase 47.63% of equity
interests in Red 5 Studios, Inc. (“Red 5"), a limited liability
company incorporated in Delaware, the United States of
America.

Red 5 and its subsidiaries were principally engaged in the
development of innovative entertainment software and online
games in the United States of America, Europe, the PRC and
Southeast Asia. The online game called Firefall (“Firefall”) was
the main product developed by Red 5. The acquisition was
completed on 20 June 2016. 226,022,723 shares of the Company
were allotted and issued to vendors in proportion to numbers of
shares sold by each of the vendors. Cost of investment in Red 5
and its subsidiaries was approximately HK$472,388,000, which
represented the fair value of the ordinary shares of the Company
issued, determined using the published bid price available on
20 June 2016.

Fully paid-up share capital and

RBRAHE,/  150REREEIETHLER

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE—_Z_-F=A=+—HIFE

19. REFERNRINERS @)

RZE-—FR-_FE-_=F=ZA=+—8 -
AEBEE QR ZFBUOT ¢

Attributable interest

and proportion of

voting power indirectly Principal

Wit -

(b)

held by the Group
AEEMEFEZEEERR

activities

REELAI FEEK

2023 2022
===

—_—=

o

—_—

47 63% 47.63% Inactive

47.63% 47.63% EEEK

- 33.3% Property investment

- 333% MERE

Red 5

R-T—ANFNA-+N\B  RNREEEE
NEZHIVEE W BULAEBEAK
FRZ# ARed 5 Studios, Inc. ([Red 5] -
MENERA BB M MR ER
AT]) K47 63%RLHE

Red SREKMBRARIEEZERENRER
CBOM - PEIRRE R B AR
B R A8 4R e R B B o A9 4R 2 BkFirefall
([Firefall]) ARed SR T EEH - W
BEER-_ZT—"FNAZTHZEK -
226,022,723 AR B R (0 FER B U5 P
PRELL BIFL B R HITFEE S o Red 5%
E RS A BRI & B AN 49 A472,388,0007%
T BMEZE - RFANAZTHEAHE
BEMETARTREITERRIATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE-_ZT—

=F=ZA=+—HLFE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

160

(a)

(b)

Red 5 (Continued)
The investment in Red 5 was to provide an opportunity for the
Group to diversify its business into online game business.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023, Red 5
continued to be inactive.

Quick Capital

On 9 February 2021, the Group entered into a sales and
purchase agreement with an independent third party pursuant
to which the Group conditionally agreed to purchase 33.33%
of equity interests in Quick Capital Limited (“Quick Capital”), a
limited liability company incorporated in British Virgin Islands, at
a consideration of USD50 (equivalent to HKD390). The acquisition
was completed on 26 February 2021.

Quick Capital is principally engaged in property investment in
Hong Kong. On 16 February 2021, Quick Capital signed a sales
and purchases agreement with an independent third party to
purchase a property located in Hong Kong at a consideration of
HK$18,000,000, the transaction was completed before the year
ended 31 March 2021. The Group provided funds to Quick Capital
to make payment for the transaction, based on the proportion
of shareholdings held by the Group, which has been included in
the amount due from an associate as at 31 March 2022.

On 7 December 2022, the Company disposed of its entire equity
interest in Quick Capital.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

summary of financial information of the
associates

Quick Capital

Summarised financial information of Quick Capital during the
period from 1 April 2022 up to the disposal of the company and
the year ended 31 March 2022, adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:

Legendary Education Group Limited
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19. REERNTNER @)

Bzt - (%)

(@ Red5 (#)
#Red 5ZEE T ARNEBIZES T(EHE
BEE L EBEB IS -

BE-_S-_—GR-_"T-=—F=-A=+—
BILEE » Red BT (ELE -

(b)  Quick Capital

RZBEZ—FZANH  AEER—ZF
VEZHIN—HEEWRE Bt A%
B2 A iEFREUWEEQuick Capital Limited
([Quick Capital] » A X B & & Bf & 71t
R 2 B IR AT 33.33%M% 4 A 1EA50
EL (HEMP0ET) - ZWBER=T
——FZRAZ=F+NH%EK

Quick Capital = ZREBUEMEIRE -
R-—ZFT=-—F=HF+75H ' Quick Capital
BB E=FF —MEERE A
1% X 818,000,000/ T U B — BB AL B 7B
ZHE ZRGTIREE-_T-_—F=A
=+ —HILEFEZRIENK - ERAREEA
AWM - AN E[RQuick Capital
REESUEINZSHIE  WRSEEE
ZEZZF =A==t HREKEE QT
KB o

R-ZE-—F+-A+tH ARAILEH
HQuick Capitalty 2 ZBA%#E -

P8 LiB & R TER & B IS IR SR R
AR

BEQTNMBEMBRE

Quick Capital
ERGHBRERIELHAR - WHRESMB
WA IREEEITEERAQuIck CapitalE=
T ZFMNA—HREENEZ AR BHER
HE T - —H#-A=-+—HI-FENUHK
BRTZEEOT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE_Z_=F=RA=+—HILHFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Quick Capital

19.
Quick Capital

REE QT NER (@)

2023 2022
—EBC_=F —E
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
Non-current assets FERBEE 21,556 19,556
Current assets MENEE 289 316
Non-current liabilities ErRBEE (6,901) (770)
Current liabilities mEAE (15,039) (19,289)
Net liabilities BEFE (95) (187)
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest & BB & A B AT A fEfERS
in the associate £ Al 33%
Group's share of net assets of the associate REBDHBMENREEFE -
Revenue Wz 105
Loss for the year FREE (172)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for ERNEM2EKE /(FX)
the year (172)
Loss and total comprehensive FREBBEZERS (AX) 85
income/(expense) for the year (172)
Group’s share of loss for the year FRAREELEE -
Group’s share of other comprehensive FRAAEESEEMEEMSY
expense for the year -
Dividend received from the associate during  EREWHE A TR E
the year -
Reconciliation of the above summarised B BEREENEZERE
financial information to the carrying amount M RREERAR H, ENEIMER
of the interest in an associate recognised in MEREENEER
these consolidated financial statements:
Net assets of the associate BERREEFE (187)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership RNEBREE QR FTAEER LA
interest in the associate 33.3%
Group's share of net assets of the associate ~ AREEDEHL AR EEFE 62)
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in the  R&EE RSN B 2 RE(E
associate -
E f\E
EﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁA—J -1 61
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

19.

162

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Quick Capital (continuead)

In view of the Group’s share of losses of Quick Capital
exceeded its interest in Quick Capital and thus, the Group
discontinued to share of the losses of Quick Capital for the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Red 5

For Red 5, the company remained inactive during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2023. There is no management
accounts made available to the Group since the business of
Red 5 ceased in 2017 and hence no financial information of
Red 5 was disclosed. In addition, the directors of the Company
consider there is no reversal of impairment required for the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023.

Impairment assessment

In the impairment assessment of the interest in associates,
goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment in associate is not separately recognised. It is
therefore not tested for impairment separately by applying
the requirements for impairment testing on goodwill. Instead,
the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for
impairment as a single asset, by comparing its recoverable
amount, being the higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal, with its carrying amount.

Quick Capital

As at 31 March 2022, the recoverable amount of the Group's
interest in Quick Capital approximates to the carrying amount
and thus, no impairment loss is recognised.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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19.

REE N TRNER (8)

Quick Capital (&)
SRR E 5 EQuick Capital Z E5EHEBE
FQuick Capitalz iz - Eit - AEERE
E_R=FRITF_F=A=+—HIt
FE R 1EDEQuick Capital 2 578 °

Red 5

FiRed 5ME ' ZRAARBET-__FK
TEC=F=A=t+—HIEFENREE -
BZZ—+tFRed SEBKILE - AEET
EAIESHEIERRE - Bt EEFERed 5
ZEATEERL o PLAN - RAREZRREZEZ
T oFRZEF=F=A=1+—HLHFE
RBETTRIEREE o

RERP S

SRR & A R T TR ERT BB - BAK
REERRIMKRENEEE - BoNEE
IR - SO R A EETRE
RIS R AR E M EBETREAH - Bk - 7
EMEHEmEIFAE —BEEETRENR
A ARKEARE SRR (AMEREEN
RAFERBERAZERE) REKEE
HEITHE -

Quick Capital
RZBE-Z—F=ZA=Z+—8 ' A&£ER®
Quick Capital&)Ez=#) Al i [El & FE LR
HE - B RERREEE



19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Impairment assessment (Continuead)

Red 5

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Firefall sever was
shut down in July 2017. Red 5 did not generate any income
subsequently and Red 5 faced serious financial difficulties and
management of Red 5 requested the Company for financial
support to fund the mobile version of Firefall.

The Board of the Company decided not to provide further
funding to Red 5 after deliberations, considering the following
factors:

() The associate is only an investment in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group;

(i) There were no other probable and concrete business plan
in generation of income for Firefall; and

(iiy ~ For the best interests of the Company and its stakeholder,
allocation of resources should be focusing on principal
activities of the Group (i.e. OEM, retail and money lending
business).

The Board passed a resolution on 13 February 2018 concluding
that the Group would not provide further capital injection to
Red 5. As such, the Board decided to provide in full impairment
loss for the interest in Red 5 in prior years.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023, Red 5
remained inactive.

19.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE—_Z_-F=A=+—HIFE
REE XTI ERS (&)
BEF (&)
Red 5

REBEE-_E-N\FZA=Z+—ALEFE"
Firefal R RBE RN S —+E+ AR
Red SB&& AR EAE AU AL KRed SEEGER
EME RS - Red SHBIEEBERA QT
RIS A A B B iRFirefall -

REEEBATERER  ARAEEGRTE
T HFARed SE—FlRRHE S

() BEAREAAERL
AEIIEE

BPBARE

(i) A A RFirefallZE 4 YA B AT 8E &
ERENEBTE &

(i) RTARBREFNENRENZ
BRDEBRAUENRRNEBNEEX
(BIRFBHEE - TEAREER) ©

ExgR T \F_AT=REERZE
REAEE 2ARed SHE—FRHEE -
At - EFEREBEFERRed SHIHE
mAtiREBURERE -

B Fr-_FT-=F=-fA=+—H
IF4JE - Red SIAREE -
BEERSBEEEERAT 163
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_ZT_

20.

21.

164

=HF=ZH=1T—HLFE

EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Unlisted equity investment at fair value
— Wealth Power Group Limited

BRATVENEZIELITRAKRE
— Wealth Power Group Limited

BAVEFAHMEEKREHRE
TH

The amount represented the Group’s 35% equity interests in
Wealth Power Group Limited (“Wealth Power”), an unlisted
company incorporated in BVI. Wealth Power is an investment
holding company indirectly investing in dessert business in the
People’s Republic of China. As the Group did not assign any
management personnel to Wealth Power or participate in any
formulation of financial or operating policies of Wealth Power,
the directors of the Group consider that the Group is not in
a position to exercise significant influence over operations
of Wealth Power, accordingly the investment is not equity
accounted for in accordance with HKAS 28 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures. The results of Wealth Power are
dealt with in profit or l0ss to the extent of dividends received/
receivable from the investment.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company disposed
of its entire equity interest in Wealth Power Group Limited to an
independent third party at a consideration of HK$80,000. The
cumulative fair value loss of HK$21,924,000 was transferred
to accumulated profits upon the disposal of the equity
investments for the year accordingly.

INVENTORIES

Finished goods Bk
Less: Impairment B RE

#Z & F I8 2N & B ®Wealth Power Group

Limited ([Wealth Power] » —fEIREBER A
EEEMAZIAIE LT AR KI35%AAE

Wealth Powerm—fE#R &R A - AfEE
AR E AR MBI E N RER - BRA
&£ E I K mWealth Powerfs R E ] & 1B A
8 -+ sk 2 HiWealth Powerf) B 75 s A4S & UK
HIE - A AEBEERAAREEN EL
Wealth Powertf) B8 &1 TR EBRTE N -

RMAREE B SRR B 28N L AR &
BELENKE  ZRELRAESZEHE

ABE o Wealth Powerd) 245 LAE U/ e IR
WEZRERRFTABERA

HEZTS-_F=-A=1+—RHILFE £
AJLAR(ES0,000 8 LB E = HEER
Wealth Power Group Limited#) 2 ZPA%HE
A FEEE21,924,0008 L E R F R H
ERANREEBEEEE ZRDET) o

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables Z 5 EWGRIE
Less: Impairment B RE

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T-_=F=A=+—RHILFE

22. B REMEBWRIE

Other receivables H A R YR IE
Temporary receipts USRI
Prepayments (note below) TaRRIE (7 TFXXHEE)
Other deposits Hibize
Deposits for decoration of education HEHRLEEES
center
Rental deposits HEZe
Analysed as: DR
- Current — e
- Non-current — JERE

Note: Out of the Group’s prepayments of HK$15,026,000 (2022:
HK$11,131,000), an amount of HK$12,879,000 (2022:
HK$6,970,000) represents the prepayments to Mr. YY Lam and
his related parties and details of which are set out in note 39
(b((ii).

The Group allows credit period ranging from 30 days to 60 days
to customers from OEM Business and Retail Business. The
Group allows credit period ranging from 30 days to 60 days to
its customers.

As 31 March 2023, the trade receivables from contracts
with customers amounted to HK$5,974,000 (31 March 2022:
HK$2,019,000, 1 April 2021: HK$1,403,000).

Bt - ANEETER FRIF15,026,0008 7T (ZE ==
4 11,131,000/ 7T) # -+ 12,879,000 T
(ZZ = =4 : 6,970,000 7T) AlRIFRER
EEREBB ARSI NZENKIE B4
FHB R M T390 ©

AEERAREEREXBRTEXBHEFK
M FIEEOREER - AEERER
FRENTF0HZ0RZEEH -

RZE-_=F=F=+—H EFA4NE
SN A 455,974,000 7 (T - —F=
B=+—8:2019,0008 7T —T-—4
/9 A—H : 1,403,000/ 7T) °

BEHESEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE

22.

23.

TE-=F=A=+—HItEE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at the end of the reporting period, an ageing analysis of the
trade receivables, net of loss allowances presented based on
the invoice date is as follows:

Within 30 days 30HA

31 to 60 days 31E60H
6110 90 days 61E90H
Over 90 days 90H A E

. BEZRHEMEBYRIE (@)

N TARRERRRERAH2IINE SR
WEkIa (R ERHE) MRRER DT

1,326

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in note 41(B)(b)(iii).

LOAN RECEIVABLES

Loan receivables arising from money
lending and accrued interest

KB RIE 2 EWE RN AT 7S

AEEEERRMELBEZREGAZE
B =\ 0 — R B A EEA1B) (b)) ©

. RBRER

Less: Impairment B RE
Analysed as: PATA

- Current — mE

- Non-current — JEmED

All of the Group’s loan receivables are derived from money
lending business carried out in Hong Kong and are denominated
in HKS.

As 31 March 2023, the loan receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to HK$43,217,000 (31 March 2022:
HK$42,123,000, 1 April 2021: HK$73,095,000).

Legendary Education Group Limited
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AEEMARKEFTEKENEERROR
B - WABTTEHE »

RZZZ=F=A=+—H ' RERFEH
Z W E FA43,217,0008 7 (Z T = —4F
—A=+—H8 42123000t — T ——
FPA—H : 73,095,000%7C) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

At 31 March 2023, the Group's loan receivables with gross
amounts of HK$47,707,000 (2022: HK$40,178,000) are secured
loans with collateral which are mainly properties and unlisted
equity interests. The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge
the collateral in the absence of default by the loan debtors.
There have not been any significant changes in the quality
of the collateral held for the loan receivables. In addition, the
Group's loan receivables with gross amounts of HK$8,022,000
(2022: HK$6,500,000) are secured loans with guarantee
provided by independent third parties.

At 31 March 2023, the Group'’s loan receivables bear interest
at fixed rates ranging from 6% to 12% (2022: 6% to 12%) per
annum.

A typical loan generally has a term of 6 months to 15 months
(2022: 6 months to 15 months).

As at the end of the reporting period, the maturity profile of
loan receivables, based on loan draw down date or loan last
rollover date, if applicable, is as follows:

23.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

BWRER (&)
RZTZZ=F=ZA=+—8 x&EEEK
B XM FEA7,707,0008 L (Z T = — F:
40,178,000/’%71) REERER  AER®
FERMERIE MR - REEEGHA
WEEBHNNELT  TEHEXBERE
B o FTRFENE R @ 2 R
WEERE o o AEBREWNEFLR
88,022,000 7t (= Z = = 4F : 6,500,000
BIT) ARBYE = A REERNEERE

=+
e

R-E-=—F=-A=+—08  AEEZEK
BERIENF6%E12% 2 EFEFEFRFE (=
T F 6%E12%) °

HMAER—RERRPAZEISEAR (=
T TE6EI5EA) o

RESR - EREFIRRABRERRR
MEARE SR B (MEm) 2 B EREH
HEPREZIIT -

HK$'000
THR

Within 30 days 30HA

31 to 90 days 31HZE90H

91 to 180 days 91HE180H
More than 180 days but within one year — #8:i8180B{B14 R
Over one year TBiB1F

Less: Impairment B RE

Details of the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising from
loan receivables and the reconciliation of changes in gross
carrying amount and allowances for loan receivables are set
out in note 41(B)(b)(i).

ﬁ?ﬁ$¢lf§f§ﬂlﬁ&ﬂ§l&i§ RELNEE
AR 48 ﬁﬁﬁ@”ﬁb&ﬂ’i%% Rk R O
E ai\a%wéﬁﬁ%fm b)) °

EERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

23.

LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

At 31 March 2022 and 2023, the directors of the Group
considered the credit risk relating to the credit impaired loan
receivables with reference to the assets which are held by the
Group as collateral. Expected credit loss of HK$6,500,000 (2022:
HK$6,500,000) was recognised for these credit-impaired loan
receivables with gross carrying amount of HK$6,500,000 (2022:
HK$6,500,000) as at 31 March 2023.

Definitions of Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 are detailed in note
41(B)(D).

Expected credit loss of loan receivables
Expected credit loss in respect of loan receivables are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, in which case the
expected credit loss is written off against loan receivables
directly in accordance with the accounting policy of the
Company.

23. BWER (&)

RZEZZFRZFZ=F=RA=+—8H"
KBEREEFEERYEE AEEE
ERREERREEERERKEFREH o
RZZZ=F=A=+—H ' EpREREE
46,500,000/ 7T (= = = 4F : 6,500,0007%8
7T MZEEERAERKERERENEE
586,500,000/ 7T (—ZF = =4 : 6,500,000
BT °

FEER - FLER KRB R 2 EHENME
A1B)b)FHAL - .

RRERBAREERSE

ERUER 2 BREEBRIERRERA
fR - BRIFAKEEMLEERKOIFSR - Bl
RIBAR R R Z ST BER BB E 5
BHEEER -

24. EWEE A RRIE
Maximum
amount
outstanding
during the year 2022

24. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE

BB R
BRESE
HK$'000

BT

—E-—4F
HK$'000
FETT

Quick Capital Quick Capital 6,230 6,230

The amount due from an associate was unsecured, non-trade REBE-_Z-_=F-_A=1+—HILFE &
nature, interest-free and were fully repaid during the year WS ARRIEREERR FEFME £
ended 31 March 2023. BHERHEE -

1 68 Legendary Education Group Limited
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25.

26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 25. BAVEFABENERMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets mandatorily measured at & #liz A FEE ABZE 2

FVTPL TRUEE
— Profit guarantees in relation to — BRAYEEA T & IE 2 E AR
acquisition of: o
(a) Brilliant Ever Global Limited (a) ZKIRFRBR A 7
(note 38 (b)(ii) (H1EE38(b)(ii)) -
(b) Best Take Global Limited (b) Best Take Global Limited
(note 38 (a)(i)) (HT#£38(a)0)
- Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —NEB LT 2 IRARES
- Investment funds (note (ii) below) —REES (FTXHEI))

Notes: Bzt -

(i) As at 31 March 2022 and 2023, the fair value of the equity (i) RE - —FR_ZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—
securities listed in Hong Kong is based on the bid prices quoted B REELWZBEAES 2 A FETR
on the Stock Exchange at the end of the reporting period. BRIRE R R A EABRE

(i) As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of the investment funds is iy MZZTZ=F=A=+—10 KEEEZ
based on the quoted prices obtained from the investment fund RNFETDRERRERRRELE SRR
manager as at the end of the reporting period as the investments B HREFE  RARNZEREESN
in these investment funds are redeemable by the Group based REAMAREREEMRERD -

on such quoted prices.

Details of the fair value measurement hierarchy of the financial RATEFABRNSREENDTEFE
assets at fair value through profit or loss are set out in note [E R EHAM 4B @)
41(B)(@)(i).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. RERRTEEY

Cash at banks and on hand RITRFERS

Cash and cash equivalents presented in REEMBEIRRKEYZHES R
the consolidated statement of financial HEEEY

position
Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily FITREREE B RITEHA LS X
bank deposit rates. BREUH)S, o

EERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=F=RA=+—HILFE

170

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables

Accrued staff salaries

Other accruals and payables

Other financial liabilities comprise (ot below)

— Payables for acquisition of KC Training
Company Limited (see note 38(b)(i)

— Payables for acquisition of Brilliant Ever
Global Limited (see note 38(b)(ii)

— Payables for acquisition of Best Take
Global Limited (see note 38(a)(i))

— Payables for acquisition of Hong Kong
Institute of Professional Studies Limited
(see note 38(a)(ii)

Promissory note (see note 38(a)(i)

B 5 RN IR
[EETE THr e
HAbfEET & A RN RIA
Hitbs

Limited &1~ 7k 18
(B MzE38(b)())

— W EOKIRIRB R A RIE A X

18 (2 KIZ38()i)
— g BEBest Take Global
Limited & < 8
(B H1:£38(3)0)
— R BB E SR
ARA RIERFRIE
(B HT7£38(a))
EEEE (AMiF383)0)

b B (S EREE T
— YsBEKC Training Company

B RAEMENIIE

4,154

30,795

7,184

914
2,491

58,007

Analysed as:
- Current
- Non-current

DT
— &
— FRE

12,469
45,538

58,007

Note: The amounts represent contingent consideration payables by the
Group regarding the acquisition of certain subsidiaries during the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 which are recognised as
financial liabilities of the Group and details of the which are set

out in respective notes.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's trade payables amounted
to HK$448,000 (31 March 2022: HK$60,000, 1 April 2021:

HK$60,000).

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period based on the invoice date is as follows:

Over 90 days

R0 H

Wit ZEFEEASERBE S _=F K=
S -F=-A=-+—BALFERKEST
WEBAREMNRANE  THRELAEE
NEEEE  HFH BN a0 -

RZEZ=F=A=+—H A%£ENES
JE < Z B B448,0008 L (ZE - —4F = A
=+—H:600008w —T=-—FMHA—
B : 60,000/87T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28. ANERE

Contract liabilities aHEaRE

\

- Billings in advance of performance — BHIRIERE

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s contract liabilities amounted RZEZ=F=R=+—H A5EHNE

to HK$33,256,000 (31 March 2022: HK$24,994,000, 1 April 2021: 48 E33256,0008 T (ZE=Z=_F = A

HK$29,808,000) which represents the advances received from =+—H 12499400087 —E=—FY

customers regarding the provision of financial quotient and A —H :29,808,000/8 7T) &L IR B 7 &

investment education services and private supplementary ERE RIGA LA W E RIS E =B

education services. IWEREY R ©

The contract liabilities primarily related to below: SHEBEEETISIERHA

D advance consideration received from the customers o FIRHEIBEREEHEURALIEL
for the provision of financial quotient and investment HEFREEBREPWREIEANAE - Hit
education and private supplementary education courses, TR AR TS BIRERR B B e

for which revenue is recognised when the services have
been rendered;

D certain customers are required to pay deposits when they e ETEPEARNEHEIERIZ(TR
place the sales order, which resulted in contract liabilities e (EEAEERNERE
until the Group delivers the products and the customers BRREGHERWERERN) 24
obtain control of the products. afE e

There was no revenue recognised in the current reporting & IR AR I A SR A B N iR T R TTAK

period that related to performance obligations that were 2 BHEERGE ©

satisfied in prior year.

EERABEEEERAF 171
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

28.

29.

172

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
The movements of contract liabilities are as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year FHEER

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result  REMT AL DB EHFE I
of recognising revenue during the ERAEENBERD

year that was included in the contract (H13#5(a))
liabilities at the beginning of the year
(note 5(a))

Increase in contract liabilities as a result  FRFEWEE FEEEENL

of billing in advance of sales activities S EEE
during the year

. BREE @

ABRBEREWT

HK$'000
FHT

(24,994)

33,256

Balance at end of the year FARER

33,256

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Amount repayable within 1 year or on
demand

— Bank loan, unsecured —IRITEE - EIKE

R—FRSIRBREESH

29. RITREMEE

The Group’s borrowings contains a repayment on demand
clause and thus, the amount was classified as non-current
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The bank loan of HK$5,000,000 is unsecured, interest bearing
at 2.75% to 3.75% per annum.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. LEASE LIABILITIES

31.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and

previous reporting period:

Lease liabilities payable:
— Within one year
— Within a period of more than one
year but not exceeding two years
— Within a period of more than two
years but not exceeding five years

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE-_T-_=F=A=t—BLFE
30. HEARE
TRERAEEMHAER BNE AN RBER

%ﬁﬁﬂiﬂ@ﬁ%?é\%@ﬂ,ﬁﬁla/

2022
—E o

HK$'000
TABTT

ENEEERE
— 1R 12,289
— BIB1FETEE2FR
HRER 8,535
— B2 FE TR FH
HFR 1,218

Less: Amount due for settlement with 12
months shown under current liabilities

22,042

B omENAafE IETFﬁ/T\EA'IZMH

MEIEISE R 12,289

Amount due for settlement after
12 months

1218 A 12 2| B B #0508

RIBE-_=F=A=+—H0 @8Rk

As at 31 March 2023, the lease liabilities amounting to
HK$1,183,000 (2022: HK$1,580,000) and HK$1,952,000 (2022:
HK$ nil) related to leases of motor vehicles and yacht which
net carrying amount of HK$1,708,000 (2022: HK$2,135,000)
and HK$6,808,000 (2022: HK$ nil) respectively. All other lease
liabilities related to leases of properties.

PROVISION FOR LITIGATION

Litigation claim

fEME EE 2 HE B & 721,183,000/ 7T (=
£ = = 4 : 1,580,000/ 7T) 51,952,000
T (ZFEZZF T%8n) KEFED
/1,708,000 7T (= & — — 4 : 2,135,000
PETT) 6,808,000 (ZEZZF : TE
TT) e TEHMESAERYERERRE -

31. FTFRARAE

2022

HK$°000
TAT

The litigation claim brought against Sino Shine Retailing
Limited (“Sino Shine”) arose from a repudiatory breach of a
tenancy agreement between Sino Shine as the tenant and an
independent third party landlord entered into on 27 October
2016.

HIEZEARQR ([THE]) REHFA
REDEEBROMLERTE EREME

N B—EZBIE=ERR T —RF+
A+t BRIz HE R -
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31.

174

PROVISION FOR LITIGATION (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group received
a writ of summons in relation to a repudiatory breach of a
tenancy agreement between the plaintiff, an independent
third party landlord, and Sino Shine Retailing Limited, then
a subsidiary of the Group, entered into on 27 October 2016,
which the plaintiff is claiming the Group for, inter alia, damages
in the sum of approximately HK$1,735,000 plus interest. The
directors of the Company consider that it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and the Group has recognised the provision of
HK$1,735,000, which is considered as a reliable estimate that
can be made.

Though Sino Shine was disposed by the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2020, according to the terms in the agreement
for sale and purchase of shares in Sino Shine with the buyer
of Sino Shine, the legal claim incurred for Sino Shine which
related to event before the date of disposal on 20 September
2019 shall be payable by the Group. Accordingly, the provision
for litigation claim of HK$1,735,000 remained a liability of the
Group as at 31 March 2022 and 2023.

Based on the consultations with the Company’s legal counsel,
the directors of the Company consider that the claim is well
covered by the provision made and would not result in any
further material adverse impact on the financial position or
results and operations of the Group.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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REZE-T-—NF=ZA=1T—HLEFE K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax liabilities

EREHAERE

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

. EEBIREEREE

TRAMMBERE 0 R IRLHRD
i

The components of deferred tax liabilities and assets regarding
accelerated tax depreciation recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the movements during the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

HEZT-_=FR-F-__F=-A=+—H
LEFE - RERE B R ARERE AR
EMIBITEMIRERIBEE EREENHEN R
T

HK$°000
T

As at 1 April 2021 NZE-_—FMH—H 122
Disposal of subsidiary LEMB AR (108)
As at 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-E-_—F=ZA=+—HK

“E-_FMA—H 14
Charge to profit or loss RIBEHIBR 649
As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—H 663

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$56,327,000 (2022: HK$59,403,000) available
for offset against future profits that may be carried forward
indefinitely. No deferred tax asset was recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2023 (2022: HK$ nil) since it is not probable that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available
in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences in respect of accumulated provision
for allowance for credit losses of approximately HK$9,726,000
(2022: HK$7,775,000). No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in related to such deductible temporary difference
as it is not probable that the deductible temporary differences
can be utilised in the foreseeable future.

RZEZ=F=A=+—B AEE#HAX
&) A B T8 5 B 4956,327,00008 T (ZE ==
4 : 59,403,000 7T) AT {4 85 AT Ak 4 PR HA
BENREF N T _=F=A=+—
B - \ARERABIR R AR R E RS T Al aE
IR AR PR PSR A R LA B PR R TS 18 - M
EEGAUBMRARPHERECHEEE
(ZF==F T8 -

RREHR AEBHBBEEEFIERE
BB R 2 P HURU S I 2 §8 499,726,000
T (ZZE = Z4 : 7,775,000 7T) - R A]
HURE R Z A SR AT A2 AT T R AR SR
FA -+ MU Ak A I T R R 2 R R SRR AT
MIBEE -
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33. PROMISSORY NOTE PAYABLES

The carrying amount of the
promissory note payables are
repayable:

— Amount due for settlement after 12

months shown under non-current

33. BAERREE

ERfERLEEZREEZRERNUT
HEEE

— FRBABEETARR12(EAR
BB EE TR

liabilities

Movements in promissory note ENARLEEESHOT

payable are as following:
Balance at beginning of the year FEEEA
Consideration on acquisition of WEEH B AR 2 RE

subsidiaries (note below) (8 TxXHKiaE)
Repayment during the year FRIER
Balance at end of the year FRER
During the year ended 31 March 2021, an amount of HE-_Z-_—F=A=1+T—HLFE"

HK$23,560,000 was settled during the year and thus, the
Group’s promissory note payables balance was nil as at 31

March 2023 and 2022.

1 7 6 Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2023

23,560,000 L E R FNEEE © AL AEE
RZB-ZZFR-ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HZ
ENAREREHRBE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

34. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Authorised:
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
(ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 each)

34. BAREE

Number of
shares
BRAEE

EE
N-ZZE-_—F=A=1+—H8xK
—Z-—FpA—H (F0.0001

Amount
=8
HK$'000
TR

Bz Eimik) 5,000,000,000,000 500,000
Effect on September 2021 Share WoE - —FHLABRMAHEER
Consolidation to HK$0.0005 each 0.0005% 707 522 (4,000,000,000,000) -
At 31 March 2022 and 2023 (ordinary W-ZE-Z—FR-_T =4
shares of HK$0.0005 each) =A=+—H
(F1%0.0005748 7T 2 @k ) 1,000,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid BEITREAR
At 1 April 2021 (ordinary shares of R-ZE-—FMAE—H
HK$0.0001 each) (FA%0.00018 T2 EBAR%) 1,535,984,000 154
Issue of shares LTI 246,296,296 24
Exercise of share options TR AR 10,000,000 1
September 2021 Share Consolidation i =% = —4 11, A &#20.0005/8 752
of HK$0.0005 each [i&1n & Bt (1,433,824,237) -
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-ZE-_—F=ZA=+—H8K
(ordinary shares of HK$0.0005 each) —Z——fMA—H
(EA%0.0005/8 T 2 @Ak ) 358,456,059 179
September 2022 Bonus Issue TR CFNAETAR 35,845,605 18
At 31 March 2023 (ordinary share of RZ-Z-=%=H=+—H
HK$0.0005 each) (2%0.00057& 7T 2 Ei@A%) 394,301,664 197

TRz A NE BT R E RS -
UHEERBOEARRBRRAE LZF R
RORKE - REEBRBHARB ZRBEE
FHERSER -

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at general meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares
rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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34. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
Details of the movements of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

178

A.

Movements during the year ended 31
March 2023

September 2022 Bonus Issue

On 26 September 2022, the board of the Company
has resolved to recommend a bonus issue of Shares
on the basis of one (1) Bonus Share for every ten (10)
existing Shares held by the Qualifying Shareholders
whose names appeared on the register of members of
the Company on the Record Date. Details were set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 26 September
2022 and 7 November 2022, and the Company’s circular
dated 7 November 2022.

Movements during the year ended 31

March 2022

(a) Issue of shares
Pursuant to the announcement of the Company
on 26 July 2021, the vendor of the acquisition of
Bewisekid Holding Limited, Mr. Poon Chi Ming has
fulfilled his obligation in relation to the guaranteed
profits and thus 246,296,296 consideration shares
were allotted and issued to the vendor accordingly
on 26 July 2021. The issue of the consideration
shares is within the limit of the General Mandate
and is not subject to any approval by the
Shareholders of the Company.

All new shares rank pari passu in all aspects with
each other in accordance with the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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34. RAER#HE (&)

HE-Z-_—FRk=-T-_"F=-A=+—H
IEFE  ARal 2 ZEFBOT

A.

BE-ZT-_=F=A=+—H
I FEZEE

TR CHFAARITAR
RIZEBE__FNAZF+"B xR
ERgRAES &Fﬁﬁa%%ﬂ$
NRARREM 26 ERRRERE T+
(10AR 38 A IR (0 2 —(NIRAL AR 2 &
HEBRITAIE © FF15 %ZEAZK RIEHA
TR ZFAAZFTRABRZEZC
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RIFEZF+—RAERZEK -

BE-ZE--—=A=+—H

IFEZEE

(@) BITRG
BREAQRIR-_ZT-_—Ft
AZ+XXEB®HAM WHE
Bewisekid Holding Limited
WERESHEEEBEITH
BHERZFRFNONEML Bt
246,296,2961% X (B & fh B R
T —F+EA=Z+HHEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
B. Movements during the year ended 31
March 2022 (continued)
(b) Exercise of share options

(c)

On 16 August 2021, 10,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company of HK$0.0001 each were issued
upon the exercise of 10,000,000 share options (see
note 35).

All new shares rank pari passu in all aspects with
each other in accordance with the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company.

September 2021 Share Consolidation
Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholders
passed at an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company on 24 September 2021, every five
issued and unissued ordinary shares with a par
value of HK$0.0001 each in the share capital of
the Company were consolidated into one ordinary
share with a par value of HK$0.0005 each, such
that the authorised share capital of the Company
is HK$500,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000,000
shares with a par value of HK$0.0005 each, the
subdivided shares shall rank pari passu in all
aspects with each other in accordance with the
memorandum and articles of association of the
Company,

Details of the Share Consolidated are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 25 August
2021, 24 September 2021, 27 September 2021
and 1 November 2021 and the circular dated 8
September 2021.

(c)

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE-_T-_=F=A=t—BLFE
34. RARMEE (2
B. BZ2-F-__"#=A=t+—H
EFEZBE (&)
(b) TTERERRE

RZZEZ—FN\NA+x8"
10,000, ooo% % E {80.0001
EITRIA R A& B 1T
10,000,000 E% Hx ﬁé IRy & B 17
(RHI3E35) »

R A TE B E A R A
B+ A AR 15 & T T Lk
= HRSE -

“E--FAARBEH
BEAR-_ZE-_—FHALA=-+MW
HRITHARRBRERFR RS
BBNREARSR  ARFAK
RN F 1R 5 AR E {E0.00017%
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Bt 5 — IR & AR H E0.000575 7T
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34. RAKGEE (#)
BE—2-—F=A=1+—H

34. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
B. Movements during the year ended 31 B.

March 2022 (continued) I FEZRE (&)

Details of the Group's reserves are as follow: AEBRBEZFBEOT

(a) Share premium (@) BROEE
Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman BEREHS QRZEEE
Islands, the share premium account of the Company 1) - ARaElz R EER S
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company KT ARRAIME - WEREEE
provided that immediately following the date on EORKREBERR  NARIA
which a dividend is proposed to be distributed, the BRNEEBEEBTHDE
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts &7 o
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(b) Fair value reserve (non-recycling) (b) AT ERFE (RAEE)
The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the N ERFE (DAl ER) PET
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity WMERARBENRBEE BN
instrument designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that WEERIBRIEE RN T ERT
are held at the end of the reporting period. AHMEEKREHBRATAR

FEN R EB)FE -

(c) Special reserve (c) %5half#EE
Special reserve represented the difference between FRIFEEEARATRINE A
the nominal amount of the share capital and share BRAZRBEEMERDHEZ
premium of a former subsidiary of the Company MMEE  UWERAAFRARE
and the nominal amount of the share capital issued FERBEESEMHEDZBITRA
by the Company pursuant to a group reorganization HHREE -
in prior years.

(d) oOther reserve (d) HtthfEE
Other reserve arose from the waiver of loan from a HEMBEEEEEART —RBIE
controlling shareholder of the Company in previous BRBERBAEFEREER
years.

(e) Share option reserve (e) BRERE

Share option reserve represent equity reserve
arising from equity-settled share option expense
under share option scheme of the Company
provided to directors and employees.

1 80 Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2023

BREREEARFTDESER
BERENBRESZRTZ
P 1 4 S S v D S P E AR 9
PRAEfE o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 25 September 2014
for the primary purpose of providing incentives or rewards to
eligible participants, and will expire on 10 October 2024, after
which no further options will be granted.

Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company may
grant options to:

(@ any employee or proposed employee (whether fulltime
or part-time and including any executive director),
consultants or advisers of or to the Company, any of the
subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which
the Company holds an equity interest;

(b) any non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of the
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;,

() any supplier of goods or services to the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity; and

(f)  any shareholders or any shareholder of any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity.

On 14 July 2020, a total of 10,000,000 share options (the “2020
July Share Options”) were granted to Mr. Yuen Yu Sum, an
executive Director of the Company to subscribe for shares of
HK$0.04 each of the Company under the share option scheme
of the Company adopted on 25 September 2014, subject to
acceptance of the Grantee and the payment of HK$1 by the
Grantee upon acceptance of the Options.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE
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35.

182

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

On 26 March 2021, a total of 127,992,000 share options (the
“March 2021 Share Options”) were granted to certain grantees
to subscribe for an aggregate of 127,992,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company under
the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 25
September 2014, subject to acceptance of the Grantees and
the payment of HK$1 by each of the Grantees upon acceptance
of the Options.

No share options were granted during the year ended 31
March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the option holders of
the 10,000,000 2020 July Share Options exercised the options
and subscribed for 10,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
(see note 34(B)(b)). Further, the number of the outstanding
127,992,000 March 2021 Share Options was adjusted to
25,298,400 upon the September 2021 Share Consolidation
during the year ended 31 March 2022 (see note 34(B)(c)).

On 14 October 2022, a total of 35,844,000 share options (the
“October 2022 Share Options”) were granted, including the
executive directors of the Company to certain grantees to
subscribe for an aggregate of 35,844,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.0005 each in the share capital of the Company under
the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 25
September 2014, subject to acceptance of the Grantees and
the payment of HK$1 by each of the Grantees upon acceptance
of the Options.

In addition, the number of the outstanding 25,298,400 March
2021 Share Options was adjusted to 28,158,440 upon the
September 2022 Bonus Issue during the year ended 31 March
2023 (see note 34(A)).

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year
is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be
exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share
option. The exercise price is determined by the directors of
the Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
average closing price of the ordinary shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-ZT_=F=A=+—HILFE

BRESTE (1)
REmBERAERH B RR2BAARNNE
NIBIAEVE TN R A - BRER B
PR B AR AT BERS T (L © ITRERAR
REREE TS ERATHERSE : ()
EBRRNEERROBEEAR (BARE!
R) ATREE X AEB ISR RERAER
FAUTE ¢ R (i) & A R BB AR B

(WBALER) EHIEHRERME
I mfE -

days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option
(which must be a business day); and (i) the closing price of
the ordinary shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option (which must
be a business day).

FHBRER TRHAARBARR EERL
W AR EBAEH

Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the Company and is settled gross in shares. R -
PR i BRI ) BLAS 4R

Details of the specific categories of options granted are as ARIRFIBIAT

follows:

Exercise price

Exercise price

per share after per share after
September September
Number of Initial exercise 2021 Share 2022 Bonus
Option type Date of grant share options Exercise period price per share  Consolidation Issue
R=B=-%RA RZB-—FAA
Rirafite BoiR%EZ
BEREER bt =p BREZE 764 SRASTEE BROTFE BROTEE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
2020 July Share Options 14 July 2020 10,000,000 From 14 July 2020 to 0.227 N/A N/A
31 July 2030
TR T AERE “E-FF 10,000,000 E-ZE-2F+A+MAZE 0227 TER TER
tA+EA e S S o
A
March 2021 Share Options 26 March 2021 127,992,000 From 26 March 2021 to 0.330 1.650 1.500
25 March 2031
“E-E-FERE “I--F 127992000 EZE=—F=F=1+R~ 0.330 1650 1500
ZBZfRH HZZZE=—F=AH
—+hA
October 2022 Share Options 14 October 2022 25,598,400 From 14 October 2022 to 1.104 N/A 1.004
13 October 2032
R CEARERE —EoCE 25598400 B-Z-—Ft+AfMAZE 1,104 TER 1.004
TATEA “E-CFFA+=H

EERABEEEERAF
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HE_T_=F=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 35. MERESTE (®)
October 2022 Share Options granted to certain grantees will BTETEABRAZZZ__F+ ABEREEZ
only be vested if each of the net profit of the Group for the RASEEE-T-_=F=A=+—AK=

EOMF=A=+—HIARATBFEZ
MANRENSBEAEBEE_T_—F=
BB 2 AR BT o

financial year of the Company ending 31 March 2023 and 31
March 2024 is equal to or exceeds the net profit of the Group
for the financial year ended 31 March 2022. A=1+—

TEREBEBEZTENBETS_ZFR=F
TE=F=ZA=+—HIFEZEE:

The following table discloses the movements of the Scheme
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023:

Effect of Effect of

Outstanding
at beginning
of the year

Granted
during the

year

Exercised
during the
year

September September
2021 Share 2022 Bonus
Consolidation Issue

Outstanding
at end of the
year

REY)
GEIN

ERRL

SET-FAR CRIIFAS
REAKIEE BGHR2EE

RER
HATE

Yearended 31 March 2022  HZ-F--E-B=+-ALEE

Directors EZ

2020 July Share Options “E-EELARRE 10,000,000 - (10,000,000 N/ATNER NATER -

Employees and others Eﬁ&ﬁ/ﬂi

March 2021 Share Options “EC-F-ARiE 127,992,000 - - (102,393,600) NANER 25,598,400
137,992,000 - (10,000,000) (102,393,600) - 25,598,400

Bxercisable at the end of the year  NERAF{76E 25,598,400

Weighted average exercise price  IMETISTEE (BT
(HKS)
Yearended 31 March 2023 ~ HE=Z-=F=R=+-ALEFE
Directors EZ
October 2022 Share Options “ECCFRERE NATER 7,896,000 N/ATER 789,600 8,685,600
Employees and others Eaﬁﬂﬂu t
March 2021 Share Options “EC RiaiE 25,598,400 - 2,559,840 28,158,240
Qctober 2022 Share Options :E:ﬁﬂ% ftE NATER 27,948,000 N/ARER 2,794,800 30,742,800

Exercisable at the end of the year  WEXRT (7

Weighted average exercise price
(HKS)

TR (B1)

1 8 4 Legendary Education Group Limited
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25,598,400

35,844,000

1.104

N/ATER

6,144,240 67,586,640

55,799,040

N/ATER




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
The estimated fair value of the share options granted during the
year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately HK$7,400,000,
of which the Group recognised a share option expense of
approximately HK$5,647,000 during the year ended 31 March
2023.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year ended 31 March 2023 was estimated as at the dates
of grant using a binomial model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the share options were granted.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) 2 (%

)
(

Expected volatility (%) TEERR 18 (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 [ P 1) 2 (%)
Forfeiture rate (%) 2 W (%)

The expected life of the share options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily indicative
of the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the share options granted was incorporated
into measurement of fair value.

36. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions
to the plan vest immediately.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

35. BRESTE (®)
HE-_ZT-_—F-A=-+—HBILFERLHN
ME R A M (f 5T A F1E4) A7,400,0007% 7T
HbpREERHE T - =F=-F=+—H
L2 R AR IR 5 32 495,647,000/ 7T

BE-T-=F=A=+—HILFE  HiE
H A AR 5 SO R R 2 A PR R
A PR RS RELET AT - SR A B
RS RO GERRR R A o

TR A AR SR B A B

Share options granted
during the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFERLZERE

2023 2021
—E=-= —E-— &
1.7% 0-2%
33.29% 34.93% — 35.24%
4.16% 0.492% — 1.381%

10% — 38% 58%
BRENTET FRIERBE=FNELH
B RURKRAREHENTERR - FAHK
R R ERERE SR IR RESIR R ARBE -
ERBRARLNLE -

AEATHERBENAD KL BEENEM
T

36. BERKEF

ERBRHEFRIAETE

AEBREERE CRFIELESEEIED)
REER (RREED) EEEBRIARS
MRTEEEE ([REDFE]) - mEea
ZR—IEHBUR AT RN TERETRK
A&l - RIFRESE S BEREEDRIA
R BB A Z5%RET EIEH HR - 1
HE B8 B WA LA30,000/8 7T /% IR o Mt EIE
HEVBRENR R o

EERABEEEERAF
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36. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 36. EERKER &)

37.

186

Defined contribution retirement plans EBMFCRAKEE (#)

(Continued)

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$748,000 (2022: T ABZ A 48K A748,0008 L (ZE ==
HK$488,000) represents contributions paid to the MPF scheme 14880008 T) NASBEEHE_ST ==
by the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023. As at 31 March FZA=t+—RALFEREESHEEN
2023, there were no material forfeitures available to offset the HR-RZT_=F=A=+—0 K=

Group'’s future contributions (2022: Nil).

RKEWSEE AT AER Z R RBER (=ZF
T 4E) e

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. EXBEHAERS

(a)

(b)

Transaction and balances with related (a) RS MR KRR
parties

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated MRZEFEa M mRE M I D P E
financial statements, the Group had the following BN REBRERNEBR T EUT
transactions and balances with related parties during R 5 M tEss

the year:

HK$'000
TAT

Related company controlled by
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum

HRWREEZHNEABRAR

- Rental income from course center — BUGRIZR O SA
Compensation of key management (b) EEEEAEHMH
personnel
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other FR - ARBEERAERHMTE
members of key management of the Group during the BIREKENHMET

year was as follows:

2023
—m——

—= =

HK$’000
FTERT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e IEKRAMER 10,980
Equity-settled share option expense LA RS HE 45 S e BEE AR A R =2 1,747
Contributions to defined contribution  FzEMHFCRARET I

retirement plans 14

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023

(M

Best Take Global Limited

On 16 August 2022, the Company, Able Glorious
Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability, a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, Ms. Man Chi
Ling (the “Best Take Global Vendor A") and Mr.
Lee Kwok Yui, (the “Best Take Global Vendor B”)
entered into the sale and purchase agreement
in relation to the acquisition of the entire equity
interest in Best Take Global Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability, which is owned as to 85% by Vendor A
and 15% of Vendor B (“Vendors") respectively for
a consideration of HK$15,000,000 (the “Best Take
Global Consideration”).

Best Take Global Limited, through its subsidiary, is
principally engaged in pole dance studios in Hong
Kong. It currently operates three pole dance studios
in Hong Kong, offering various courses for members
of varying experience level. Leveraging on the
extensive industry experience of its management
and lead instructors, it has established solid
reputation and is widely recognised for its high-
quality and experienced training team, which
consists of top talents with regional championship
title. The directors of the Company consider that
the acquisition of Best Take Global Limited will allow
the Group to broaden its business spectrum and
the operation of the Best Take Global Limited will
contribute positively to the Group.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BHE_Z_=—F=-A=+—HIFE

38. WIEMIEAR
(@) RBE-—B-—=F=H=+-
HIEFE

(i)

Best Take Global Limited
RZZEZ_ZF#N\A+7xA8-
K@) ~ Able Glorious Limited
(—EREBEZFS MK
SHBERRDF BARAK
BEEXEMBLAG)  XIEE
% =+ ([Best Take Global® 75
Al) RZEH %~ ([Best Take
Global& 7BJ) I E & e
AR ERIUEEBest Take Global
Limited (—REBELZHS
AWM HERRQRF - 5 BIH
BEHAREABERS) B
85% N 15% M%) #) & ARAX#E -
£ f& /15,000,000 7T ([Best
Take Globalft(& ) »

Best Take Global Limited:& @£
MEBRAREENEBULERE
FI(E=E - HERIRNBEBLE
—HMEEIEEZ  ATRE
BT ERHEBRE -
BEEETEEREEEMNE
EUELR HOEVYRITE
2 THAEEEAKREER
BIEK (RIEESREEE
SHETMTER A L) MEFEZ
RAl - KRREERA - WE
Best Take Global Limited# {# 4
LA A 50 - MBest
Take Global Limited#) & &5 A&
AEBMBRIEEER -

EERABEEEERAF
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)
(i) Best Take Global Limited (Continued)

188

The Best Take Global Consideration shall be
satisfied by the Company as to (i) HK$1,400,000 by
the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities by the
Purchaser upon Completion; (i) HK$1,200,000 by
cash within 60 calendar days from the Completion

Date;

and (iii) HK$12,400,000 in aggregate by issue

of the Promissory Notes to the Vendors in six
instalments in the following manner:

(ii)

(iii)

First instalment in the sum of HK$2,400,000
has been satisfied upon signing of the
Agreement by issue of the promissory notes
(the "Best Take Global Promissory Note A”) to
the Vendors in proportion to their respective
shareholding interests immediately prior to
Completion;

Second instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000
(subject to the Adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statement of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2023 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global
Promissory Note B") to the Vendors (or their
nominee(s)) in proportion to their respective
shareholding interests immediately prior to
completion;

Third instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000
(subject to the Adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statement of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2024 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global
Promissory Note C") to the Vendors (or their
nominee(s)) in proportion to their respective
shareholding interests immediately prior to
completion;

Legendary Education Group Limited

Annual Report 2023

38. WIEKEAR (&)
(@) RBZE-—B-—=F=H=+-—
HIEFE ()

(i)

Best Take Global Limited
(#)

Best Take Global X & & -
(1)1,400,0007% 7T # B 48 22 @] 3%
BB 7R TT R AR PR
B EF X (i0)1,200,0007% 7T #%
AR AR TER B B EH601E
BEAANLE S Ri)s &
12,400,000 T BAA QG AT
AR AE G BEITEEERZ
FRDNEAT

() 5 — H3 2,400,000 7T
EREEZHREFEBER
BERETKATEEISAZ
P& HE LL A1 [R) 1 S 31 T,
Z4 ([Best Take Global
AHEZEAD R E
N

(i) 2 — Hj #£2,000,0007% 7T
(AT FHRE) BRAR
ABEEZE-_ZE-_=%=A
—THIFEZEEZ
BT RR BRI E
EANZREF (HERE
A) EERBEEZXATZ
A LE 7[R 1 B B A T,
=% ([Best Take Global
A HEEB]) A X
5

(i) 2 = Hj #£2,000,0007% 7T
(AT FHRE) BR=2F
“HE=A=+—HItFE
IERp NS &3 ATy
REMETOESEERN
REF (FEREBA) R
ERETHATE B ZREL
Bl 1% & 31T AR R AR
(IBest Take Global& ¥,
FBCl) KA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)
(i) Best Take Global Limited (Continued)

(iv)

(Vi)

Fourth instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000
(subject to the Adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statement of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2025 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global
Promissory Note D”) to the Vendors (or their
nominee(s)) in proportion to their respective
shareholding interests immediately prior to
completion;

Fifth instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000
(subject to the Adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statement of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2026 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global
Promissory Note E”) to the Vendors (or their
nominee(s)) in proportion to their respective
shareholding interests immediately prior to
completion; and

Sixth instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000
(subject to the Adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statement of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2027 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global
Promissory Note F”) to the Vendors (or their
nominee(s)) in proportion to their respective
shareholding interests immediately prior to
completion.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_T—

=A==t HLFE

. WEEMIE AR (47)

(@ RBE-ZE-_=F=A=+-—
HIEFE &)
(i) Best Take Global Limited

(%)
(iv)

(vi)

2 Y HR $£2,000,0007% JT
(AT THAR) BREBZEZ
ToRF=A=+—AHI
FREZ KRR BEE X
HEBMETHEESEE
NIRER (KERKEA)
REETKATE B 2 IR
LE IR F 3T RIR
([Best Take Global# i,
FED)) WARZAT

% F Hi $£2,000,0007% JT
(AT FHAE) BREZEZ

ToREZA=FT—AHL
FEZRNANEEZI TG
HREBMETUESER
WIRE T (REREAN)
REETRATE B 2 R
LBl %I TER AR
([Best Take Global# i,
ZHED MAREA - &

257X Hi #£2,000,0007% T
(T FHAR) BREEZ
—tF=A=F+—HIk

FEZARNDRIREZNTE
HREBEMRTOEZER

WNIRER (EREA)
REETKAIE B 2 B
EE I m) 16 55 25 A T R R IR
([Best Take Global# i,
FEFD AN -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023

38. WIEKEAR (&)
(@) RBZE-—B-—=F=H=+-—

(Continued) HIEFEE (&)
(i) Best Take Global Limited (Continued) (i) Best Take Global Limited
(#)
(vi)  (Continued) i) (&)
The Vendors irrevocably and unconditionally EVROGIE: €Ak 3P StS:)

guarantees to Able Glorious Limited that the
actual net profits for each of the five years
ending 31 March 2023, 2024, 2025, 2026 and
2027 shall be no less than HK$2,600,000 (the
"Best Take Global Guarantee Profit”).

The principal terms of the Best Take Global
Promissory Notes are as follows:

Principal amount:

Interest:
FE
Maturity:
2E

Early repayment:

mAble Glorious Limited
BREE T =4
TONE S ZFERF
CEIRERIBAF
=A=+—HBLRAFE
EFHNERAENETD
7 2,600,000 7T ([Best
Take Global#& Rz F]) °

& 5!|Best Take Global
AR EEZ F B

HK$2,400,000 for Best Take Global Promissory Note A,
HK$2,000,000 for Best Take Global Promissory Note B
and HK$2,000,000 for Best Take Global Promissory Note
C, HK$2,000,000 for Best Take Global Promissory Note
D, HK$2,000,000 for Best Take Global Promissory Note E,
HK$2,000,000 for Best Take Global Promissory Note F with an
aggregate amount of HK$12,400,000.

Best Take Global& i 22 A 42,400,000/ 7T ~ Best Take Globali
W ZEHEB 42,000,000/ 7T * Best Take Global# 5,22 # C 42,000,000
7 7T ~ Best Take Global# 5 22 #D 432,000,000/ 7T * Best Take
Global# ¥ Z #&E 42,000,000/ 7T & Best Take Global# H Zi&F A
2,000,000/ 7T, + 48%8 /412,400,000 7T °

5% per annum from the date of issue of the Best Take Global
Promissory Notes and payable monthly in arrears
B ¥ 1TBest Take Global# X E & B B G 7% 25% « & AT

3 years from the date of issue of the Best Take Global Promissory
Notes
B #£77Best Take Global& X Zi% B Hi#E 5134F

The Company may pay to the Vendor prior to the maturity date
any outstanding principal amount (together with the outstanding
accrued interests) of the Best Take Global Promissory Notes

B

REEE AAFAREE B AImE 7 X ftBest Take Globali#H =g 7 (E1{a]
FEBASSE (BRAEEEANTL)

ey

The completion date of the acquisition was on 16
August 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)
(i) Best Take Global Limited (Continued)

The acquisition has been accounted for as the
acquisition of business using the acquisition
method and the details are as follows:

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

38. WIBHIE AR (&)
(@) RBE-E-_=F=A=1+-—
HIEEE &)
(i) Best Take Global Limited
(#)
ZWEEEEALBREERE
FEEEAR  SEOT

HK$'000
TET

consideration transferred in the ZUWBEEREENNE
acquisition:
- Cash consideration paid —E2fReNRE 1,400
- Financial assets at fair value through profit or — HREFNIRE ZIRATF1E
loss regarding Profit profit guarantee FTABRZEREE
(note 25) (K15#25) (2,190)
— Promissory notes issued (note 27) — BEITRNAEE (Mit27) 2,491
— Other financial liabilities (note 27) —HEtemaE (Az27) 7,184
Total consideration BRE 8,885
Analysis of assets acquired and liabilities RAWEBIKENEER IR
recognised as at the date of acquisition RNBEIT (RREGEE
determined on a provisional basis: BEE) :
Property, plant and equipment E 7 =P 1,100
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TENFIE - 11E REMERW
] 904
Amount due from a director fEUE E I8 830
Tax recoverable EIEE 157
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 1,700
Accruals and other payables FERHE R R H A ERFIR (51)
Tax payable FERI IR (228)
Fair value of the net assets BEEFBE2 YA 1,725
Less: Best Take Global Assumed Liabilities Bk : Best Take Global FrF &
afs (1,200)
Fair value of net assets acquired on the WEEBDOWEEEFEZ
acquisition NHE 525

Goodwill on acquisition determined on a
provisional basis:

WEEE (RENEEERE)

Total consideration B (E 8,885
Fair value of net assets acquired EWEEEFEATE (525)
Goodwill EES 8,360
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WIBFMTEENESREFE

Cash consideration paid EfRERE 1,400

EERABEEEERAF 191
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)
(i) Best Take Global Limited (Continued)

192

Note:

At the date of acquisition, the Group recognised as
other financial liabilities of the Group the Best Take
Global Promissory Notes issuable by the Company
upon meeting Best Take Global Guarantee Profits
at the present values of the cash consideration that
would be paid and the Best Take Global Promissory
Note that are expected to be issued. Based on the
assessment of the management of the Company,
there might have probability that the full amount of
the contingent consideration would not eventually
have to be paid and thus, the Best Take Global
Guarantee Profits relating to the acquisition Best
Take Global Limited amount to HK$2,190,000 was
recognised as “guarantee profit — financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss” at
the date of acquisition. Further, the directors of
the Company consider that the fair value of the
"guarantee profit — financial assets measured at
fair value through profit or loss” at the end of the
reporting period approximately to the amount as
recognised as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill which arose on the acquisition included
a control premium. The consideration paid for the
business combination effectively included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development of
the company. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible
assets. The goodwill is not deductible for income
tax purposes.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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38. WIEKEAR (&)
(@) RBZE-—B-—=F=H=+-—

BIEFEE (&)
(i) Best Take Global Limited
(%)
et - RIRIE B ER - AEBIZAE T
TRMBEeREREHE

¥ %% 17 #9Best Take Global
EEEENEEBRRAA
7] 1A ¥ BBest Take Global
R 3 5 7% 7] T 81T HIBest
Take Global/& ¥ = #& & X
EEMEMERAE - BE
AABEBEHOTM =k
ARENE LB LK
BAZA - Bt - BEAKE
Best Take Global Limited>
Best Take Globalf® #& %t Fll
2,190,000/ T A UL B8 B HR 7
RERFBEN —EATE
FFABEHNEREE] - I
N RARIEERA - [RE
wA — RAFEFABED
CREE] RBEHRZA
FEEAKEABEERZS
RS o

WHREL 2 EBRENER
B RETEREBHAHMI
i 2 (RAB B 15 82 18 51 15 R U
Mz WARRER AR ZARK
MIZERABZIEHE - BN
ENE AR B EE
ZHERIRAE - R E IR By
B RER - mETAMEIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)

(M

Best Take Global Limited (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year Best Take
Global Limited generated a loss of HK$649,000
and revenue for the year includes HK$3,184,000
generated from Best Take Global Limited.

Had the acquisition of Best Take Global Limited
been completed on 1 April 2022, revenue for the
year of the Group from continuing operations
would have been HK$239,508,000, and profit for the
year from continuing operations would have been
HK$33,933,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2022, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit
of the Group had Best Take Global Limited been
acquired at the beginning of the current year, the
directors of the Company calculated depreciation
of property, plant and equipment based on
the recognised amounts of property, plant and
equipment at the date of the acquisition.

Details of the above acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcement on 16 August 2022.

R I IRARMEE
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38. WHEMIBAT (&)
(@) RBE-ZE=-=F=A=+-—

HIEFE &)

(i) Best Take Global Limited
(#)
WK A EEEEHE
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

194

(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)
(ii) Hong Kong Institute of Professional

Studies Limited

On 27 September 2022, the Company, Able Glorious
Limited, Hong Kong Institute of Financial Analysis
Limited, China Vantage International Holdings
Limited and Ms. Chau Ching Fong, Elisa (the “Hong
Kong Institute of Professional Studies Vendor A, B
and C", collectively, the “Vendors”) entered into
the sale and purchase agreement (the “Hong Kong
Institute of Professional Studies Agreement”) in
relation to the acquisition of the 75% equity interest
in Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability, for a consideration of HK$2,000,000
(the "Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies
Consideration”).

Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies Limited
is principally engaged in provision of certificate
courses in financial analysis, with topics covering
financial analysis, equity investment analysis,
financial derivatives analysis and bond value
assessment. The directors of the Company expect
that the acquisition of Hong Kong Institute of
Professional Studies Limited for further expanding
the business scope and revenue stream of the
Investment Education Business segment and is
in line with the business development strategy of
the Group.

The Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies
Consideration of HK$2,000,000 shall be satisfied by
the Company in the following manner:

(i) First instalment in the sum of HK$1,000,000
has been satisfied upon signing of the sale
and purchase agreement.

(i) Second instalment in the sum of HK$1,000,000
will be satisfied within 14 business days upon
successful renewal of the registration of the
Certificate Courses on or before 31 May 2023.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)
(ii) Hong Kong Institute of Professional
Studies Limited (Continued)
The completion date of the acquisition was
completed on 27 September 2022.

The acquisition has been accounted for as the
acquisition of business using the acquisition
method the details are as following:
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38. WIBKMIBAR (&)
(@) RBE-ZE-_=F=A=1+-—
HIEFE &)
(i) EBEREXBRARLT
(&)
WBEBsEKBEHRA-T
—ZFRAZ++ER-

ZPEBERELSEHRBDE
REBEEAR  FB0T :

HK$'000
FBTE

Consideration transferred in the acquisition: ZUKBEETREZNNRE
- Cash consideration —BeRE 1,000
— Other financial liabilities —HithemasE
(note 27) (K1iE27) 914
Total consideration BRME 1,914
Analysis of assets acquired and liabilities R BTN EER AT
recognised as at the date of acquisition BRNEEIN
determined on a provisional basis: (REEREEETE)
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TARTRIA - e REMER
RIE 30
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMREEEY 399
Accruals and other payables FEFT B A R H A ERTFIR (174)
Fair value of the net assets BEFEZAFE 255

Goodwill on acquisition determined on a

WEEHE (ZRREEE

provisional basis: BE):
Total consideration BRE 1,914
Fair value of net assets acquired BB EEFELATE (255)
Fair value of non-controlling interest SRR 2 AT E 64
Goodwill EES 1,723
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WHEFIELENIESRE
HEE
Cash consideration paid BENESRE 1,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances acquired & : WiEHIR S RIRES B
Y4 A (399)
601
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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(a) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)
(ii) Hong Kong Institute of Professional

Studies Limited (Continued)

Goodwill which arose on the acquisition included
a control premium. The consideration paid for the
business combination effectively included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development of
the company. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible
assets. The goodwill is not deductible for income
tax purposes adjusted in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in the future.

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year is HK$53,000
attributable to the additional business generated
by Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies
Limited. Revenue for the year includes HK$374,000
generated from Hong Kong Institute of Professional
Studies Limited.

Had the acquisition of Hong Kong Institute of
Professional Studies Limited been completed
on 1 April 2021, revenue for the year of the
Group from continuing operations would have
been HK$238,194,000, and profit for the year
from continuing operations would have been
HK$34,570,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2022, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of
the Group had Hong Kong Institute of Professional
Studies Limited been acquired at the beginning
of the current year, the directors of the Company
calculated depreciation of property, plant and
equipment based on the recognised amounts of
property, plant and equipment at the date of the
acquisition.

Details of the above acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcement on 27 September 2022.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)
(i) Hong Kong Institute of Professional

Studies Limited (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group (Continued)

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Best
Take Global Limited and Hong Kong Institute of
Professional Studies Limited is attributable to the
anticipated profitability of the distribution of the
Group’s future development on the market of
financial quotient, investment education business
and broaden its business spectrum.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022

(M

KC Training Company Limited

0On 20 September 2021, the Company, Able Glorious
Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability, a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and Mr. Chung
Kar Ho, Carol (the "KC Training Vendor”) entered
into the sale and purchase agreement (the “KC
Training Agreement”) in relation to the acquisition
of the entire equity interest in KC Training Company
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability, which is wholly-owned
by the KC Training Vendor for a consideration of
HK$9,000,000 (the “KC Training Consideration”).

KC Training Company Limited, through its subsidiary,
is principally engaged in holding development
and training programs (the “Training Programs”)
with an aim to enhance selling techniques and
communication skills of the customers. The Training
Programs are specifically designed for the insurance
brokers and agents, who wish to enhance their
sales performance and customer relationships.
The directors of the Company consider that the
acquisition of KC Training Company Limited will
facilitate the Group to further expand the business
scope and revenue stream of the Financial Quotient
and Investment Education Business and is in line
with the business development strategy of the
Group.
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)
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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(b) During the year
(Continued)

ended 31 March 2022

(i) KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

On 11 November 2021, the Company, Able

Glorious Limited

and KC Training Vendor entered

into a supplemental agreement (the “KC Training
Supplemental Agreement”) and the principal
amendments contemplated under the KC Training
Supplemental Agreement are set out below:

1. The KC Training Consideration to the Vendor
has been amended and restated as follows:

The KC Training Consideration of HK$9,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) shall be satisfied
by Able Glorious Limited by four instalments
according to the following schedule:

(i) First

instalment in the sum of

HK$2,000,000 will be satisfied upon
completion of the acquisition in the
following manner:

(@)

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2023

as to HK$1,000,000 by cash; and

settlement of debts of
HK$1,000,000 owed by the KC
Training Vendor to KC Training
Company Limited (the “KC
Training Assumed Liabilities”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(i) KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

1. The KC Training Consideration to the Vendor
has been amended and restated as follows:
(Continued)

(i)  Second instalment in the sum
of HK$3,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) will be satisfied within
14 business days upon issuance of
the audited financial statements of the
company for the year ending 31 March
2022 in the following manner:

(@  asto HK$1,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) in cash; and

(b)  asto HK$2,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) by the issue of the
promissory note in the principal
amount of HK$2,000,000 by the
Company to the KC Training
Vendor (or its nominee(s)) (the
"KC Training Promissory Note A").
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(i) KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

200

The KC Training Consideration to the Vendor
has been amended and restated as follows:
(Continued)

(i)  Third instalment in the sum of
HK$3,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) will be satisfied within
14 business days upon issuance of
the audited financial statements of the
company for the year ending 31 March
2023 in the following manner:

(@) asto HK$1,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) in cash; and

(b)  asto HK$2,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) by the issue of the
promissory note in the principal
amount of HK$2,000,000 by the
Company to the KC Training
Vendor (or its nominee(s)) (the
"KC Training Promissory Note B").

Legendary Education Group Limited

Annual Report 2023

38. WEEKBEAR 4

(b) RBE=FB=-=—F=A=+-—
HIEFE (&)
() KC Training Company
Limited (&)
1. FLAEFZKC Trainingt
BRETRERWDT :
(#)

(iii)

% = HJ #£3,000,000
7 7T (7] F 3 %)
HREBE_T_=
F=ZA=+—H1t
FEZARRREE
M B RREMER
TOEE R AR
PVES SN

@ MNUREH
1,000,0005%
7T (] T #
) R

by FH @ H X
A A MmKC
Training®&
(8 K R
B N) AT
Kee@ER
2,000,000
75 7T B A,
£ & ([KC
Training7& i,
= EB]) X
12,000,000
B (A T

BE) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022

(Continued)

(i) KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

1. The KC Training Consideration to the Vendor
has been amended and restated as follows:
(Continued)

(iv)

Fourth instalment in the sum
of HK$1,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) will be satisfied by the
issue of the promissory note in the
principal amount of HK$1,000,000 by
the Company to the KC Training Vendor
(or its nominee(s)) within 14 business
days upon issuance of the audited
financial statements of the company for
the year ending 31 March 2024 (the “KC
Training Promissory Note C", together
with the “KC Training Promissory Note
A" and “KC Training Promissory Note B”,
the “KC Training Promissory Notes").
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

38. WEEKBEAR 4

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022 (b) RBZE-FE-_—_F=A=+—
(Continued) HIEFEE (&)
(i) KC Training Company Limited (Continued) (i) KC Training Company

2. The KC Training Vendor irrevocably and
unconditionally guarantees to Able Glorious
Limited that the actual net profits for each of
the three years ending 31 March 2022, 2023
and 2024 shall be no less than HK$2,000,000.

The principal terms of the KC Training
Promissory Notes are as following:

Principal amount:

Limited (&)

2.

KC Training® 7 4 a] #
8 B & & 4 b mADle
Glorious Limited#&{RE =
s S
rZE-mFE=A=+—
Hit=EFESFHER
% A 1§ A~ 4> 122,000,000
AT ©

T XEFIKC Trainingr %,

SRZERHER

HK$2,000,000 for KC Training Promissory Note A, HK$2,000,000 for

KC Training Promissory Note B and HK$1,000,000 for KC Training
Promissory Note C, with an aggregate amount of HK$5,000,000.

PING ek B KC Training# % Z#A 42,000,000/ 7T * KC Training# & =B A
2,000,000/ 7T &2KC Trainingz ¥, £ #&C 41,000,000/ 7T - 858 &
5,000,000/ 7T °

Interest: 5% per annum from the date of issue of the KC Training
Promissory Notes and payable monthly in arrears

FE B 81TKC Training& 5 =4 B B FI = 5% - i AT

Maturity: 3 years from the date of issue of the KC Training Promissory
Notes

FIER - B E1TKC Training& i =15 B ##e 5134

Early repayment:

The Company may pay to the Vendor prior to the maturity date

any outstanding principal amount (together with the outstanding
accrued interests) of the KC Training Promissory Notes

REEE

A

Ao (ERAEERTHE)

The completion date of the acquisition was
on 11 November 2021.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(i) KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

The acquisition has been accounted for as the
acquisition of business using the acquisition
method and the details are as following:

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
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38. WEEKMEB AT (&)
(b) RBE-FB-_—_F=A=+-—
HIEFE (&)
() KC Training Company
Limited (&)
ZWEFEREREBRREDE
REEEAR  FEOT

HK$'000
TET

Consideration transferred in the ZWBEEREENAE:

acquisition:

— Cash consideration paid —BRReRE 1,000

- Other financial liabilities —HthemaE

(note below and note 27) (8 T XKt KM aE27) 7,203

Total consideration BAE 8,203
Analysis of assets acquired and liabilities  AUkkE B FIKIBHEE R Fre

recognised as at the date of acquisition ROBEDN GRIRREERE

determined on a provisional basis: E) :
Intangible assets WA E 975
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TBRRIE -~ ke RHE b W ERIE 1,339
Amount due from a director U EE = 58 830
Tax recoverable AU [ 1R 151
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRSEED 1,700
Contract liabilities ARAaE (2,540)
Accruals and other payables FEETE A I E b JE T 30E (127)
Fair value of the net assets BEFEIATE 2,328
Less: KC Training Assumed Liabilities B+ KC TrainingFT&EA & (1,000)
Fair value of net assets acquired on the WEEBRCOKBEEEFEZ

acquisition NE 1,328

Goodwill on acquisition determined on a
provisional basis:

WEEE (REREEERE) :

Total consideration BRE 8,203
Fair value of net assets acquired EWEEEFE2ATE (1,328)
Goodwill S 6,875

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WHEFEENESRAFE
Cash consideration paid BfRERE 1,000

Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances B WENRe RIREEEY
acquired ik (1,700)
(700)
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

204

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)

KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

Note: At the date of acquisition, the Group recognised
as other financial liabilities of the Group the
KC Training Promissory Notes issuable by the
Company upon meeting the KC Training Promissory
Guarantee Profits at the present values of the
KC Training Promissory Notes that are expected
to be issued. Based on the assessment of the
management of the Company, the probability the
full amount of the contingent consideration would
not eventually have to be issued was not significant
at the date of acquisition and at the end of the
reporting period.

Goodwill which arose on the acquisition included
a control premium. The consideration paid for the
business combination effectively included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development of
the company. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible
assets. The goodwill is not deductible for income
tax purposes.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
initial accounting for the above acquisition in
the consolidated financial statements has been
determined provisionally as the Group is awaiting
the final results of an independent valuation in
relation to net assets of KC Training Company
Limited and its subsidiary acquired in the
transaction.

With reference to a valuation conducted by an
independent professional valuer, the valuation
has been completed during the year. Based on
the completed valuation, there has no changes
to the amounts of the identifiable net assets and
goodwill in the consolidated financial statements
of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)

(M

KC Training Company Limited (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year is HK$5,807,000
attributable to the additional business generated by
KC Training Company Limited. Revenue for the year
includes HK$7,519,000 generated from KC Training
Company Limited.

Had the acquisition of KC Training Company Limited
been completed on 1 April 2021, revenue for the
year of the Group from continuing operations
would have been HK$116,111,000, and profit for the
year from continuing operations would have been
HK$27,213,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2021, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

In determining the 'pro-forma’ revenue and profit
of the Group had KC Training Company Limited
been acquired at the beginning of the current
year, the directors of the Company calculated
depreciation of property, plant and equipment
based on the recognised amounts of property, plant
and equipment at the date of the acquisition.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcement on 20 September 2021, 28 October
2021 and 11 November 2021,
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

206

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(ii) Brilliant Ever Global Limited

On 31 March 2022, the Company, Able Glorious
Limited and Mr. Leung Yu Hang (the “Brilliant
Ever Vendor”) entered into the sale and purchase
agreement (the “Brilliant Ever Agreement”) in
relation to the acquisition of the entire equity
interest in Brilliant Ever Global Limited, a company
incorporated in BVI with limited liability, which was
wholly-owned by the Brilliant Ever Vendor, for a
consideration of HK$40,000,000 (the “Brilliant Ever
Consideration”).

Brilliant Ever Global Limited, through its subsidiary,
is principally engaged in provision of financial
quotient and investment experience sharing
courses in Hong Kong. The directors of the
Company expect that the acquisition of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited will create synergy effect to the
existing business lines to the extent that it would
allow the Group to conduct cross-selling and cross-
marking exercises for other investment courses
currently offered by the Group.

The Brilliant Ever Consideration of HK$40,000,000
shall be satisfied by the Company in the following
manner:

() First instalment in the sum of HK$7,000,000
has been satisfied in the following manner
upon signing of the Brilliant Ever Agreement:

(@) asto HK$6,000,000 in cash; and

(b)  settlement of debts of HK$1,000,000
owed by the Brilliant Ever Vendor
to Brilliant Ever Global Limited (the
“Brilliant Ever Assumed Liabilities”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(ii) Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Second instalment in the sum of HK$6,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statements of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2023 by issue
of the Promissory Note A to the Brilliant Ever
Vendor (or its nominee(s)) (the “Brilliant Ever
Promissory Note A”").

Third instalment in the sum of HK$9,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statements of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2024 by issue
of the Promissory Note B to the Brilliant Ever
Vendor (or its nominee(s)) (the “Brilliant Ever
Promissory Note B").

Fourth instalment in the sum of HK$18,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of
the audited financial statements of the
company for year ending 31 March 2025
by issue of the Promissory Note C to the
Brilliant Ever Vendor (or its nominee(s)) (the
“Brilliant Ever Promissory Note C”, together
with the “Brilliant Ever Promissory Note A"
and “Brilliant Ever Promissory Note B, the
“Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes”).
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022

208

(Continued)

(iiy Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued) (i)
The Brilliant Ever Vendor irrevocably and
unconditionally guarantees to Able Glorious Limited
that the actual profits for each of year ending 31
March 2023, 2024 and 2025 shall be no less than
HK$5,000,000, HK$8,000,000 and HK$11,000,000,
respectively (the “Brilliant Ever Guaranteed

Profit(s)").

The principal terms of the Brilliant Ever Promissory
Notes are as follows:

Principal amount:

PN

Interest:
e

Maturity:
FH

Early repayment:

B

RFEE -

-

The completion date of the acquisition was on 31

March 2022.
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HIEEE &)
HEXKBRRERATE (&)
ZHEEEEAEBKERE
BN  SEmT

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(ii) Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued) (i)
The acquisition has been accounted for as the
acquisition of business using the acquisition

method the details are as follows:

HK$'000
FHT
(RENE| )
(#&E5)
Consideration transferred in the ZWBSEPEZENRE:
acquisition:
- Cash consideration —HERE 6,000
- Other financial liabilities —Hth e aE
(note (i) below and note 27) (BT Xhiz0)EAH27) 29,412
Total consideration BRE 35,412
Analysis of assets acquired and liabilities R AN EERFTER
recognised as at the date of acquisition WEEDW (2 TXHEI)
determined (note (ii) below):
Fixed assets BEEEE 187
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,389
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables FERFRIE ~ =& R H A YR IE 4,780
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 177
Contract liabilities AHAaE (1,128)
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R H AL FE FIE (84)
Lease liabilities HEaE (1,157)
Tax payables JERTRIR (876)
Fair value of the net assets BEFEZATE 3,288
Less: Brilliant Ever Assumed Liabilities B BOKFTAEEALE (1,000)
Fair value of net assets acquired on the WEEIRE KB EEFEY
acquisition NFEE 2,288
Goodwill on acquisition determined on a WBEE (RREEEERE) !
provisional basis:
Total consideration BRE 35,412
Fair value of net assets acquired BREEESFEZATE (2,288)
Goodwill SRS 33,124
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEBFEENRES R FHE .
Cash consideration paid ENRESRE 6,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances B WErR e MR EEBMES
acquired # (177)
5,823

EERABEEEERAF
2023 £k 209



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022

210

(Continued)
(ii) Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)
Notes:

0]

Other financial liabilities

At the date of acquisition, the Group recognised as
other financial liabilities of the Group the Brilliant
Ever Promissory Notes issuable by the Company
upon meeting the Brilliant Ever Guarantee Profits at
the present values of the Brilliant Ever Promissory
Notes that are expected to be issued. Based on the
assessment of the management of the Company,
the probability the full amount of the contingent
consideration would not eventually have to be
issued was not significant at the date of acquisition
and at 31 March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, based on the
assessment of the management of the Company,
there might have probability the full amount of
the contingent consideration relating the meeting
of the Brilliant Ever Guarantee Profits would not
eventually have to the paid and thus, the Brilliant
Ever Guarantee Profits regarding the acquisition
of Brilliant Ever Global Limited amounted to
HK$7,570,000 was recognised as “guarantee profit
— financial assets measures at fair value through
profit or loss” for the year ended 31 March 2023
and details of which are set out in note 25.

Analysis of assets acquired and liabilities recognised
as at the date of acquisition

At the date of acquisition, the Group recognised
intangible assets of HK$4,000,000. However, based
on the completed valuation, the Group recognised
intangible assets of nil and details of which are set
out in note 3.2.

Goodwill which arose on the acquisition included
a control premium. The consideration paid for the
business combination effectively included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development of
the company. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible
assets. The goodwill is not deductible for income
tax purposes adjusted in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in the future.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022
(Continued)
(ii) Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued) (ii)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
initial accounting for the above acquisition in
the consolidated financial statements has been
determined provisionally as the Group is awaiting
the final result of an independent valuation in
relation to other intangible assets and other net
assets of Brilliant Ever Global Limited and its
subsidiary acquired in the transaction.

With reference to a valuation conducted by an
independent professional valuer, the valuation
has been completed during the year. Based on
the completed valuation, there were changes to
the amounts of the net assets and goodwill in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company
and details are set out in note 3.2.

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

The completion date of the acquisition was
completed on 31 March 2022 and the profit and
revenue for the year attributed to the Group is
immaterial.

Had the acquisition of Brilliant Ever Global Limited
been completed on 1 April 2021, revenue for the
year of the Group from continuing operations
would have been HK$122,756,000, and profit for the
year from continuing operations would have been
HK$31,674,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2021, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022

(Continued)

(ii) Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group (Continued)
In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit
of the Group had Brilliant Ever Global Limited
been acquired at the beginning of the current
year, the directors of the Company calculated
depreciation of property, plant and equipment
based on the recognised amounts of property, plant
and equipment at the date of the acquisition.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcement on 31 March 2022.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of KC
Training Company Limited and Brilliant Ever
Global Limited is attributable to the anticipated
profitability of the distribution of the Group's future
development on the market of financial quotient
and investment education business.

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

212

(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023

Deemed disposal of Maxi Chain Enterprises
Limited

Pursuant to the YY Lam Shareholders’ Agreement,
Subscription and Further Subscription as described in
note 39(b)(ii) below, during the year ended 31 March
2023, the Group’s interest in Maxi Chain Enterprises
Limited was reduced from 90% to 80%. Accordingly, the
Subscription and the Further Subscription constitute a
deemed disposal of the equity interest in Maxi Chain
Enterprises Limited without loss of control and the
deemed disposal of the 10% equity interest in Maxi Chain
Enterprises Limited has been recognised in equity.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022

(M

Hung Lee Asia Trading Limited

As referred to in note 12, the Group discontinued
its “Wholesaling Business: wholesaling of seafood”
business subsequent to its disposal of its entire
equity interest in Hung Lee.

The net assets of Hung Lee at the date of disposal
were as follows:
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39. HEMBAR (&)
(b) BZ2-—FE-_—_F=HA=+—H
ILEE
(i) BRNENEZERAT
SANHE SE12FT i - AN E MR
EHPBRZ 2R E L L
HIHL B %R BRI %
ﬁ%o

BAREE ARz EEFAEN
T

HK$'000
FBTE

Consideration received: 2R E :

- Cash —He 35
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which % £Z&IRHNEEREES

control was lost: o
Deposit and other receivables e N EMERFRIE 80
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRESFEY 10
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R E MR FIR (716)
Deferred tax liabilities BEXERIBEEE (108)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEAaEFEE (734)

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary:

HE—BNBARNER :

Consideration received and receivable B ERRE 35
Net liabilities disposed of EHEAaEFE 734
NCI of Hung Lee BT B IR E (2,739)
Loss on disposal HEEE (1,970)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEELEZRERHFE

Consideration received: 2WRRE :

Cash consideration (included in other
receivables)
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of

BefRE GtARMRKIE)
B BHERITAERERS (10)

The impact of Hung Lee on the Group's results and
cash flows in the current and prior year is disclosed
in note 12.
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022

(Continued)
(ii) Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited

On 7 September 2021, the Company, Peaceful
Success Enterprises Limited (a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability, being a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company) and Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited
(@ company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability, which was dormant in previous years and
is wholly-owned by Peaceful Success Enterprises
Limited) entered into the shareholders’ agreement
(the "YY Lam Shareholders’ Agreement”) with
Defining Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability in which Mr. YY Lam owns
the entire share capital of Defining Limited.

Pursuant to the YY Lam Shareholders’ Agreement,
Defining Limited shall subscribe for 10% of the
then enlarged issued share capital of Maxi Chain
Enterprises Limited (the "Subscription”), which
was scheduled to take place on 1 October 2021.
Mr. YY Lam would be appointed as the General
Manager and the chairman of Board of directors
of Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited. In order to
provide incentive to Defining Limited, it shall have
the right to increase its shareholding in Maxi Chain
Enterprises Limited to 20% of the then issued share
capital of Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited on 1
October 2022 (the “Further Subscription”).

Upon completion of the Subscription, the Group’s
interest in Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited was
reduced from 100% to 90%. Upon completion
of the Further Subscription, the Group's interest
in Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited will further
be reduced from 90% to 80%. Accordingly, the
Subscription and the Further Subscription constitute
a deemed disposal of the equity interest in Maxi
Chain Enterprises Limited without loss of control.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the deemed
disposal of the 10% equity interest in Maxi Chain
Enterprises Limited has been recognised in equity.
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39. HENBLR (@)
(b) BE=F-—F=A=1+—H

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022

(Continued) IEFE (&)
(ii) Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited (i) FELEBRRAR (&)
(Continued)

In connection with the YY Lam Shareholders’
Agreement, the Company and Maxi Chain
Enterprises Limited entered into the service
agreement (the “YY Lam Service Agreement”) with
Sure Wisdom Corporation Limited (a company
wholly-owned by Mr. YY Lam) and Mr. YY Lam on
7 September 2021. Pursuant to the YY Lam Service
Agreement, Sure Wisdom Corporation Limited
has agreed to (i) provide teaching services at
the Schools for the private supplemental Chinese
Language courses targeted at Hong Kong secondary
school students (including but not limited to HKDSE
students) (the "Courses”) targeted at HKDSE
students during the period from 1 December 2021
and 31 August 2024 (the "Term”), and (ii) engage
Mr. YY Lam as the designated tutor to teach the
courses.

Mr. YY Lam has been well known in the market
as the “Star Tutor” with a proven prominent track
record of helping his students to improve their
examination results in Chinese Language and has
extensive experience in the provision of private
supplementary education courses to student.

Pursuant to the YY Lam Service Agreement, the
Company has agreed to pay to Mr. YY Lam and
Sure Wisdom Corporation Limited the sign-on
bonuses (the “Sign-on Bonuses”) in the total sum
of HK$25,900,000. The directors of the Company
consider that the Sign-on Bonuses represent the
services to be provided by Mr. YY Lam to the
Group, and thus, the amount would be charged to
profit or loss over the term of the YY Lam Service
Agreement. Subsequent to the entering into the
YY Lam Shareholders’ Agreement with Mr. YY
Lam as mentioned above, the Group commenced
a new business segment relating to the “Private
Supplementary Education Business”.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 7 September 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 40. KRR BH MR R R REE
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment YIZE - BB Skt
Investment in subsidiaries I B AR R E
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments and deposits AN FIERIRS = -
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR KIS A RIFkIE 216,080 212,950
Cash and cash equivalents BeRIAESEEY 258 5

216,338 212,955
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FET KIS A RIZkIE 53,862
Other payables and accrued expenses HAtb e 5RIE R FERT RS2 1,317

55,179
Net current assets REBEERE 161,159 158,318
Net assets EEFEE 161,167 158,330
Capital and reserves BEAXEH#HE
Share capital &N 197 179
Reserves R 160,970 158,151
Total equity RS 4aER 161,167 158,330
The statement of financial position of the Company was ARG ZHBERARER S =F A
approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors =tHEZEFSIERBENE  WH T
on 30 June 2023 and are signed on its behalf by: BEREREE:
Yuen Yu Sum Chan Lap Jin Kevin
RWRE BRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_T-_=—F=ZA=1+—HIFE

40. FRQFHMBMR R HE (&)

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Movements in the Company’s reserves are as follows:

AR HEESWT

Share Accumulated
Share Share  Special option (losses)/
capital premium  reserve  reserve profits Total
25t (E8)
BAR  ROEE HEREE BRERE /&l @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT THET THEx AT FHET
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-—FMA—H 154 78,152 56,102 5,437 (4,956) 134,889
Profit and total FREF R ANRGEE
comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 14,169 14,169
Dividend recognised as 2 AAIERMR S (F3713)
distribution (note 13) - (26,248) - - - (26,248)
Issue of shares BTG (H1734(B)@)
(note 34(B)(a)) 24 33,226 - - - 33,250
Exercise of share options {7 IE
(notes 34(B)(b) and 35) (H1:234(B)(b) % 35) 1 2,269 - - - 2,270

At 31 March 2022 and

R-E-—#=A=+—H

1 April 2022 R-E--#MA—H 158,330
Loss and total FREERZERXEE

comprehensive

expense for the year (2,810)
Issue of bonus shares BATHLRR (H7734(4))

(note 34(A)) =
Recognition of equity- TR R E i gL

settled share option (Hiz£35)

arrangement (note 35) 5,647

At 31 March 2023

RZEZ=f=R=+—-H

56,102

BEEREEBERRARA

161,167
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in
respective notes, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

(A) Categories of financial instruments

EXREBEE
AEMEBHER - RRAEMLERLE
WIHES S ANEBECERTEARE
AR EIER - AR [ 2 88 5 0 £ 5 4 4
A -

AEENEARBEEESFHE (REXHE
BAMERENERREERRE)  BE MR
EEBMFRARRRBEE AREER
(BREDBHITIRARHR) -

(A) T EER
2023

—E_=F
HK$°000

FET

2022

—E -
HK$'000
FETT

Financial assets SREE
- Trade receivables — BB REWGA 5,974
- Loan receivables — EURER 43,217
- Other receivables and prepayments — — E b fE U 218 K& 78 3118 28,737
— Amount due from an associate — FEURE & N B FIE =
- Cash and cash equivalents - RekReEED 48,599
- Financial assets at FVTPL — B AFERF AR

SREE 11,930
Financial liabilities TREE

— Trade and other payables (note below) — & 5 K E {th f& {+ 28

(8 TxHiaz)
- Bank and other borrowings — RITRHMEE
— Lease liabilities -HEAaE

58,007
5,000
22,042

Note: The amount included the other financial liabilities relating
to the acquisition of certain companies for both years.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and other price risk. The
Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group
to manage these risks are described below.

(@) Fair values

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair
value of the Group's financial instruments
measured at the end of the reporting period
on a recurring basis, categorised into the
three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The
level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technigue as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs, that is,
unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs, that is, observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs
for which market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

41. EXEARER (&)
(B) 2MEMESEREREE

AEBZEMTATRNIZARE
EANERER - SNERR - EERR
MEVE DR N EAMERRR - NE
I TED e 5 L B ) el ) R R S R AR DA
EEZFRERNTREREIEBRR K
BT -

(@ =~¥E

(i) BAFEIAENZHEE
REE
N FEER
TREIRBEAMBR
HERFE1R A FEF
2 THRWBRERRE
HAEEERITAEZ AT
B EoBEA=ErFE
E8 - NHERTENSE
HERMATAE AZERL
AR REEMIEAT
FREE -

. E—RinE: EE
RE— 8 AR
(Wit EEHEA
AR A A S
IS Lo AT
BHE) HEND
FiE

o EBRfhE:EM
EZMBAHE
(BT EaE—R
FEM BB A
BB FFENRF
B BTEERE
R BRG AR
B TRAIBRBEA
BUB R ARBEES T
IR B ABUR

o F=RMHE:ER
BEANATERE A
BB ENRTE

EERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(a) Fair values (Continued)

220

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group has a team headed by the finance
manager with the assistance of independent
professionally qualified valuers to perform
valuations for the financial instruments,
including unlisted equity investment which
is categorized into Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. The team reports directly to the
executive directors and the audit committee.
A valuation report with analysis of changes
in fair value measurement is prepared
by the team at each interim and annual
reporting date, and is reviewed and approved
by the executive directors. Discussion of
the valuation process and results with the
executive directors and the audit committee
is held every three months to coincide with
the reporting dates.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_T-_=—F=ZA=1+—HIFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 41. EXEBERE (&)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) &mEMEEBEREE &)
and policies (continued)
(a) Fair values (Continued) (@ 2¥E#E)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities () BHAFEFABHEHMEE
measured at fair value (Continued) RERE (&)

ANFEER (&)
Fair value measurement
DAYEE
Fair value Level 1 Level 2
AYE - ok
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

\ e —
BJL B7JT

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023 R-B-=fZf=+-H
Recurring fair value LEMLTFEAE

measurements:
Assets -1
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEABRNSREE
- Equity securities listed in - REB LT REES
Hong Kong 824 N/ATEHA N/ATER
- Investment funds - AR N/ATEF 1,346 N/ATER
- Profit guarantees in relation  — B EAUUEER B A RIAEF
to acquisition of subsidiaries & N/ATEF N/ATEHA 9,760

824 1,346 9,760

As at 31 March 2022 R-B-—fE=f=+-H
Recurring fair value LEMLTFEAE

measurements:
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL BLTESAERRSREE
- Equity securities listed in - REB LM REES
Hong Kong 439 N/ATER N/ATEF
- Investment funds -REES N/ARER 1,554 N/ATER

439 1,554 N/ATEH

BEHESEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

41. EXREARER (&)
(B) 2REAMRESEREREE (&)

(@) Fair values (Continued) (@) AY¥E#E)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities (i) BRAFEIENEHEE
measured at fair value (Continued) REME (&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and
2023, there were no transfers between Level
1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group's policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at
the end of the reporting period in which they
occur.

During the year ended 31 March 2022,
the Group disposed the unlisted equity
investment to an independent third party
and no unlisted equity investment was held
by the Group as at 31 March 2022.

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

NFEER (E)
BE_ZT-_—_Fr=F
—=FZAZ=t+—HIF
B B-HREE_REL
mEY - EEARED
FE=M o AEBBER TR
HESNSRERRERR
FEESLBNEE -

Bz_Z2-_—-_4=ZAH
=T—HIFE  ~&F
MEE=THEF LT
BAZERR T —_—F
=A=+—8 ~EEH
BB LTRARSE -

BEE A TEHEY
“H

Revenue
Valuation techniques growth rates range
EER M WA B R = &
Profit guarantees in Probability weighted 5-15%
relation to acquisition of expected return method
subsidiaries
ERAKENBARMEFRE BERNETEHRD®RE 5-15%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(a) Fair values (Continued)

(ii)

Fair value of financial assets and
liabilities carried other than fair value
For the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
not measured at fair value in the consolidated
statement of financial position but for which
the fair value is disclosed, the carrying
amounts of bank and other borrowings and
promissory note payables approximated to
their fair values and were determined as
Level 3.

The fair values of bank and other borrowings
and promissory note payables have been
calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk
and remaining maturities. The Group’s own
non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings was assessed
to be insignificant and the fair values of the
non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings approximate to their
carrying amounts.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

41. EXEARER (&)
(B) 2REAKMRESEREREE (&)

(@ 2FEE

(ii)
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FEAS 7 SRR O PR (B £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=F=RA=+—HILFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

224

(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Group.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
loan receivables and trade and other receivables.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

The Group has taken measures to identify credit
risks arising from loan business. The Group
manages credit risk at every stage of the risk
management system, including pre-approval,
review and credit approval and post-transaction
monitoring processes. The Group conducts
customer acceptance and due diligence during the
pre-approval process. A transaction is subject to
the review and approval by the executive directors.

During the post-transaction monitoring process,
the Group performs credit evaluations on each
and every major customer periodically. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.

Certain loans granted are backed by collateral
(e.g. property, unlisted equity investments) as
security. The Group also focuses on ascertaining
legal ownership and the valuation of the collateral.
The Group closely monitors the ownership and
the value of the collateral throughout the loan
period. The loan receivables are due by the date
as specified in the corresponding loan agreements.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

41. EXEARER (&)
(B) 2REAKMRESEREREE (&)

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) FERME &)

In accordance with accounting policies, if there is
objective evidence that indicates the cash flows
for a particular loan is expected to decrease, and
the amount can be estimated, the loan is recorded
as an impaired loan and the impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s policy requires regular review of
the quality of individually significant financial
assets. For assets for which an allowance for
impairment loss is provided individually, the amount
is determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss
at the reporting date on a case-by-case basis. In
making such assessments, the Group considers the
value of collateral held and expected future cash
flows from the asset.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country
in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 27% (2022: 29%) and 76% (2022: 82%) of
the loan receivables was due from the Group's
largest loan debtor and the five largest loan debtors
respectively.

RIFSFTER - W EBEBRR
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EFIENEEATER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
The Group adopts a loan risk classification approach
to manage its loan receivables portfolio risk. Loan
receivables are categorised into the following
stages by the Group:

226

Stage 1:

Stage 2:

Stage 3:

Loan receivables have not experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since
origination and impairment recognised
on the basis of 12 months expected
credit losses (12-month ECLS).

Loan receivables have experienced
a significant increase in credit risk
since origination and impairment is
recognised on the basis of lifetime
expected credit losses (Lifetime ECLS
non-credit impaired).

Loan receivables that are in default and
considered credit impaired (Lifetime
ECLs credit-impaired).

The Group applies the ECL model to measure the
impairment loss of the loan receivables.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

41. EXEARER (&)
(B) 2REAKMRESEREREE (&)

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) FERME &)

Parameters of ECL measurement

According to whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk and whether there is an impairment
of assets, the Group measures the impairment
loss for different assets with ECL of 12 months or
the entire lifetime respectively. The key measuring
parameters of ECL include probability of default
(PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure at
default (EAD). Based on the requirements of HKFRS
9, the Group takes into account the quantitative
analysis of historical statistics (such as ratings of
counterparties, manners of guarantees and types
of collaterals, repayments, etc.) and forward looking
information in order to establish the model of PD,
LGD and EAD.

Relative definitions are listed as follows:

PD refers to the possibility that the debtor will not
be able to fulfil its obligations of repayment over the
next 12 months or throughout the entire remaining
lifetime. The Group’s PD is adjusted based on the
results of the internal rating-based approach, taking
into account the forward-looking information and
deducting the prudential adjustment to reflect the
debtor’s point-in-time (PIT) PD under the current
macroeconomic environment;

LGD refers to the Group's expectation of the extent
of the loss resulting from the default exposure.
Depending on the type of counterparty, the method
and priority of the recourse, and the type of
collaterals, the LGD varies,

EAD is the amount that the Group should be
reimbursed at the time of the default in the next 12
months or throughout the entire remaining lifetime.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE-_ZT—

=F=ZA=+—HLFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Forward-looking information

The assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk and the calculation of ECL both involve
forward-looking information. Through the analysis
of historical data, the Group identifies the key
economic indicators that affect the credit risk and
ECL of various business types.

The impact of these economic indicators on the PD
and the LGD varies according to different types of
business. The Group applied experts’ judgement
in this process, according to the result of experts’
judgement, the Group predicts these economic
indicators on a quarterly basis and determines the
impact of these economic indicators on the PD and
the LGD by conducting regression analysis.

Legendary Education Group Limited
228 Annual Report 2023

41. EXREARER (&)
(B) 2REAMRESEREREE (&)

(b)

FERR (&)

BIREMtEH

BEXREEREIE NG LA
HEEBRMEEY RATE %
Br - AEBBBETESLH
Bt BRHEESEHE
NEERRMEREEERN
FRBHEIETEIR -

ZELEREHROB R
WBRENETE  HIARNE
BRAEATR - AEBEN
BRETEATERHENTS
X REERHABHER - K
SESFRERELBERE
T80 WiBBETE RO
BEZSEBEEHEOME
FOBKPBRERNTE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

41. EXEARER (&)
(B) 2REAKMRESEREREE (&)

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(b) FERME &)

Modification of contractual cash flows

A modification or re-negotiation of a contract
between the Group and a counterparty may result
in a change to the contractual cash flows without
resulting in the derecognition of the financial assets.

Such restructuring activities include extended
payment term arrangements, repayment schedule
modifications and changes to the interest
settlement method. The risk of default of such
assets after modification is assessed at the
reporting date and compared with the risk under
the original terms at initial recognition, when the
modification is not substantial and so does not
result in derecognition of the original asset and
the book value of the financial asset is recalculated
and the related gain or loss is included in current
profit and loss. The recalculated book value of the
financial asset is determined based on the present
value of the contractual cash flows following the
renegotiation or modification, as calculated using
the original effective interest rate of the financial
asset.

The Group monitors the subsequent performance
of modified assets. The Group may determine that
the credit risk has significantly improved after
restructuring, so that the assets are moved from
Stage 3 or Stage 2 to Stage 1. At 31 March 2023,
the Group did not have any of financial assets with
such modified contractual cash flows (2022: HK$nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 41. EXRBER (&)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) £RIEMEEEFERBR (&)
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)y FERMK (&)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables FEREFHET RS
(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral () IEEAEIEEE S 6 EWK

EXFEIE RS
Loans secured by
EXANTREEER
Guarantee
Unsecured Propertiesand  provided by
loans  otherassets third parties Total
mE=H
BEREY MERHMEE REER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén THR TEr ThER

type with maturity profile

As at 31 March 2023 R-B-=£=f=1-A
Dug within 3 months or on demand JMEAMIIHSREREE 1,500 6,500 1,523 9,523

Due after 3months but within 6 months — 3(E B 44(R6fE A R E|4 29,585 - 31,798
Dug after 6 months but within 6l A% {R12/ A mEIE
12 months 11,622 11,622
Due after 12 months 1ERKIE = =
47,707 52,943
Less: Impairment W RE (7,421) (9,726)
40,286 43,217
As at 31 March 2022 R-B--f=f=1-A
Due within 3 montfs or on demand BRI RE AR 6,500 6,500
Due after 3 months but within 6 months — 3(BLA {4 (E6(E A M3 9,152 9,152
Due after 6 months but within ¢EREEEARE
12 months 24,526 34,246
Due after 12 months 12EA%IE = =
40,178 49,898
Less: Impairment B E (7,31) (,775)

32,867 42123
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE_T-_=—F=ZA=1+—HIFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 41. EXRBRER (&)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) £emEMEEBRERBER &)
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)y EERMK (&)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables ENREF = EE ()
(Continued)
(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral (i) AR E 5 6 fEY

EXEEEZST (8)
Loans secured by
BRANTEEEER
Guarantee
Unsecured Propertiesand  provided by
loans  otherassets third parties
HEZH
BERES MERHAEE RitER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx THR ThR

type with credit quality (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023 R-B-=%=f=1-H
Loan receivables that are credit [EERERRER
impaired
- Not past due - R 2213
- Less than 3 montfs past due - BB 3EA =
- Over 3 months past due - BB 6,500
- Overdue rescheduled loans -AEREAER s
6,500 8,713
Less: Impairment B (6,500) (8173)

Loan receivables that are not credit REEHEEYER

impaired

- Not past due - R 41,207 44,230
- Less than 3 months past due - B8R A =

- Over 3 months past cue - BHHiE3EA -

- Overdue rescheduled loans - BHREAER -

Less: Impairment W e (56) (1,013)

(1,467) 43217
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 41. EXRBER (&)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) eMEMEEBEREEK @)
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)y FERMK (&)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables EREF = EE (F)
(Continued)
(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral (i) G ART RS aEH

EXEEEZST (8)
Loans secured by

type with credit quality (Continued)

ERAN TR EEER
Guarantee
Unsecured Propertiesand  provided by
loans  otherassets third parties Total
HEZH
BEREY MERHGEE RitER )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#R T T ThR
As at 31 March 2022 RZBZZE=F=1-A
Loan receivables that are credit EERERKER
impaired
- Not past due qNaLl - - - -
- Less than 3 montfs past due - BER3EA - - - -
- Over 3months past due - AERB3ER - 6,500 - 6,500
- Overdue rescheduled loans - AR EAER - - - -
- 6,500 - 6,500
Less: Impairment WmE - (6,500) - (6,500)
Loan receivables that are not credit REEHEEUER
impaired
- Not past due - A 9,720 3678 - 13398
- Less than 3 months past due — B8 HIE A - - - -
- Over 3 months past due - BEREEA - - - -
- Overdue rescheduled loans - BHEEAER - - - -
9,720 33678 - 43398
Less: Impairment B A (464) (817 - (1,275)
9,256 32867 - 2123
9,256 32,867 - 2123
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Reconciliation of changes in gross carrying
amount and allowances for loan receivables
The table below provides a reconciliation of the
Group’s gross carrying amount and allowances for
loan receivables for the year ended 31 March 2022
and 2023. The transfers of financial instruments
represent the impact of stage transfers upon the
gross carrying amount and associated allowance
for ECL. The net remeasurement of ECL arising from
stage transfers represents the increase in ECL due
to these transfers.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE_Z_=—F=-A=1—HLFE

41. EXEARER (&)
(B) 2REAKMRESEREREE (&)

(b)

EERE (&)
ERESROREEREEE
Eo 3
TERENEE_T__FF_
Z_=F=A=T—HILFE
&2 B IR B SRR T 4B
BHYE - ¢t TAMEEAR
REHRELRBBREREES
BREEENTE REEE
EENBEHEEBRENZ
SFRERERARZETER MBI
M EME BB 1RIGN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T_=F=A=+—HILFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 41. EXRBER (&)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) £REAMREEBERBR (@)
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)y FERMK (&)
Reconciliation of changes in gross carrying FEREFREAEEREEE
amount and allowances for loan receivables AR (8)

(Continued)

Non-credit impaired Credit impaired
AEERE EERE

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

F1RE B KA st
Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance
exposure forECL  exposure forECL  exposure forECL  exposure for ECL
88  FEBE 8%  FEBE 88  FEBE a8 EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TR Thn Tén Thn Tén Thn Tén

At 1 April 2021 R-E--ERA-H 75120 (2,025) 6,500 (6,500) 81,620 (8,525)
New loans/financing originated REHER/BE 35,694 - - - 35,694 -
Loans/financing derecognized or repaid R | EEAE D EEH

during the year (other thanwrite-offs) &3 /B8 (i) (65,440) (65,440)
Written off i (1,976) | (1,976)
Modification loss ETEE

Transfer to 12-month expected credit ~ EBZVEAEREEFE

loss (stage 1) (E1%)

Transfer to lfetime expected credit  ERZ2HEMESES
loss not credit-mpaired (stage 2) (REERE) (BRR)
Transfer to lfetime expected credit ~ EBZ2HAEMESES

loss credit-impaired (stage 3 (BEERE) (23%R)
Total transfer between stages ERBNER G
Impact on year end expected creditloss  £RXEREBARUERE
of exposures transferred hetween HEEEENYE
stages during the year - -
Movements due to changes incredit sk~ EERRE D 2|5i¢0% (1,235) (1,235)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZE--FZA=+-Rk
“E--EmfE-A 43,398 (1,275) 6,500 (6,500) 49,898 (7.775)
New loans/financing originated REHER /BB 12,063 - - - 12,062 -
Loans/financing derecognized or repaid  FRAHREAFE EEE)
during the year (other than wiite-offs) &3/ 25 (ki) (9,018) (9,018)
Written off bk = .
Modification loss EIEE =
Transfer to 12-month expected credit  BHEEARBEEER
loss (stage 1) (B15) = = =
Transfer toliletime expected creclt  EBE2HEAELEIE
loss not credit-mpaired (stage 2) (REEWE) (EHR) (2,213) 2,213 (139)
Transfer tolietime expected creclt  EBZ2FEAELEIE
loss credit-impaired (stage 3 (BEERE) (£3ER) = = s s
Total transfer between stages ERANEG A (2,213) 139 ) (139)
Impact on year end expected creditloss  FRERAEREREERE
of exposures transferred between BEEFRNZE
stages during the year = = =
Movements due to changes in credit risk ~ ZEEREE 3/ M5 123 (2,074) (1,950)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZZFZA=1+-4 44,230 (1,013) 8,713 (8,713) 52,942 (9,725)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 41. EXEBERE (&)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) £mEAMEEEERERXK (&)
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERR (&)
Movements of expected credit loss of loan EREHAREEEEZE
receivables

Non-credit Credit
impaired impaired Total
AMEERE EERE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THETL TABT

Movement of ECL of loan WS RTESEEERE

receivables
At 1 April 2021 R-ZZE-—FMA—H 2,025 6,500 8,525
Reversal of ECL for the year — FREH(ZEEEREE (750) - (750)
At 31 March 2022 and W_ZE-—F=F=+—HRK

1 April 2022 “T-FA—H 1,275 6,500 7,775
Reversal of ECL for the year  FRFEHEE EERED (262) 2,213 1,951
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=F=F=1+—H 1,013 8,713 9,726
Definitions of Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 are FIRE F_EBERFE=E
described above. BHERHN L3 -
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e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=F=RA=+—HILFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

236

(iii)

Other credit risk

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk
is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the
customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise
when the Group has significant exposure
to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 38% (2022: 21%) and 75%
(2022: 36%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group's largest trade debtor and
the five largest trade debtors respectively
within the OEM Business and Wholesaling
Business segment.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are usually due
within 30 days to 60 days from the date of
billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from trade customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group's historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on
past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer
bases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 41.

(B) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iii) Other credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The following table provides information
about the Group’s exposure to credit risk
and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 March

2023 and 2022:

As at 31 March 2023

R-ZE-=%=A=t+-H

Current (not past due) mE) CRaE)
110 30 days past due #E1ZE30H

3110 60 days past due BH31ZE60H
6110 90 days past due BH61ZE90H
Over 91 days past due BEREE91A

As at 31 March 2022

R-ZBE-_—§=F=+-H

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

EXERER (8)
(B) £REAKREEEERKE &)

(b) FERME &)

(iii)

Expected
credit loss
rate
EHEE

Bfti=EmpE (&)

B G REWE (&)
TREFIN-_Z_=FK
T -F=H=+—H
REE 7 FEERRMA K&
2 o EWGIETE B E S
BEH

Gross
carrying
amounts

Loss
allowance

fREAE
HK$'000

THT

BREE
HK$'000

BT

5,591

current (not past due) mE) (RaH) 1,336 -
110 30 days past due #H1230R - -
3110 60 days past due #EI31260H - -
6110 90 days past due BH61ZE0H - -
Over 91 days past due EHEEEH 9.2% 752 69

2,088 69

Expected loss rates are based on actual l0ss
experience and adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has
been collected, current conditions and the
Group's view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

BEEREEBERRARA

TEHERE T ERERE
IR BRI AT EE LA UL
S SE B BRI A A2 AR
S BRI R AN S E S
AR WRIRTE A IR A0 A
FERRNERNESR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 41. EXRBERE (&)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) ¢RAMEEEEZRECK &)
and policies (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)y FERMK (&)
(iii) Other credit risk (Continued) (iii) Et=EmbE (&)

Trade receivables (Continued) B ZEWFE ()
Movement in the loss allowance account in FNE FRWFIEEER
respect of trade receivables during the year HERZFHWT :
is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year FU s

Disposal on Hung Lee SIS F

Impairment losses recognised FAERARERIE

during the year

Balance at end of the year FRER
Other receivables Et W E
For other receivables and deposits, the directors of PEAMERFIERIEETE -
the Company make periodic individual assessment AR ESREBETENMNT
on the recoverability of other receivables and 8 BTEBUREEARR
deposits based on historical settlement records, BYXHNRREETERTHEE
past experience, and also quantitative and I SR e S PN sl )
qualitative information that is reasonable and AT U5 [B] 1% 3 77 5E B E Bl B A o
supportable forward-looking information. The ARAESRAEB VAR
directors of the Company believe that there are no RZFEFIENEE R EE
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts EIE A AR & B R E12(8 A
since initial recognition and the Group provided BHEEEERERE - &BZE
impairment based on 12m ECL. For the years ended CECCERIFEI=F=R
31 March 2022 and 2023, the Group assessed =+—RAIEFE  AEEFH
the ECL for other receivables and deposits were H UGB RiZe MTEHE
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was BEBWAEKX - AL S
recognised. RIEERE -
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41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily
from loan receivables, bank deposits, bank and
other borrowings, promissory note payables and
lease liabilities. Loan receivables, bank and other
borrowings, promissory note payables and lease
liabilities at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk.

Bank deposits are carried at low interest rates and
the interest income thereon is not significant.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BHE_Z_=—F=-A=+—HIFE

41. EXEARER (&)
(B) 2REAKMRESEREREE (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments
at the end of the reporting period:

41. EXREARER (&)
(B) ¢RIEMEEEEREE &)

() F=mEb (&)
FIE#R
TERHALAKEFEEMTA
RIRERRNFEEOR

Fixed interest rate

2023
p—

—_—_ =

Effective interest

rate

BRRAI=
%

B RIE

Financial assets SREE
- Loan receivables — BB S 5% to 12%
5%Z12%

Financial liabilities SHAR

- Bank and other - RITREMEE

borrowings 2.75% to 3.75%
2.75%%3.75%
- Lease liabilities -HEaR 2% t0 5.9%
2%Z£5.9%

Variable interest rate FENF&

Financial assets SREE
- Cash at bank - R 0.001%

Fixed rate instruments

as a percentage of net FESMIA
interest-bearing financial ~ FEE D

instruments

BlEME AL,
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2022

B

Effective interest

Amount ate

x| ] x
HK$'000

TR

Amount
et
HK$'000
b7

43,217 5% t0 12% 42,123
5%E12%

(5,000) 2.75% (5,000)

(22,042) 2% 10 5.9% (24,277)
2%%£5.9%

48,599 0.001% 21,018

64,774 33,864

37.9%




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(B) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Loan receivables, other borrowings, promissory
note payables and lease liabilities are fixed rate
instruments and are insensitive to any change in
interest rates. A change in interest rates at the
end of the reporting period would not affect profit
or loss.

The Group does not have significant exposure
to interest rates arising from variable rate cash
at bank, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Currency risk

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the executive
directors monitor its foreign exchange exposures
and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposures should the need arises. At
the end of the reporting period, there is minimal
exposure to currency risk by the Group as
substantially all financial assets and all financial
liabilities recognised are denominated in the
functional currency of the respective Group entities.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to the parent
company'’s board approval. The Group's policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
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41. EXEARER (&)
(B) 2REAKMRESEREREE (&)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_T_=F=A=+—HILFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 41. EXRBER (&)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) £emEMEEBERBR &)

and policies (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk (continued) (e) RBELERE (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative R EIR - NEEZIETHE
financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting TREBEREBESARERNK
period, based on the contractual undiscounted (BIEE ORI EL (1N EFE
payments including interest payments computed ) MR REBRR 2 BRITH
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on R E A BRIE) 2 BHIE
rates current at the end of the reporting period MEAEEEZ T A
and the earliest date the Group can be required to LU

pay, is as follows:

Contractual undiscounted cash flow
ANAMETRLTE
More than
Within1  More than 1 2 years but
yearoron yearbutless lessthan5 More than 5 Carrying

demand than 2 years years years Total amount
—ERg, - WER
BEXR EmER BRER BREE &t BEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR THR ThR TR THR ThER

As at 31 March 2023 WZBZ=ZF

ZA=+-8
Non-derivative financial L RaE
liabilities
Trade and other payables Lo L EAMERLTE 13,089 2,014 38,447 59,580 58,007
Bank borrowings SEEE 5723 - - 5723 5,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 13,079 8,765 1,238 23,082 22,042
31,891 10,779 39,685 88,385 85,049
As at 31 March 2022 R-B--F
=h=t-A
Non-derivative financial S RaE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ESREMERE 9.865 1,367 44,267 - 55,499 46,383
Bank and other borrowings BRERES 6,046 - - - 6,046 5000
Lease liabilities HERE 10,113 9,359 6,183 - 25,695 24,277
26,024 10,726 50,450 - 87,200 75,660
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 41. EXRBRER (&)
(B) Financial risk management objectives (B) £mEAMEEEERERXK (&)
and policies (continued)
(e) Liquidity risk (continued) (e) RBELER (&)

Bank and other borrowings with a repayment on Bt 542 SR E R IR RV ERTT 2
demand clause are included in the “within 1 year HhgEFt A LB EI B ST
or on demand” time band in the above maturity B [ —FRgiRZE k| B E
analysis. As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate NeRZBEZ=F=A=+—
carrying amounts of these bank loans amounted A ZERTERNEEDR
to HK$5,000,000 (2022 HK$5,000,000). Taking 8 45,000,000 T (=& = =
into account the Group's financial position, the £ : 5,000,000/7T) ° EEE| A
management does not believe that it is probable SEHM BN EEERR
that the banks will exercise their discretionary IRIT R AAREITR EMIEEE
rights to demand immediate repayment. The KENFER - ERERR - &
management believes that such bank and other FRITREMEERRIEER
borrowings will be repaid within five years after R Rt NEE e
the end of the reporting period in accordance with HRERFANEE  FHEER
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan Tk
agreements, details of which are set out in the
table below:

Maturity Analysis - Bank and other horrowings with
a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled
repayments
HHADN - HEREXRERFNRTREMES (ERTEHER)
More than  More than
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but

1yearor less than less than Over Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
= E —Ef WER
BEX EmER BRER RENE Eh) KafE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT TER TR TR ThT THET

As at 31 March 2023 RZB==E
ZRzt-8
Bank and other borrowings FIRAMEE

As at 31 March 2022 WoE--&
ZAz+-8
Bank and other borrowings RAIREMEE 516 478 5052 - 6,046 5,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-T-_=F=RA=+—HILFE

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 42. EXBEmETHNAEHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows

as cash flows from financing activities.

TRAVAKERELBELNAESE
BRASKIFRSES BRETPDELNE
BERREREFIARICRERENAEBLGRE

RAeREXRTORARELDELRSRE
MWBRE -

Promissory
note/
promissory
note Other
payables

borrowings
RERE

ERRLER Hitfg &

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT

At 1 April 2021

Changes from financing cash
flows

New leases entered

Interest expenses

Acquisition of subsidiaries

RZZE-_—FNA—H 57,440 11,200
REREREE

(58,290) (11,924)
AN RFHE - -
FEFAY 850 724
=1 =NG - 5,000

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April
2022

Changes from financing cash
flows

New leases entered

Interest expenses

Acquisition of a subsidiary

RZE-_—F#=ZA=+—H
N=ZZE-—FMNA—H
MERGHER

5,000

(143)
AIHHEE
MEFIX
Wi — IR A

At 31 March 2023

R-Z-_=F=f=+1—H
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Lease
liabilities Total
HESE fst
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FET
9,797 78,437
(5,212) (75,426)
17,916 17,916
619 2,193
1,157 6,157

24,277

(11,886)

8,749
902

29,277

(12,121)
8,749
1,137
2,491

29,533




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2023

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group agreed to
settle the debts of HK$1,200,000 owed by the Best Take Global
Limited regarding the acquisition of the entire equity interest
in Best Take Global Limited (see note 38(a)(i)).

Further, during the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
acquired certain property, plant and equipment with the
carrying amount of HK$6,459,000 through the entering into the
leasing arrangements with the counterparties.

During the year ended 31 March 2022

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group agreed to
settle the debts of HK$1,000,000 owed by the Brilliant Ever
Vendor to Brilliant Ever Global Limited regarding the acquisition
of the entire equity interest in Brilliant Ever Global Limited (see
note 38(b)(ii)).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group agreed to
settle the debts of HK$1,000,000 owed by the KC Training
Vendor to KC Training Company Limited regarding the
acquisition of the entire equity interest in KC Training Company
Limited. (see note 38(b)())).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group settled the
other payables of HK$33,250,000 to Mr. Poon Chi Ming through
the issuance and allotment of 246,296,296 ordinary shares of
the Company of HK$0.0001 each in the Company to Mr. Poon
Chi Ming (see note 34(B)(a)).

Further, during the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
acquired certain property, plant and equipment with the
carrying amount of HK$15,781,000 through the entering into
the leasing arrangements with the counterparties.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F="A=+—HILFE

. BERXFRERS
BE-ZE-=Ff=A=1+—HLHE
E

HE SEZA=+—BHILFE K&

H%?Mézﬁ%Best Take Global Limitedz &
EBRRFE 45T Best Take Global Limited4s /&R &9
1,200,000/ &7 (R HIFE38()(0)) °

S BE-F-=4=A=t+—ALF
€ AREBBRZHUF HTTRERS
N 5 T 1 /26,459,000/8 T80 5 F 0 ¢
RES 3R 15 ©

BE-_ZE-_—_F=A=+—HLF
E

REBEE-_Z-_—_F=ZA=+—HItFE &
EERESUWBEEACRIKER A 72 2 2R
R ZE IR IR E J7 i R BRI E R A 7]
91,000,000/ & (RMIEE38(D)()) °

HE-_Z-_—_F#=ZA=Z=+—HLFE"

7N 22 @ [/ & gk YL BEKC Training Company
Limited 2 3P A% # 45 FKC Training= 75 4 &
KC Training Company Limited#1,000,000/%
TUER (RMIFE38(0)I))

HE-_Z-_—_F=-A=+—HLEFE"
AEBMBEBRAFEESHEEETREE
246,296,296 1 B X TE {E0.0001 & TTHI A A Al
LRSS D E LR L AR B RIE
33,250,000/ 7T (RFT7E34B(@))

oy BE-_E-—_F£=A=+—HItF
B AEEFBRERSHFHIIVHERH
Ui B BR TE1 (B /215,781,000/8 T & T4 % -
R B AR o

EERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BERR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE-_Z-=F=A=+—HILFE

44. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 44. RATIMB AR ZFHE
COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the RER - AR R EE REEFERNE

Company at the end of the reporting period are set out below. NAEFFBEHIOT -

Attributable equity interest
Place of incorporation/ Issued and and voting power
operation fully paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities

ELAE 2t ERORARER ALRTAMBEERERREE FEXH
% %

Directly owned subsidiary

ERERHEAR
Multi Vision Development Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of 100 100 Investment holding
US$1 each
Mutti Vision Development Limited RERGHE /&5 BERETOL AR 100 100 BERK
Able Glorious Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of 100 100 Investment holding
US$1 each
Able Glorious Limited EBRABS/BR RERETHLER 100 100 RERR
Peaceful Success Enterprises Limited — BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of 100 100 Investment holding
US$1 each
BRAEERAT RERNEE/ B RERIETHLAR 100 100 HEER
Indirectly owned subsidiary
BEERMELR
Hong Kong Investor Education Limited  HK/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Provision of financial
(uotient and
investment education
courses
EAREEHFERDA Bk BE TRERER 100 100 PRENERREHERE
Able Rich Management Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of 100 100 Investment holding
US$1 each
ENEBERAA EERAHE /BE RBRIETHERR 100 100 ®ERR
L & A Group of Companies Limited ~ HK/HK 38,400,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Manufacturing, sales and
retailing of garment
products
e YN BB/ Eh 38,400,0008% &% 100 100 REEREE BERT
&
L & A Management Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding
L & A Management Limited REELHE/BE TRERER 100 100 RERR
Sun Dynamic Group Limited BVI/HK 3,000 ordinary shares of 100 100 Investment holding
US$1 each
Sun Dynamic Group Limited EERGER/EE  3000RERIETMLER 100 00 HERR

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z_=F=ZA=+—HLHFE

44. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 44. ELARMBE AR ZF#E (47)

COMPANY (continued)

Attributable equity interest

Place of incorporation/ Issued and and voting power
operation fully paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
HRERY /S BRIRAREER AQNAfMEEERERRER TEEK

% %

Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited HK/HK 1,000 ordinary share 80 80 Provision of financial
(uotient and
investment education
courses

RELEERAT Bh/B% 1,000 &R 80 80 REAMERREHERE

L & A Food Trading Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Property investment

LORMEFERAA BB/ Bk RE AR 100 100 MERE

L & A Solutions Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Money Lending

L & A Solutions Limited &8/ Bh REBER 100 00 HiE

Freemaker Institute Limited HK/HK 100 ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of financial
quotient and
investment education
courses

BEREEXEEERAT BE/BE 1008 & % 100 100 REFEHREEHERE

Bewisekid Holding Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding

Bewisekid Holding Limited RBRIES /B TRE AR 100 100 AR

Be Wise Kid Education Limited HK/HK 10,000 ordlinary shares 100 100 Provision of financial
Quotient and
investment education
courses

A HEBRAT BB/ BR 10,0008% & B 1% 100 100 REUHBHREEHERE

Initial Aim Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of 100 100 Investment holding

US$1 each

Initial Aim Limited EBRAHE/BE RERIETHLER 100 100 REHR

Prestige Concord Limited BVI/HK 1,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding

Prestige Concord Limited RERIEE/EH 1,000 L3k 100 100 AR

YH Group Limited HK/HK 150,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of financial
Quotient and
investment education
courses

TFEEEEERAR B/ BH 150,0000% &35 100 100 REHBHREEHERE

YH Education Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Provision of financial
quotient and
investment education
courses

TEHEARAR B/ Bh REBER 100 100 REHEREEHERE
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REPBHRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_Z_=F=RA=+—HIFE

44. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 44.

COMPANY (continued)

EANNSIL - PN A3 )

Attributable equity interest
and voting power
held by the Company  Principal activities

RRAMBRERERRTE TRER

Place of incorporation/ Issued and

operation fully paid-up capital

SR/ e BRTRAZER

98 SHH Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of
US$1 each

98 SHH Limited EERAHE /BE RERIETHEER
31 Edutech Limited HK/HK 3,000 ordinary shares
31 Edutech Limited B/ BH 3,000% L%
KargoStudion Limited HK/HK 1,000 ordinary shares
KargoStudion Limited B/ BE 1,000 L3
Bingo Solution Limited HK/HK 100 ordinary shares
BT REERAT &8/ BA 1008 & @k
MPS Dance Limited HK/HK 100 ordinary shares
MPS Dance Limited &b/ Bk 1008 % A%
Hong Kong Institute of Professional ~ HK/HK 10,000 ordinary shares

Studies Limited

ERARERXERARLA &8/ Ek 10000/ £ B R

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during
both years and at the end of both years.

At 31 March 2022 and 2023, there is no subsidiary of the Group
which has material non-controlling interests.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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) %

100 100 Investment holding

100 100 #®EER

66 66 Provision of financial
(uotient and
investment education
Courses

66 66 RENEREEHNERE

100 100 Provision of financial
quotient and
investment education
Courses

100 100 REFBHREEHERE

100 100 Provision of financial
quotient and
investment education
Courses

100 100 REFEHREEHERE

100 100  Operating pole dance
studios

100 100 EEHEETEE

75 75 Provision of financial
(uotient and
investment education
Courses

75 75 RENEREEHERE

ERIEARRESZRATEFEAEEE
BREERBBIZARRMBAR - AQF]
EERA REEMMEBARZFBERER
ERBRITE -

RMEFEARAREFER  HERER
BIEITIEMRRES

R-B-__FR-F-_=F=A=1+—H"
AEEREEREAFERERNNE R
7 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. WINDING UP PETITION

During the year ended 31 March 2019, a petition has been
filed to the court by two shareholders of the Company (the
“Petitioners”), which together were holding over 3% of the
Company’s issued shares, and the Petitioners filed and served
a re-amended petition to the court on 3 December 2019. The
Petitioners pray (i) that the Company be wound up pursuant
to the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Cap. 32); (i) that the court make such other orders
as are deemed to be just and equitable; and (iii) that provision
be made for Petitioners’ costs. The hearing has been adjourned
to 6 July 2020 (with 5 days reserved).

The Honourable Ms. Justice Linda Chan has made an order
to dismiss the Petition (the “Order to Dismiss”) at the hearing
on 13 December 2021. A sealed copy of the said order was
received by the Company on 23 December 2021. As at 31
March 2022, there was no outstanding winding-up petition
against the Company.

Details of the “Order to Dismiss” are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 15 December 2022 and 18 January 2022.

45.

R I IRARMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE-T-=F-A=+HLFE
ARER

RBE=—F— ﬂEZH:+fH¢¢FvK
RAMERR ([2HAD (BHBEARR
BEITRS =MJW&M%§%E'H

EFARE-NE+ZA=ZHRERER
Mok T —IMREETNZERE - 2EFAB
ROARFRIE LR F OF 8 RAIRESO 1'%
Bl (3£32%) B4 : (VAR EHEMADLE

Zwe s R EH /\Zﬁ}zzliuﬂm%’é‘ﬁ

RADHREZ_Z-TFLAXE (RYPR
R) e

RESEEEORZE=—F+=A+=H
WEMPESHEES (HESD - A2
AER_ZE_—F+_A=+=8H3 Lt
FELZBRHAAN R ZBEZZF=A=+—
B BHESHHARR CRRNERES -

[HE<] 2HFBHRARAAHAE-Z
::¢+ At+HREM-_Z-_—"F—A+)N\
/N i

EERABEEEERAF
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EEHBEHRE

Continuing and FERCAL
discontinued REEK
operations

Revenue &

Operating profit/(loss) &4,/ (Ei8)

Profit/(loss) for the year R %H /()

Financial position B R AR

Assets and liabilities EENEBE
Total assets BERBE
Total liabilities BfEERE

Capital and reserves  BA& R

Total equity ViN/NCIEZ 2= DN
attributable to FEIE M R
owners of the
Company

Non-controlling FEPEAR R
interests
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2023
—rn—=

—_— =

HK$’'000
FTERT

237,253

45,757

34,590

379,598
127,180

252,418

252,890

(472)

252,418

2022

HK$'000
THTT

2021

== —F
HK$'000
T

THETT

2019

HK$'000
THTT

115,088 96,468 74,271 71,731
34,186 42,866 (32,809) (7,074)
26,007 40,425 (34,019) (10,131)

329,389 353,178 89,536 114,408

(117,272) (179,159) (39,557) (16,082)
212,117 174,019 49,979 98,326

213,338 176,758 52,577 98,177

(1,221) (2,739) (2,598) 149
212,117 174,019 49,979 98,326
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